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February 1, 2001

Office of the Secretary

Federal Trade Commission

6th Street and Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Room 172

Washington, D.C. 20580

Re:  Request for Approval of Divestiture - El Paso Energy Corporation/
The Coastal Corporation - File No. 001-0086

To : Federal Trade Commission:

Pursuant to § 2.41(f) of the Federal Trade Commission’s Rules of Practice, 16
C.F.R. § 2.41(f) (2000) and Paragraph III.C. of the Decision and Order in the above-
captioned matter (“the Decision and Order™), El Paso Energy Corporation (“El Paso”)
hereby requests approval of the sale of the U-T Offshore System, L.L.C. to Mid
Louisiana Gas Transmission Company (“MLGT”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. (“Midcoast”). Capitalized terms not herein defined
shall have the same meanings set forth in the Decision and Order. As discussed with
Dolores Wood, I am enclosing an original and ten (10) copies of this Public version of
the divestiture application and attachments.

Attachments to Request for Approval of Divestitures

A Partnership
Including
Professional
Corporations

ffdc01\rhilija\220894.1



Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson

February 1, 2001 Page?2
Office of the Secretary

A. The purchase agreement (with all exhibits and schedules). This
agreement is confidential and is not included in the public submission.

B. A description of the divestiture transaction.
C. A description of the purchaser.
D. A market analysis that describes how the sale of this asset to Midcoast

will accomplish the Commission’s divestiture goals as set forth in the
Decision and Order.

E. Midcoast’s public documents, including the most recent 10-K filed for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999; 10-Q filed for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 2000; and Proxy Statement for the 2000
annual meeting of shareholders.

If you require further information concerning Midcoast’s plans, please contact
either 1.J. “Chip” Berthelot, Chief Operating Officer, or Chris Kaitson, General
Counsel. They can be reached at Midcoast’s offices at 1100 Louisiana Street, Suite
3200, Houston, TX, 77002, or by phone at 713-650-8900.

Pursuant to the Order, El Paso is required to complete the divestiture by April 1,
2001. Accordingly, El Paso respectfully requests that this application receive

expedited treatment.

Please call me if you have any questions regarding any of the above or need any
additional information or documentation.!

Sincerely,

o Y [

LINDA R. BLUMKIN

! With respect to an accounting of sales and other transactions during the previous year between
El Paso and Midcoast, other than ordinary course contracts entered into in 2000 between the parties, the
parties are not aware of any material sales or other transactions between the parties or their affiliates in
2000.






Attachment A

The Purchase Agreement

The Purchase Agreement is confidential and is not included in the public
submission.
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Attachment B

Description of the Divestiture Transaction

On December 22, 2000, Deepwater Holdings, L.L.C. (“Deepwater”), an affiliate
of El Paso Energy Corporation (“El Paso”), and Mid Louisiana Gas Transmission
Company (“MLGT”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
(“Midcoast”), executed a Purchase and Sale Agreement pursuant to which Deepwater
will sell to MLGT all of Deepwater’s right, title and interest in and to the outstanding
membership interests in U-T Offshore System, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability
company (“UTOS”). Deepwater owns a 100% membership interest in UTOS, which 1s
the owner of the UTOS Assets, required to be divested by the Decision and Order. The
UTOS Assets include the UTOS Pipeline System and the Johnson Bayou Plant. By
selling the Deepwater interest in UTOS, El Paso will have divested all of its interest in
the UTOS Assets, as required by the Decision and Order. '

MLGT also intends to enter into a Transition Services Agreement (included as
part of Attachment A) with El Paso Energy Partners, L.P. (“Energy Partners™), an
affiliate of Deepwater, 1o provide necessary administrative, operational and other
similar services as appropriate to effect the orderly transfer of ownership of UTOS to
MLGT.

MLGT also intends to enter into an Operating Services Agreement (also
included as part of Attachment A) with El Paso Energy Partners Operating Company,
L.L.C. (“EPEPOC”), an affiliate of Deepwater, pursuant to which EPEPOC will
provide field operations, measurement and related services in support of the UTOS
Pipeline. EPEPOC is an experienced pipeline operator and performed the same
services while Deepwater owned the UTOS pipeline. The services provided by
EPEPOC are operational in nature and will not affect the ability of MLGT to compete
as an independent entity using the UTOS Pipeline.

The Agreement contains the usual and customary conditions to closing,
including Commission approval of the transaction, which approval is also required by
the Decision and Order. The parties have requested confidential treatment with respect
to the terms and conditions of the Agreement.
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Attachment C

Description of the Purchaser - Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

Midcoast, along with its subsidiaries and affiliated companies, is an experienced
provider of natural gas transportation, gathering, processing and marketing services. It
operates primarily in the Gulf Coast and Mid-Continent regions, and owns natural gas
systems representing approximately 4,000 miles of pipeline with total throughput of
approximately 3 Bef per day. For the year ended December 31, 1999 it reported
revenues of $391.6 million and total assets of $478.4 million.

Midcoast also has extensive experience integrating pipeline acquisitions, as it
has closed deals involving 73 different pipelines with an aggregate value of
approximately $369 million since the first quarter of 1996. The UTOS transaction
offers Midcoast access to a new source of natural gas, as it does not presently own any
assets in the West Central Gulf area.
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Attachment D

Market Analysis

In its complaint, the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”) alleged that
El Paso’s acquisition of Coastal might substantially reduce competition in the
transportation of natural gas out of the West Central Gulf, including producing areas
known as the northern West Cameron Area, the northwestern West Cameron Area,
Northern West Cameron West Addition Area, the West Cameron 167 Area, the West
Cameron West Addition and South Addition Areas, and the west-central Gulf
deepwater area, all in the Gulf of Mexico off the coast of the State of Louisiana. In
particular, the Commission alleged that UTOS is a direct and substantial horizontal
competitor of several additional pipelines owned by El Paso after the merger.

Without agreeing with the Commission that El Paso’s acquisition of UTOS
would have substantially lessened competition in the West Central Gulf, the sale of
UTOS to Midcoast will add an effective competitor for the transportation of natural gas
out of producing fields in the West Central Gulf. As noted above, Midcoast is an
experienced operator in the natural gas gathering and transportation business and offers
a range of related services.

Midcoast’s acquisition of UTOS does not raise any competitive issues, as they
are a new entrant in the West Central Gulf. Although Midcoast owns other natural gas
pipelines in the Gulf of Mexico, none of those pipelines serve the areas identified by
the Commission as part of the West Central Gulf. In view of the above, the parties
believe that the sale of UTOS to Midcoast resolves the Commission’s concerns as
reflected in the Complaint and complies with the Decision and Order.
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Attachment E

Midcoast Public Documents
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 2054¢

FORM 10-K

(MARK ONE)

[X) ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 198¢

OR

{ ] TRENSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number: 0-889§8
MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

TEXAS 76-037863¢
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

1100 Louisiana, Suite 2850
Houston, Texas 77002
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) {Zip Code)

Registrant’'s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (713) 650-8%00
Securities Registered Pursuant To Section 12(b) Of The Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, Par Value $.01 Per Share American Stock Exchange

Securities Registerecd under Section 12(g) of the Act: none

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports
required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that registrant was
reguired to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
reguirements for the past %0 days. Yes [X] No [_]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinguent filers pursuant to Item
405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the
best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K. [_]

State The Aggregate Market Value of The Voting Stock Held By Non-Affiliates of
The Registrant.

Aggregate market value of the voting stock (which consists solely of shares
of common stock) held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of March 27, 2000,
computed by reference to the closing sale price of the registrant's common stock
on the American Stock Exchange on such date: $203,029,515.

Common Stock, par value $.01 per share. Shares outstanding on March 27,
2000 was 12,4%4,124.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

List hereunder the following documents if incorporated by reference and the
Part of the Form 10-K {(e.g., Part I, Part II, etc.) into which the document is
incorporated: Portions of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. definitive Proxy
Statement for the 1999 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed not later
than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report, are
incorporated by reference into Part III.
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GLOSSARY

The fcllowing abbreviations, acronyms or defined terms used in this Form 10-K
are defined below:

Bbl.. e 42 U.S. callon barrel

Bef. .o Billion cubic feet

Boarc..... ... . ..., Board cf Directors of Midcoast Energy hescurces, Inc.
Btu. ...l British thermal unit

Conmon StOCH......... Micdcoast common stock, par value $.0l1 per share
Company. v ienn e, Miacoast Enercy Kescurces, Inc., its subsidiaries anc

affiliated companies
COZ. i Carbon cdicxide

DRI i Dufcur Petreleum, Inc., & wholly ownec subsidiary of
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

EEITDA. ..o Earn:ngs Befcre Interest, Taxes, Depreciation anc
Amortization

EPS. s Diluted earnings per share

FRSE.. ... financial Accountinc Standards Boarc

FERC.. ..ot federal Energy Regulatory Commission

KPC ACQUisSitiOn...... The November 19¢9 acquisition of Kansas Pipeline

Cempany and MarGasCc

KPC System............ 2 1,120 mile interstate transmission pipeline

IDC. .ttt Local distribution company

LIBOK.......oovunnn... London Inter Bank Offering Rate

Mcf/day.. ... One Thousand cubic feet of ¢as per dav

MCOC. .. i Midcoast Cznada Operating Corporation, a wholly owned

subsidiary of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

Midceast. ... ... Midcoas:t Enercy Resources, Inc.

MIDLA Acguisition..... The Cctober 1297 acguisition of the MLGC and MLGT
Svstems

MIT Acguisition...... The May 1887 acquisition of the MIT and TRIGAS Systems

MIT System............ R 288-mile interstate transmission pipeline

MGSI.. ..., Midcoast Gas Services, Inc.

MLGC. ... oot Mid Louisiana Gas Company

MLGC System........... A 3B€-mile interstate transmission pipeline

MLGT. vt i e ie i i iii e, Mid Louisiana Gas Transmission Company

MLGT System........... A Louisiana intrastate pipeline

MMBEU. . .ovvmnnnnnnnnn. Million British thermal units

MMef/Gay. ..o, Million cubic feet of gas per day

MMI. ... Midcoast Marketing Inc.

NGL............ [ Natural gas liquid

NOL..........oiitn. Net operating loss

NYMEX.......iiunnnn.. New York Mercantile Exchange

Preferred Stock....... Midcoast preferred stock, par value $.01 per share

Republic.............. Republic Gas Partners L.L.C.

SeaCrest.............. SeaCrest Company, L.L.C., a 70% owned subsidiary of

Mid Louisiana Gas Transmission Company, which is
@ wholly owned subsidiary of Midcoast Energy
Resocurces, Inc.

SIGCO. .o ii i Southern Industrial Gas Corporation
SFAS. .. e Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
TRIGAS System......... Two end-user pipelines in northern Alabama
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

GENERAL

The Company, alonc with its subsiciaries and its affiliated companies, 1f
primarily encaged in the transportation, gathering, processing and marketing of
netural gas and cther petrcleum rrogducts. As of December 31, 1959, the Company
owned and operated three interstate transmission pipeline systems, one
intrastate transmission system, 35 end-user systems and 42 gathering systems
representing approximately 4,000 miles of pipeline with an a2ggregate daily
throughput capacity of over 3 Bcf of natural gas per day. Operations zlso
included gas processing &nd treatinc facilities anc over 80 natural gas liquic
and crude cil tanks ancd rail cars. The Company's principal business consists of
providing transpertation services to both end-users &nd natural gas producers,
providing natural gas marketing services to these customers and processing

natural gas coennection with these services, the Company acquires anc
constructs pipelines to meet these customers' needs. The Company's principal
assets are locatec 1n the CGulf Coast and Micg-Continent areas.

The Company originzlly was incorporated as a Nevada corperation in 1882 and
subsecuently reincorporated as & Texas corperation in 19%%. The Company leases
its principzl executive cffices at 1100 Louisiana, Suite 2950, Houston, Texas
77002, and its telephone number is (713) 650-8900. The Company also owns or
leases other recional offices in Rlzbama, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Texas
ancé Alberta, Canada.

BUSINESS GROWTH STRATEGY

The Company's principzl business strategy is to increase its earnings and
cash flow by focusing on accretive acquisitions, pursuing pipeline system anc
rrocessing facility construction anc expansion opportunities and improving the
profitability of these svstems through volume growth initiatives anc cost
savings opportunities. The Company implements this strategy through the
following steps:

Accretive Acquisitions

The Company seeks to acguire natural gas or petroleum liguids transmission,
end-user and gathering pipeline systems and processing plants that cffer the
opportunity for operational synergies and the potential for increasec
etilization and expansion of the system. The Company targets systems in its core
geographic areas of operation in crder to capitalize on existing infrastructure,
personnel znd customer relationchips to meximize system profitability. The
Ceompany zlso seeks to acquire assets in other areas with growing demand for
natural gas or increasing drilling activity. These acguisitions enable the
Company to establish new core areas in which to build & regional presence. For
example, the Company purchased the Anadarko gas gathering system located in
Texas and Oklzhoma in September 199€. The €96-mile natural gas cathering system
and processing plant are located in & prolific natural gas producing region and
established 2 new core geographic arez for the Company. The Company aguickly
strengthened its position in this area in December 1998 with the acquisition of
the 35-mile Mendota naturzl gas gathering system. This system, which includec
another processing facility, was interconnected with the Anadarko system,
providing sccess to additional areas of natural gas production.

Construction and Expansion Opportunities

The Company leverages its existing infrastructure and customer relationships
by constructing systems to meet new or increased demand for pipeline
transportation services. These projects include expansion of existing systems
and construction of new pipeline or processing facilities. For example, earlier
this year the Company constructed new facilities near the southern end of the
MIDLA system to provide approximately 55 MMcf per day of high pressure natural
gas to two industrial customers. In November 1995, the Company agreed tc
construct additional facilities for one of these customers to supply up to 80
MMcf per day of natural gas to their natural gas processing plants near Baton
Rouge, Louisiana.

Improving Existing System Profitability

After a system is acquired or constructed, the Company begins an aggressive
effort to market directly to both producers and end-users in order to fully
utilize the system's capacity. As part of this process, the Company focuses on
providing quality service to its existing customers while identifying new
customers. Many of the Company's existing pipeline and processing systems were
designed with excess throughput capacity that provides the Company with
opportunities to increase throughput with little incremental cost and to
facilitate higher margin "swing" sales dvring periods of increased natural gas
demand. For example, following the purchase of the MIT system in May 1997, the
Company had increased firm transportation vclumes 29% te 170 MMcf per day by the
Spring of 1999 from 132 MMcf per day with
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minimal additional capital outlays. In addition, the Company generslly seeks tc
achieve administrative and operaticnzl efficiencies by capitalizing on the
geographic proximity of many of its systems.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS

Since the first guarter of 1996, the Company has acquired ownership of, or
interests in, 73 pipelines including four natural cas processing plants for an
aggregate cost of approxaimately $36% miliion. The fellowing is & summary of the
Company's significant acguisition activities:

The MIT Acgquisitior

In May 1987, the Company acquired the pipeline and energy services
operations of Rtrion Cerporation fer cash consiceration of $38.2 million and
to $2 million in contingent deferred payments. These operations inciude (i)
295-mile interstate transmission pipeline located in nortnern Alabame,
Mississippl and southern Tennessee which transports natural gas to industrizl
end municipal customers, (ii) a 36-mile and & one-mile pipeline in nerthern
Alabems which primarily serve two large industrial customers and (11ii) & natural

¢es marketing company which was subsequently merged into MMI.
The MIDLA Acguisitaicr

In October 1897, the Company completed its merger with kepublic, which
owned MLGC, MLGT, and Mi¢ Louisiansz Marketing Company that was subseguently
merged into MMI. Considerztion for the asguisition included $3.2 million ir
cash, the assumption of azpproximately $19.1 millicn in bank indebtecness, the
issuance of 481,247 shares of the Company's common stock and warrants to acguire
171,880 shares of common stock. The assets acquired included (i) a 405-mile
interstate natural gas pipeline which runs from the Monroe gas field irn northern
Louisianaz, southward throuch Mississippi to Baton Rouge, Louisiana, {ii) three
end-user natural gas pipelines with & collective length of 40 miles and (iii;
two cffshore lateral naturzl gas gathering pipelines with a collective length c¢f
8.6 miles. These pipelines serve &z number of large incustrial and municipal
customers.

The Anadarko Acguisition

In September 1398, the Company purchased the Anadarko gas gathering system
from E1 Paso Energy Corporation. The pipeline system was purchased for cast
consideration of $35 million.

Under the acreement, MGSI accuired ownership and operation of the Anadarkc
cas gathering system loczted in Beckham and Roger Mills counties, Oklahoma anc
Hemphill, Roberts and Wheeler counties, Texas. The system is comprised of over
€96 miles of pipeline with an average throughput of 157 MMcf/day and a total
capacity of 345 MMcf/day ("Anadarko System"). The system gathers gas from
approximately 250 wells and includes a 40 MMcf/day natural gas processing
facility {("Hobart Plant"}, 11 compressor stations with a total of over 14,000
horsepower and intercennections with eight major interstate and intrastate
pipeline systems.

The Company expanded the Anadarkc System in December 1998 with the
acquisition of the Mendota system from Seaqull Energy Corporaztion for $3.
million. The Mendota system, which was interconnected with the Anadarko System,
included two processing facilities anc¢ 35 miles of natural gas gathering
pipeline.

e

The Calmar Acguisition

In March 1999, the Company purchased the Calmar system in Alberta, Canads
Irom Probe Exploratiorn, Inc. ("Probe"). The total value of the transaction was
approximately $13.2 million (U.S.). The assets purchased included a 30 MMcf/day
amine sweetening plant, 30 miles of gas gathering pipeline and approximately
4,000 horsepower of compression located near Edmonton, Alberta. The Calmar
System currently gathers and treats sour gas from wells operated by Probe anc
Courage Energy Inc. In conjunction with the purchase, Probe enterec into a gas
gathering and treating agreement with the Company, including the long-tern
commitment of Probe's reserves in the Leduc Field, a right of first refusal
agreement On new Or existing midstream assets within a defined 390-square mile
area of interest, and an assignment to the Company of an existing third party
gathering and treating agreement.

The Flare and DPI Acquisitions

In March 1999, the Company purchased two related companies, Flare and DFI.
The total value of the transaction was approximately $11.1 million and could
include future consideration should certain contingencies be met. The Flare and
DPI shareholders received cash consideration of approximately $3.2 million, the
Company assumed $5.5 million in debt and the DPI shareholders received 163,71¢
shares cf



the Company's common stock. Flare is & natural gas processing and treating
company whose principel assets include 27 mobile natural gas processing anc
treating plants from which it earns revenues based on treating and processing
fees and/or & percentage of the NGL's produced. DPI is an NGL, crude oil and COZ
trensportation and marketing company. DPI operates 43 NGL and crude oil trucks
anc trailers, & fleet of 40 pressurized railcars and in excess of 400,000
gallons of NGL sterage fecilities and product tresting and handling eguipment.

The Tinsley Acquisitiorn

In March 199%, the Company purchased the Tinsley crude o©il gatherinc
pipeline for $5.2 million. The Tinsley system is located in Mississippi anc
consists of €0 miles cf crude oil gathering pipeline, related truck anc
Mississippl River barge loacding facilities ancd 170,000 barrels of crude oil
storage. The system transports approximately 5,000 barrels of crude coil per dey
both directly from producing wells and from oil trucked to the pipeline.

The Kansas Pipeline Company Accguisitiorn

In November 169 the Company &acguirec KPC and other related entities for
epproximately $195.Z million. KPC owns anc operates & 1,120 mile regulatec
interstaste neaturezl g pipeline svstem. The system extends into two major
segments from nerthwestern &nd northeastern Oklahoma through Wichite intc the
Kansas City metropolitan area. The system's two principal customers are
civisions of ONEOK, Inc. and Southern Union Company, which are the local
distribution compenies for Wichitz and Kansas City. KPC derives $7% of its cross
margin from a series of long-term transportation contracts with these twc
principel customers. KPC is capable of delivering agproximately 140 MMcf/day
and 21 MMcf/day of natural gas into the Kansas City and Wichita
marketplaces, respectively. KPC is one c¢f only three pipeline systems currently
capable of delivering gas into the Kansas City metropolitan market.

In conjunction with the acguisition of KPC, the Company optecd to terminate
& revenue sharing agreement with Management Resources Group, LLC by agreeing to
pay approximately $10.8 million on cr before January 31, 2000. The full amount
was accrued as of December 31, 199¢.

The Gloria Acguisitiorn

In December 199%, the Company completed the acquisition of the Gloriz
system from Koch Industries for cash consideration of approximately $6.:
million. The Gloriz system is comprised of approximately 133 miles of pipeline
with a 1,650 horsepower compressor station anc includes 51 miles of natural gas
gathering pipeline and 82 miles of transmission pipeline. The system gathers gas
from seven producing fields and also directly supplies natural gas to an
industrizl customer and an LDC. The pipeline was part of Koch's interstate
system and FERC apprcvel for the system's zbandonment from interstate service
was received in October of 1999, which, following the expiration of the reguired
notice period, enabled us to proceed to close the Gloria system acquisition.

2000 Activity

In January 2000, the Company entered into a definitive purchase and sale
agreement to acquire the Manyberries Pipeline System {"MBPL") in Canada from
Triumph Energy Corporation for cash consiceration of approximately $5.7 million
(U.S.), plus certain future contingent payments based on the actual throughput
volumes. MBPL consists of 90 miles of crude oil pipeline that originates at the
Manyberries 0il Field anc terminates at an interconnection with the Milk River
Pipeline system in southeastern Alberta, Canacz. Truck terminals, including the
Legend terminal, and a significant amount of crude oil stcrage also contribute
to the operations. The system has a design capacity of approximately 21,000
Bbl's/day and transports light sour crude oil from the Manyberries Oil Field, as
well as additional crude oil volumes from the Legend truck terminal. The
pipeline system is the only light gravity system in southern Alberta, and
current volumes are approximately 6,500 Bbl’s/day. Closing is anticipated in the
second cuarter of 2000, subject to receipt of the approvals, consents or other
authorizations required by the Investment Canada Act.

In March 2000, the Company acquired the Provost natural gas plant and
gathering system from NovaGas Cznada LP, a division of TransCanada, for
approximately $4.9 million (U.S.). The Provost acqguisition includes 80 miles of
natural gas gathering pipeline and a 15 MMcf/day sour gas processing plant and
sour gas injection well. The system is locsted in east-central Alberta, Canada
and is the only sour natural gas gathering and processing system in the area.
The system is connected to 21 oil tank batteries and primarily gathers the
associated sour natural gas production from approximately 900 wells in the
Provost area.



SEGMENTSE

Becinning in 199¢, the Compeny secregated its business activities intc
three secments: Transmission Fipelines, End-User Pipelines, and Gatherinc
Pipelines and Natural Gas Processing. These segments are 2nalyzed independently
by management and derive revenue from cifferent sources. For financial
infermaticn related to each segment, see Results of Operations in “"ltem ©
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiel Condition and Results of
Operations,” as well as “"Note 1€. Seament Data, in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.” Set forth below is & description of the principail
business activities conducted by each of the segments:

Transmission Pipelinecs

The Company’s trensmission pipelines primarily receive and deliver natural
gas to and from other pipelines, &nd seccncarily inveclve encd-user or Gathering
functiens. Transpcrtation fees are received by the Company fcr transporting gas
owned by cther parties through the Company's pipeline systems. The Company seeks
te further expend its activities in this area through the acguisition or
censtruction ©f natural gas trensmiscsion pipelines in its core geocraphic &r
cf operatior where cperaticnal synercies ancd market opportunities exist or 1
new gecgraphic recions where there is increasing demand for natural gas by
municipal and incustriel users. As of December 31, 199%, the Company owned three
interstate transmission pipelines and cne intrastate transmission pipeline.

ees

End-User Pipelines

The Company &lsc centracts with industrial customers, municipalities or
electric cenerating facilities tc provide natural gas and natural gas
transportation services te their facilities through interconnected gas pipelines
constructed or accuired by the Company. These pipelines provide a direct supply
of natural cas to new industrial facilities or to existing facilities as ar
zlternative to the local distribution company. The Company intends to continue
to pursue cirect sales to these end-users who have the flexibility to negotiate
their natural gas purchase and transportation contracts as a result of industry
deregulaticn. Freguently, the Company is able to cffer its end-user customer
lower rates than the customer's current energy supplier. The Company’s
centracts with end-user customers typically provide for the payment of &
transportation fee by the customer based on the volume of natural qas
transported throuch the Company's pipeline. As of December 31, 19%5, the Company
owned 35 end-user transmission pipelines.

Gathering Pipelines and Natural Gas Processinc

The Company's g¢athering systems tvpically consist of & network cf pipelines
which collect natural gas or crude oil from points near producing wells anc
trenspert it to larger pipelines for further transmission. Gathering systems may
include meters, separatcrs, dehydration facilities and other treating eguapment
owned by the Company or others. The Company derives revenues from gatherinc
systems by transporting naturzl gas or crude oil owned by others through its
pipelines for a transpertation fee, by rurchasing netural gas and utilizing its
pipelines to transport the natural gas to a customer in ancther lccation where
the natural gas is resclc or, in certain instances, by purchasing natural gas
and arrenging for the delivery and resale of an equivalent quantity of natural
gas to a2 customer not directly served by the Company's pipelines. Transactions
with customers not directly served by the Company's pipelines are typically
gccemplished by entering into agreements whereby the Company exchanges natural
cas in its pipelines fcr natural gas in the pipelines of other naturai gas
traznsmission companies. The Company intends to pursue the acquisition or
construction of additional gas gathering systems in or near its core gecgraphic
ocperating areas and where drilling activity is expected to provide oppertunities
for the expansion of gathering or processing facilities. As of December 31,
1899, the Company owned an interest in and operated 42 gathering systems.

The Company's natural gas processing revenues are realized from the
extraction and sale of NGL's as well as the sale of the residual natural gas.
These revenues occur under processing contracts with producers of natural cas
utilizing both a "percentage of proceeds" and "keep-whole” basis. The contracts
based on percentage of proceeds provide that the Company receives a percentage
of the NGL's and residual gas revenues as a fee for processing the producer's
gas. The keep-whole contracts require that the Company reimburse the producers
for the Btu energy ecuivelent of the NGL's and fuel removed from the natural gas
as a result of processing anc the Company retains all revenues from the sale of
the NGL's. Once extracted, the NGL's are further fractionated in the Company's
facilities into products such as ethane, propane, butanes, natural gasoline anc
condensate, then sold tc various wholesalers along with raw sulfur from the
Company's sulfur recovery plant. The Company's processing margins can be
adversely affected by declines in NGL prices, declines in gas throughput, or
increases in shrinkage or fuel costs, and in the case of "keep-whole" contracts,
margins can be affected by rising natural gas prices. As of December 31, 1g9%,
the Company owned four processing and treating plants with a capacity of 10C
MMBtu/day.

The Company also owns and operates 43 NGL and crude oil trucks and trailers
and a fleet of 40 pressurized railcars.



Gas Marketing Services On Segments

In addition, the Company prcvides natural gas marketing services to its
customers within each cf the three secments. The Company's natural gas merketing
ectivities have been fccused on the Company's systems with a strategic focus tc
provide guality znd consistent service to customers connected to the Company's
pipeline network. The Company's marketing activities include providing natural
gas supply and szles services to some of 1ts ena-user customers by purchasing
the naturel gas supply from cther marketers ¢r pipeline affiliates and resellinc
the naturzl gas to the enc-user. The Company alsc purchases natural gas cirectly
from well cperaters on many of the Cempany's gathering svstems ancd resells the
natural gas tc cther marketers or pipeline affiliates. Manv of the contracts
pertaining tc the Company's natural gas marketing activities are month-to-month
spct market transacticns with numerous gas suppliers or producers in the
incdustry. The Cempany zlso cffers cther cgas services to some of its customers
including menagement of capacity releése and gas balancinc.

T s naturezl gas et & price determined by
rrevailinc merket ccnditions. Si aneous with the purchase c¢f natural gas by
the Compeny, the Company generelly resells natural gas azt a higher price under &
sales centract that is comparable in its terms t¢ the purchase contract,
including any price escalaticn provisions. In most instances, natural gas
marketing is characterized by smell marcing since there are numercus cempanies
¢f greatly varying s:ize and financial capacity who compete with the Company irn
the marketing of natural gas. The profitability of the natural gas marketing
operations of the Company cepends in large part cn the ability of the Company’s
manacement to zssess and respond tc chancing market conditions in negotiatinc
these natural gas purchase and sale agreements. As a consequence of the
1ncrease i1n competition in the :industry and volatility of natural gas prices
there has been 2 reluctance of enc-users to enter into long-term purchase
centracts. Moreover, consumers have shown an increased willinoness to switch
fuels between natural cas and alternate fuels in response to relative price
fluctuztions in the marxet. The Inability of management to responc
epprepriately in chancing market conditions could have a negative effect on the
Company's profitability. Acccrdingly, histerical operating income associatec
with this revenue stream has varied depending on market conditions. The
Compeny's natural ges merketing activities, which utilize third party pipelines,
alsc expose the Company tc econcmic risk resulting from imbalances or nominated
volume discrepancies, which can result either in penalties having a negative
impact On €arnings Cor & transaction gain, cepending on how and when imbalances
are corrected. The Company believes the marketing of natural gas is an important
complement to its transportation services.

Typically, the Company pu
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Company's principal customers ere industrial end-users, municipalities,
resellers and procucers of natural gas. The Company typically enters intc three
1O ten year transportation agreements, which may also include provisiens
regarding guaranteed minimum volumes and price reductions after the customer
meets certain transportatiorn commitments. The Company also enters into marketinc
zgreements with many of its customers relazted to natural gas supply and other
services. For its FERC regulatec entities, the Company enters into firm anc
interruptible transportation contracts using the teriff rates approved by FERC.
In certain situations, the Companv has offered discounts from its tariffs in
response to specific market cenditions.

For 18395 and 199€, there were no customers that represented greater than
10% of the Company's c¢ross margin. For 1997, Champion International Corperation
and Entergy Gulf States, Inc. each contributed in excess of 10% of the Company’s
Cross margirh.

COMPETITION

The Transmission Pipeline, End-user Pipeline, and Gathering Pipeline and
Natural Gas Processing segments are highly competitive. In marketing natural
gas, the Company has numerous competitors, including marketing affiliates of
interstate pipelines, major intecrated cil companies and local and national
natural gas gatherers, brokers and marketers of widely varying sizes, financial
resources and experience. Many of these competitors, particularly those
affiliated with major integrated cil and interstate and intrastate pipeline
companies, have finencial resocurces substantially greater than those available
to the Company. Local utilities and cistributors of natural gas are, in some
cases, engaged cirectly, and through a2ffiliates, in marketing activities that
compete with the Company. Some of the Ccmpanv's contracts are month-to-month
arrangements and as such, these agreements are affected by competitive factors
at the time of the sale.

The Company competes against other companies for supplies of natural gas
and for customers. Competiticon for natural gas supplies is primarily based on
efficiency, reliability, availability of transportation and the ability to offer
a competitive price for natural gas. Competition for cus:tomers is primarily
based upon reliability and price of deliverable natural gas. For customers that
have the capability of using alternative fuels, such as oil and coal, the
Company also competes against companies capable of providing these alternative
fuels at a competitive price.



NATURAL GAS SUPPLY

The Company's transmission end end-user pipelines have connections witr,
maler interstate and intrastate pipelines that menagement believes have supplies
cf natural gas in excess of the volumes required for these systems. Eowever,
these purchese contracts may be affected by factors beyonc both the Company's
anc the gas suppliers' control, such as capacity constraints and temporary
regienal supply shortages. With regard to its gathering systems, supply risks
include cther parties having control over the drilling of new wells, the
inability of wells to deliver natural gas at reguired pipeline quality anc
pressure, and depletion of reserves. The future performance of the Company will
depend to a great extent on the throuchput levels achieved by the Company with
Iespect to its existing ripelines and the pipelines acquired or constructed by
it in the future. In order to maintain the thrcughput on its gathering systems
at current levels, the Company must access new natural gas supplies to cffse:
the naturzl decline in reserves as such supplies are produced. In connectior
with the constructicn anc accuisition of its gathering systems, evaluations were
made of well and reserveir date furnished by producers tc determine the
aveilebility ¢f natursl gas supply for the svstems. Basecd on those evaluztions,
it is manacement's belief thet there should be adequate natural gas supply for
the Company to recoup 1its investment with an adeguate rate of return. As such,
mznagement does not routinely obtain independent evaluation of reserves
decdicated to its systems due to the cost of such evaluations. Accordingly, the
Company does not have estimates of total reserves decdicated to its systems or
the anticipatecd life of such producing reserves.

RATE AND REGULATORY MATTERS

Various espects cf the transpertation of natural gas are subject to or
affected by extensive federal reculation under the Naturzl Gas Act {"NGAR") anc
the Natural Ges Policy Act of 1978 ("NGPA"), as well as various regulations
promulgated by the FERC.

Interstate Pipeline Requlation

Our operations of the MIT, MIDLA and the KPC systems constitute the
cperations of 2 "natural gas company," as defined in the NGA. As such, these
operations are subjiect to the jurisdiction of the FERC. The interstate pipeline
operations of these systems are operated pursuant to certificates of public
cenvenience and necessity and other authorizations issued under the NGA anc
pursuant to the NGPA. The FERC regulates the interstate transportation of anc
certain sales of natural gas, including, among other things, rates and charges
allowed natural gas compznies, extensions and zbandonment of facilities anc
service, rates of depreciation and amortization and certain accounting methods.

Pipeline rates for the MIT, MIDLA and the KPC systems must be filed with
and approvec by the FERC. They are regulated by the FERC on & cost-of-service
basis and must be deemed by the FERC to be "just and reasonable.” The FERC may
suspend for up to five months the effectiveness of rate changes filed by the
pipeline, and/or permit & changed rate to go into effect subject to refund. The
FERC may require the pipeline to refund, with interest, all or any portion of
any increased amount coliected under "subject to refund" rates that, in the
FERC's final determination, is found not to be just and reasonable. The FERC
may also investigate, either on its own moticn or pursuant to protests by thirg
parties, the lawfulness of pipeline rates that are on file.

In April 1993, jurisdictional rates for the MIT system were increased from
rates that had been in effect since April 1990. This rate increase was acreed tc
in an uncontested settlement with the MIT system's customers that the FERC
gpproved in December 1993. That agreement was amended in September 19%6 tc
eliminate the reguirement that a new rate case be filed in September 1996 or any
year thereafter. As part of that agreement, rates on the MIT system were reducec
6% effective September 199¢.

In June 1996, a2 decrease in the jurisdictional rates for the MIDLA system
was proposed from rates that had been in effect since 1990. This rate decrease
was agreed to in an uncontested settlement with MIDLA's customers and was
certified to the FERC by the presiding Administrative Law Judge in November
1996. Accordingly, the FERC approved the settlement by letter order dated March
28, 1997. As part of that agreement, MIDLA is not required to file 2z new rate
case.

The Kansas Pipeline Company Acquisitiorn

The pipeline assets of KPC were held in three partnerships prior to May 11,
1998. KansOk Partnership owned intrastate pipelines whose rates were regulated
by state agencies or the FERC. Xansas Pipeline Partnership owned an intrastate
pipeline in Kansas whose rates were determined by the Kansas Corporation
Commission. Riverside Pipeline Company, L.F., owned interstate assets in Kanses,
Oklahoma and Missouri that connected the assets of the other two partnerships at
the state lines of Missouri, Kansas, or Oklahome.
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Effective May 11, 1S9, after more than two vears cf jurisdictione:l
proceecdings before the FERC, the FERC asserted jurisdiction over the assets of
these three entities, which were combined into a single, FERC-regulated entity,
KPC. The new company's initial rates, by crder of FERC, were appreximately egual
to its then-existing rates. FERC also ordered the company to file a Section ¢
Rate Case by September 1¢, 189¢.

In accerdance with the FERC's order, KPC filed a rate case pursuant
to Section 4 of the NGL on August 27, 199¢ (FERC Docket No. RPOG-4E5-000). KPC's
Fropeosed rztes reflect an annual revenue increase when compared to 1ts initial
FERC-approved rates. The rates have been protested by KPC's two principal
customers and by the state public utility commissicns that reculate them. On
September 30, 1999, the FERC issued an crder that set KPC's proposed rates fcr
hearing and accepted and suspended the rates to be effective March 1, 2000,
subject to pessible refuncd. The Section 4 rate case rroceeding will cetermine
whether the rates preposed by KPC fcr interstate transportation of natural gas
2re just and reascnable, anc the extent to which KPC must refund all or any part:
cf the proposed rate increase that it charges tc its customers prior tc
approvai. A procecurzl schecdule in the case has been adopted by the Presiding
Administrative Law Judge. = hearinc cate is set for Sertember 2€, 200C.

Intrastate Pipeline Regulaticr

The Company's intrastate pipeline operations are generally nct subject tc
regulation by the FERC, but they are subject to regulation by various agencies
of the states in which we operate. The Magnolia and Gloria systems are subject
to the jurisdiction of the FERC with respect tc the transpcrtation rates under
NGPR Section 311. Under NGPA Section 311, an intrastate pipeline can provide
transportation service "on behalf of” any interstate pipeline or LDC served by
an interstate pipeline comcany without prior FERC authorization. Specificalily,
the FERC acdoptec a so-celled "transpor:t” or "title” standard requiring that,
for purposes of interstate transportation under NGEA Section 311, the "on
behalf of entity” must either (i) have physical custeody of or (ii) hold title tc
the gas at some pcint during the transaction. NGPA Section 311 service must be

rovided without undue ciscrimination or preference and is sukject to certain
FERC filing and reporting reguirements.

The end-user pipelines and the transmission pipelines not regulated by the
FERC are subject to the reculaticns of the state agencies of the states in which
they are located. Most states have agencies that possess the authority to review
ancd authorize transactions, construction, acguisition, abandonment and
interconnection of physical facilities. Some states also have state agencies
that regulate transportation rates and contract pricing to ensure their
reasonableness.

Gathering Pipeline Regulation

The NGA exempts gas gathering facilities from the direct jurisdiction of
the FERC. The Company believes that its gathering facilities and operations meet
the current tests that the FERC uses to grant non-jurisdictional gathering
facility status. Some of the recent cases applying these tests in a manner
favorable to the determination of our non-jurisdictional status are still
subject to rehearing and appeal. In adcition, the FERC's articulation and
application of the tests used to distinguish between jurisdictional pipelines
and non-juriscictional gathering facilities have varied over time. While we
believe the current definitions create non-jurisdicticnal status for our
cgathering facilities, no assurance is available that such facilities will not,
in the future, be classified as regulated transmission facilities. If such a
classification were to occur, the rates, terms anc conditions of the services
rendered by those facilities would become subject to regulation by the FERC.

No state in which we operate currently regulates gathering fees. Although
we are not aware that any state in which we operzte a natural gas gathering
system is likely to begin regulation of our natural cas gathering activities ang
fees, new or increzsed state reculation has been adepted or proposed in other
natural gas producing states, and there can be no assurance that such regulation
will not be proposed or adopted in states where we conduct gathering activities
or that we will not expand into or acquire operations 1in a state where such
regulations could be impocsed.

Canadian Pipeline Kegulation

MCOC owns the Calmar svstem located in central Alberta, Canadsz.
Construction, operation and reclamation of the Calmar system are primarily
regulated by the Rlberta Energy and Utilities Board ("EUR") and Albertz
Environmental Protection. Rates for gas processing and transportation through
the Calmar system are presently determined by negotiated contracts. Pursuant to
the Alberta 0il and Gas Conservation Act, R.S.A. 1960, ¢. 0-5, an application
may be made to the EUB for an order declaring the Calmar system to be a common
processor, purchaser and/or carrier. In the event that (i) the EUB grants such
an order (with the approval of the Alberta Lieuterant Governor in Council) and
(ii) an agreement respecting rates and charges cannot be reached between the
applicant and MCOC, a subsequent application may then be made to the EUE to set
rates and charges for gas processing, purchase and/cr transportation at the
Calmar system. The EUB also has the general authority pursuant to the 0il and
Gas Conservation Act and Alberta Pipeline Act, R.S.C. 1980, c. P-80, to conduct
an investigation intc
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metters and questions involving gas plants and pipelines located within Zlberte,
such as the Celmar system.

Environmental and Safety Matters

The Ccmpany's activities in connection with the operation and construction
of pipelines and other facilities for transporting, processing, treating or
storing natural gas and other products are subject to environmental and safety
regulation by numerous federal, state, local and Canadian authorities. This
regulation can include ongoing oversight regulation as well as reguirements for
construction or other permits and clearances that must be granted in connection
with new projects or expansions. Regulatory reguirements can increase the cost
of plenning, designing, initial installation and operation of such facilities.
Senctions for viclation of these reguirements include a variety of civil and
criminal enforcement measures, including assessment of monetary penalties,
essessment and remediation reguirements, and injunctions as to future
compliance. The following is & discussion of certain environmental and safety
concerns that relate to us. It is not intended to constitute a complete
discussion of the various federal, state, local and Canadian statutes, rules,
regulations or orders to which our operations may be subject.

In most instances, these regulatory requirements relate to the release of
substances into the environment and include measures to control water and air
pollution. Meoreover, we could incur liability under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, or
state counterparts, regardiess of our fault, in connection with the disposal or
other releases of hazardous substances, including those arising out of
historical cperaticns conducted by our predecessors. Further, the recent trend
in environmental legislation and regulations is toward stricter standards, and
this trend will likely continue in the future.

Environmental laws and regulations may also reguire us to acguire a permit
before we may conduct certain activities. Further, these laws and regulations
may limit or prohibit activities on certain lands lying within wilderness areas,
wetlands, areas providing habitat for certain species that have been identified
as "endangered" or "threatened" or other protected areas. We are also subject to
other federal, state and local laws covering the handling, storage or discharge
of materials, and we are subject to laws that otherwise relate to the protection
of the envircnment, safety and health. As an employer, we are required to
maintain a workplace free of recognized hazards likely to cause death or serious
injury and to comply with specific safety standards.

We will make expenditures in connection with environmental matters as part
of our normal operations and capital expenditures. In addition, the possibility
exists that stricter laws, regulations or enforcement policies could
significantly increase our compliance costs and the cos:t of any remediation that
might become necessary. We are subject to an inherent risk of incurring
environmental costs and liabilities because of our handling of oil, natural gas
and petroleum products, historical industry waste disposal practices and prior
use of natural gas flow meters containing mercury. There can be no assurance
that we will not incur material environmental costs and liasbilities. Management
believes, based on our current knowledge, that we have obtained and are in
current compliance with all necessary and meterizl permits and that we are in
substantial compliance with applicable material environmental and safety
regulations. Further, we maintain insurance coverages that we believe are
customary in the industry; however, there can be no assurance that our
environmental impairment insurance will provide sufficient coverage in the event
an environmental claim is made against us. See "Business and Properties--
Insurance." We are not aware of any existing environmental or safety claims
that would have a material impact upon our financial position or results of
operations.
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PIPELINE SYSTEMS

As of December 31,
pipelines consisting of
transmission pipeline,

the Company owned an interest in and operated 81

e9,
re one intrastate

19
three interstate transmission pipelines,

35 end-user pipelines and 42 gathering pipelines. The

majority of these pipelines are situated stretegically in the Company's core
operating &reas. Certain information concerning the Company's pipelines is
summarized in the following table:

DATE OFf

IN

TRANSMISSION PIPELINES:
MIDLE
MI7T
Kansas Pipeline
Magnclie

Tetal Transmission (4 systems

END-USER PIPELINES:
bateon Rouge
Champac:.
Farrlands
Crecle
Crown Vantage
ALl Cther (30 Systems)

10797
05787
10/9%
CE/oF
10/¢7

Total End-User (35 Svstems.

RACQUIEITION OF

TAILY Vel
CAPACITY (E
{MMETU/DAY

AVERAGE DAILY

Menroe,
Selmezx,
oK, Ks,
Central,

E. Baton Rouge Farish, LA
Lawerence i Colbert Cos.,
Grant Parish, L*

Orleans Farish, L*

T. Batorn Rouge Parish, L-
TX, K5, LA, NY, TN

AL

GATHERING PIPELINES AND NATURAL GAS PROCESSING:

Anacarke/Mendota (d)

Calmar e;

T3Z

Cook Inlet -- Cil
Gleraa

A1l Other Systems
{27 systems) (e}

02/9%
10/¢7%
07/84
12/%¢

Total Gathering (42 svstems:

Total Pipelines (61 Systems:

Unless otherwise indicated,
Inactive systems owned

All volume and capacity information is
are based on total volumes transported
except systems that
the average daily volumes are

OK and TX Panhandle 7316 157,788 345, 00¢

calgary. Ci 30.¢ 16, 93¢ 2¢,000

otshore, L RS 15,31¢ 24,00¢

Cook Inlet, A¥ z.t 15,02¢ 120, 00¢

South, ix 133.¢ 8,723 75,000

AK, TX, OK, AL, MS, LA, CA 503 154,518 1,393,50¢C
368,26¢ 1,983,500

. 922

&ll systems are 100% owned and operated by the

by the Company are not includecd.

approximate. Average daily volumes
during the twelve-month period ended
were acquired during 1999. For these
based on total volumes transportec

from the date of acquisition or initial operation through December 31,

(a)
Company.
(b)
December 31, 189¢,
systems,
1599.
(c)
a 70% interest,
(d)
facilities.
(e}

Company owns a 50%
Company owns a 70%

OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES

The Company owned several non-operated working interests in
non-producing 0il and natural gas properties.

1928, revenues from the

1% of its total revenues,

This system is owned by SeaCrest Company L.L.C.,
and is operated by the Company.

This includes systems owned by Texana Gas Pipeline Company,

in which the Company owns

These gathering systems include natural gas processing and/or treatinc

in which the

interest and Pan Grande Pipeline LLC, in which the

interest.

producing and
For the year ended December 31,
Company's o0il and natural gas properties were less than
and for the same period the Company's o0il and natural

gas properties represented less than 1% of its total assets.

TITLE TO PROPERTIES

The Company,

as part of its pipeline construction process, must obtain

certain right-of-way agreements from landowners whose property the proposed
pipeline will cross. The terms and cost of these agreements can vary greatly due

to a number of factors.

In addition, as
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part of its acquisition process, the Company will typically evaluate the
underlyving richt-of-way agreements for the particular pipeline to be acguired to
determine that the pipeline owner has met 211 terms and conditions of the
underlying right-of-way agreements and that the agreements are still in full
force and effect. The Company typically relies upon outside service
organizations to review the right-of-way agreements and to make suggestions tc
the seller as to any curative work required before closing. The Company
typically does not receive a title opinion or title policy as to these right-of-
way agreements due to the complexity of the records and expense.

Occasionally, the Company may seek to initiate condemnation proceedincs
where permitted under state law to obtain a right-of-way necessary for pipeline
construction projects. The Company believes that this process is consistent with
standards in the pipeline industry and that it holds good title to its pipeline
systems, subject only to defects which the Company believes are not material tc
the ownership of its properties or results of coperations. See "Item 7.
Manegement's Discussicn and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations -- Cépitel Resources and Liquidity".

INSURANCE

The Company's operations &re subkject to many hezards inherent in the
natural gas transmission industry. The Company meintains insurance coveragde for
its operations and properties considered to be customary in the industry. There
can be no assurance, however that the Company's insurance coverage will be
available or adequate for any particular risk or loss or that the Company will
be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates it considers
reasonable. Although menzgement believes that the Company's assets are
edequately covered by insurance, a substantial uninsured loss could have &
material adverse impact on the Company's financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

EMPLOYEES AND CONTRACT SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS

The Company had 223 full-time emplovees on December 31, 1992. The Company
also had arrancements with other unaffiliated independent pipeline operating
companies to service and operate the Company's extensive field operations and
provide for emergency response measures. The Company is not a party to any
collective bargaining agreements. There have been no significant labor disputes
in the past.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
end Results of Operations - Disclosure Regarding Forward Looking Statements" for

& discussion of forward looking statements contained above and elsewhere in this
Report.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

See "Item 1. Business" for a discussion of properties and locations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The Company is currently involved in certain litigation that arose in the
ordinary course of business. Except as otherwise disclosed in the KPC
acquisition discussion in the "Rate and Regulatory Matters” section, management
believes that all costs of settlements or judgments arising from such suits will
not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

The Company did not submit any matters during the fourth quarter to a vote
of security holders.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MRRKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS.

MARKET INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company's Common Stock began trading Zugust 9, 1996 on the American Stock
Exchange ("AMEX") under the svmbol "MRS". The following table sets forth the
high and low sales prices for the Company's Common Stock for the period from
January 1, 1998 to December 31, 199¢.

Rll prices and dividends per share below, and included elsewhere in this
0-K, have been adjusted to reflect the 10% stock dividend declared on February
» 1998 and paid on March 2, 1998 to stockholders of record on February 13,
998, as well as the five-for-four stock split ceclared on February 1, 189¢, and
paid on March 1, 1599, to stockholders of record on February 11, 199¢.

1= W)

Dividends
High Low Paid per Share

198¢

First Quarter $19.00 $14.72 $.05¢

Second Quarter 18.70 15.0¢ .064

Third Quarter 18.9¢ 13.30 .064

Fourth Quarter 17.42 13.41 .064
199¢

First Quarter $18.70 $15.50 $.06¢

Second Quarter 17.€3 15.00 .070

Third Quarter 21.00 16.00 .070

Fourth Quarter 20.3:2 15.7% .070

On March 27, 2000, the closing price for the Common Stock, as reported by the
AMEX, was $16.25 per share. As of March 27, 2000, there were 319 holders of
record of common stock. The Company believes that there are substantially more
beneficial holders of Common Stock.

On February 3, 1998, the Board declared a 10% stock dividend to be paid March
2, 1998 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 13, 1998.
No fractional shares were issued and stockholders entitled to a fractional share
received a cash pavment equal to the market value of the fractional share at the
clese of the market on the stock dividend record date.

On February 1, 1999, the Board declared a five-for-four stock split to be
paid March 1, 1999 to stockholders of record at the close of business on
February 11, 1999. No fractional shares were issued, and stockholders entitled
to a fractional share received a cash payment equal to the market value of the
fractional share at the close of the market on the stock split record date.

Holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive cash dividends out of Company
funds legally available subject to the qualification that dividends need not be
declared or paid by the Board if to do so would be in violation of laws or
restrictions under contractual arrangements (including credit agreements) to
which the Company is or may hereafter become a party.

It is the Company's current policy to continue to pay a quarterly dividend:;
however, the amount of future cash dividends, if any, will depend upon future
€arnings, results of operations, capital reguirements, covenants contained in
various financing agreements of the Company and its subsidiaries, the financial
condition of the Company and certain other factors. Accordingly, there can be
no assurances that dividends will be paid by the Company in the future. See
"Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations - Capital Resources and Liquidity".
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following table sets forth, for the periods and &t the dates indicated,
selected histcrical consolidated financiel datae for Midcoast. This financizal
data has been derived from and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financiel statements of Midcoast and notes thereto included in Par:

II, Item 8.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts:
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Operating revenues $381,¢ $234, Q€8¢ £112,744 $2¢,41¢
Operatinc income (1 20, 90> 13,882 7,282 2,572
Interest expense 6,52z z,24% 1,0€7 41=
Income before income taxes 14,18¢C 10,422 £,214 1,914
Net income 11,43¢ ¢,11 5,764 1,814
Net income applicable to common sharehclders 11,43¢ ¢,11 5,764 1,882
PER SHARE DATE:
Net income per share applicable to common shareholders
Basic s 1.2¢ $ 1.2¢8 < 1.13 s L73 1.0¢
Diluted £ 1.2z $ 1.23 < 1.10 $ I3 $ 1.0¢
Weighted average number of common shares otvtstanding
Basic 9,17¢ 7,074 s,11¢ 2,883 1,980
Dilutec $,4C: 7,28¢ 5,281 2,5¢¢ 1,280
Cash dividends declared per common share < b < 2% $ .24 S 0e s -
OTHER DATA:
Derreciation, depletion and amortization s 7,54% $ 3,197 s 1,592 $ g1¢ S 452
General and administrative 8,432 6,317 3,52¢ 1,223 I8¢
Cash flow from operating activities 16,88¢ 17,16¢ 3,85¢ 2,564 2,361

DECEMBER 31,

{In thousands)
BALANCE SHEEET DATA:

Working capital (deficit) $ (1,53¢; s 9ge $ 1,88¢ $ 1,138 $ (98
Property, plant and equipment, net 392, 9¢¢ 154,247 97,552 16,965 g,20¢
Total assets 47¢,372 121,342 128,03¢ 27,302 11, 08¢
long-term debt, net of current portior 240,00¢ 78,082 28,923 4,015 3,9€1
Shareholders' egquity 160,677 6€,28¢ €1,451 13,592 4,157

(1} Operating revenues less operating expenses.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF CFERATIONS.

The following discussicn of the histerical financial ceondition ané results of
operations cf Midcoast should be read in conjunction with "Selected Financial
Data”™ ccntéined in Part I, Item 6 and with the consolidated financial statements
and related notes thereto contained in Part II, Item €.

GENERAL

Since its formation, the Company has grown sicnificantly as a result of the
construction and acgquisition ¢f new pipeline facilities. For the four year
period ended 122%, the Company &cguired or constructed 73 pipelines for arn
aggregate cost of approx:imately $369 million. The Company believes the
historical results cf operations do not fully reflect the operating efficiencies
and improvements that are expected to be achieved by integrating the zcguirec
and newly constructed pipeline systems. As the Company pursues its growth
strategy in the future, its financial position and results of operations may
fluctuate sic¢gnificantly from period tc period.

The Company's results cf operzticns are cdeterminec primarily by the vclumes
of natural gss transportecd, purchasec and sold through its pipeline systems or
rrocessed at its processing facilities. With the exception of the Company's
natural gas processing activities, which represent a small compeonent of the
Company’s overall earnings, the Company's revenues are derived trom fee basec
scurces. As & result, the Ccmpany's earnings have little sensitivity to changes
in commocdity prices. In addition, most of the Company's operating costs do not
vary directly with volume on existing systems, thus, 1ncreases or decreases in
transportation volumes generally have 2 direct effect on net income. The Company
derives 1its revenues frcom three primary sources: (i) the marketing of natural
gas and other petroleuwm products, (ii) transportaticn fees from pipeline systems
owned by the Company the rrocessing and treating c¢f natural gas and (iii) the
processing and treating of natural gas.

The Company's marketing revenues are realized through the purchase and
resale of natural gas anc¢ other petrcleum products to the Company's customers.
Generally, gas marketing activities will generate higher revenues anc
correspondingly hicher expenses than revenues and expenses associated with
transportation activities, given the same volumes of natural gas. This
relationship exists because, unlike revenues derived from transportation
activities, gas marketing revenues and associated expenses include tne full
commodity price of the natural cas acquired. The operating income the Company
recocnizes from its gas merketing efforts is the cdifference between the price at
which the natural gas was purchased and the price at which 1t was resold to the
Company's custcmers. The Company's strategy is to focus its marketing activities
on Company owned pipelines. The Company's marketing activities have historically
varied greatly in response to market fluctuations.

Transportation fees are received by the Compary for transporting natural gas
or crude oil owned by cther parties through the Company's pipeline systems,
transport trucks and rsilcars. Typically, the Company incurs very little
incremental operzting or administrative cverhead cost to transport natural gas
throuch its pipeline assets, thereby recognizing & substantial portion c¢f
incremental transportation revenues as operating income.

The Company's natural gas processing revenues are realized from the
extraction and sale of NGL's as well as the sale of the residual natural gas.
These revenues occur under processing contracts with procducers of natural gas
utilizing both a "percentage of proceeds” and "keep-whole" basis. The contracts
based on percentage of proceeds provide that the Company receives a percentage
of the NGL's and residual natural gas revenues as & fee for processing the
rroducer's gas. The keep-whcle contracts reguire that the Company reimburse the
producers for the Btu energy equivalent of the NGL's and fuel removed from the
natural gas as a result cof preocessing and the Company retains all revenues from
the sale of the NGL's. The Cocmpany's processing margins can be adverselv
affected by deciines in NGL's prices, declines in natural gas throughput, or
increases in shrinkage or fuel costs, and in the case of keep-whole contracts,
margins c¢an be adversely zffected affected by increases in ratural gas prices.

The Company has had quarter-to-quarter fluctuations in its financial
results in the past due to the fact that the Company's natural gas sales and
pipeline throughputs can be affected by changes in demand for natural gas
primarily because of the weather. In particular, cdemand on the Magnolia, MIT and
MIDLA systems fluctuate due to weather variations because of the large municipal
and other seasonal customers which are served by the respective systems. As a
result, the winter months have historically generated more income than summer
months on these systems. There can be no assurances that the Company's efforts
to minimize such effects will have any impact on future gquarter-to-quarter
fluctuations due to changes in demand resulting from variations in weather
conditions. Furthermere, future results could differ materially from historical
results due to & number of factors including but not limited tc interruption or
cancellation of existing contracts, the impact of competitive products and
services, pricing of and demand for such procucts and services and the presence
of competitors with greater financial resources.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company has acquired or ccnstructed numerous pipelines in the four-year
period ended December 31, 1999. The purchased assets were acquired from numerous
sellers, at different periods throughout the year and all were accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting
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for business combinations and accerdingly, the results of operations for such
acquisitions are included in the Company's financial statements only from the
applicable date of the acquisition. As a conseguence, the historical results of
operations for the periods presented may not be comparable.

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, effective January 1, 199%6.
hccordingly, the Company has segrecated its business activities into three
segments: Trensmission Pipelines, End-User Pipelines, and Gathering Pipelines
and Natural Gas Processing.

Consclidated gross margin for the vear ended December 31, 1999, increased
66% to $37.6 million compared to $22.€ million in 1898. Consolidated cross
margin for the year ended December 31, 159§, was $10.6 million higher than for
the same period in 1887. Variations for each secment are discussed in the
segment results below.

SEGMENT RESULTS

The following tables present certain data for each of the three operatinc
segments of the Company for the three years in the period ended December 31,
159¢. As previously discussed, the Company provides marketing services to its
customers. For analysis purposes, the Company accounts for the marketing
services by recording the marketing activity on the operating segment where it
occurs. Therefore, the gross margin for each segment includes a transportation
component and a marketing component. The Company evaluates each of its segments
on a gross margin basis, which is defined as the revenues of the segment less
related direct costs and expenses of the segment and does not include
depreciation, interest or allocated corporate overhead. For further analysis on
each segment regarding identifiable assets, depreciation and corporate
administrative expenses, see Note 16 - Segment Data in the Notes to Consclidated
Financial Statements.

TRANSMISSION PIPELINES

For the Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except amounts per MMBtu)

OPERATING REVENUES:

Marketing Revenue $113,42: $111,92¢ $ 61,27¢
Transportation Fees 11, 36¢€ 6,387 3,513
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 124,78¢ 118,311 64,787
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Marketing Costs 9%, 72¢ 100, 88¢% 57,33%
Operating Expenses 5,987¢ 4,383 1,582
TOTAL COPERATING EXPENSES 105,701 105,272 58,525
GROSS MARGIN $ 19,08¢ $ 13,03¢ $ 5,862

VOLUME (in MMBtu)
Marketing
Transportation

TOTAL VOLUME

GROSS MARGIN per MMBtu

Year Ended December 31, 1999 compared to Year Ended December 31, 1598

Increases in transmission segment revenues were primarily due to increased
throughput volumes, increased transportation fees and the Company's acquisition
of KPC in November 1599. The increase in throughput volumes was primarily from
increased volumes on the MIT system and the additional volumes provided from the
KPC acquisition. Increased margins per MMBtu in marketing related activities
also contributed to the increase in segment earnings.
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Year Ended December 31, 1998 compared to Year Ended December 31, 1897

The Company's entrance into the regulated interstate pipeline business
began with the acquisition of the MIT system in June 1997 and the MIDLA system
in November 1997 which significantly enhanced the Company's transmissior
pipeline operations in 1996. A complete year of operations in 1998 provided &
83% increase in revenues, an 83% increase in total volumes and a 122% increase
in ¢ross margin when compared to the same period in 19597. In addition to &
complete year of operations, average déily demand transportation volume
("Rverage Demand") increased on both systems in 1998. The MIT svstem's Average
Demand increased 19% to 158,000 MMBtu in 1998 while the MIDLA system's Average
Demand increzsed 13% to 166,000 MMBtu in 199¢

END-USER PIPELINES

For the Year Ended December 31,

(in thcuseands, except amounts per MMBtu)

OPERATING REVENUES:

Mérketing Revenue $122,18¢ $96,43: $33, 862
Transportation Fees 3,252 3,287 2,487
TOTARL OPERATING REVENUES 125,441 89,720 36,34¢
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Marketing Costs 117,242 94,262 32,673
Operating Expenses 34¢% 224 208
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 117,587 954,487 32,881
GROSS MARGIN $ 7,854 $ 5,233 $ 3,468
VOLUME (in MMBtu)
Marketing 49,51% 41, 33¢€ 11,867
Transportation 21,151 20,41t 12,415
TOTAL VOLUME 70, 664 61,751 24,282
GROSS MARGIN per MMBtu g .11 $ .0¢€ $ .14

Year Ended December 31, 1999 compared to Year Ended December 31, 199¢

The Company's end-user segment experienced significant increases in revenues
eand gross margin in 1999 compared to 1998. These increases were primarily due to
the addition of a high-pressure pipeline system servicing a new cogeneration
facility near Baton Rouge, Louisiana and the additional earnings that were
achieved through the acquisition of SIGCO in June 1998. The high pressure
pipeline system was not fully optimized until the second half of 199%.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 compared to Year Ended December 31, 19%7

The Company's end-user segment experienced significant increases in revenues
and gross margin in 1998 compared to 1997, primarily due to 1998 having the
benefit of a complete year of operations of the Champion and Monsanto systems
tacquired in the MIT Acquisition in June 1997) and Crown Vantage and Farmlands
systems (acquired in the MIDLA Acquisition in November 1997). A new marketing
services contract to provide 25 MMcf/day of marketing services beginning January
1, 1298 to an industrial facility near Port Hudson, Louisiana also contributed
to the increase in 1998 over 1997.

The Company's gross margin per MMBtu declined in 1998 as compared to 1897.
The decrease was attributable to an increase in marketing activities, which are
characterized by lower margins and higher volumes.
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GATHERING PIPELINES AND NATURAL GAS PROCESSING

For the Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except amounts per MMBtu)
OPERATING REVENUES:

Marketing Revenue $110, 064 $ 6,762 $ 5,587
Transportation Fees 12,03¢ 3,732 693
Processing and Treating Revenue 16,844 5,107 4,95¢
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 138,947 15, 60¢C 11, 24¢
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Marketing Costs 104,52¢ 4,781 4,54¢
Operating Expenses 11,263 2,41¢C 41%
Processing and Treating Costs 12,450 4,052 3,56¢
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 128,242 11,24% 8,52¢
GROSS MARGIN $ 10,70¢ $ 4,357 $ 2,717
VOLUME (in MMBtu)
Marketing 30,91¢ 4,32¢ 2,170
Transportation 86,567 48,13¢ 13, 603
Processing and Treating 11,552 2,544 1,850
TOTAL VOLUME 139,037 55,006 17,623
GROSS MARGIN per MMBtu $ .0t $ .08 $ .15

Year Ended December 31, 19299 compared to Year Ended December 31, 199§

The Company's gathering and processing segment experienced significant
increases in revenues and gross margins in 1999 compared to 199€. These
increases were mostly attributable to a full year of Anadarko system
earnings and the Seacrest, Calmar and DPI/Flare accuisitions in March 199¢.
Although marketing revenues increased over 1,500%, overall marketing margins
increased approximately 180% due to DPI's higher volume but lower margin
marketing business.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 compared to Year Ended December 31, 1997

Revenues, gross margins and volumes increased substantially in 1998
compared to 1997 in the Gathering Pipelines and Natural Gas Processing business
segment.

The significant increase in gathering activity in 1998 was attributable to
the Anadarko Acquisition that was effective in August 1998. Although the
Company's 1998 operations only included five months of activity from the
Anadarko system, it was responsible for 50% of the volumes gathered and
approximately $1 million of the gross margin earned in 199¢.

Despite a 38% increase in the volume of natural gas precessed through its
processing facilities, the Company's gross margin from processing activities
declined significantly in 1998 as compared to 1997. This decline was due to
lower processing spreads realized in 1998 as NGL commodity prices continued to
deteriorate throughout the year. The increase in processing volumes in 1998 was
attributable to the acquisition of the Hobart processing plant in the Anadarko
Acgquisition in August 1998.
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Marketing vclumes increased 98% in 1998 over 19587. These volumetric
increeses were the result of variocus sccuisitions. Collectively, twc
acquisitions @ccounted for %0% of the increase.

OTHER INCOME, COSTS AND EXPENSES
Yezr Ended December 31, 1999 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 109G¢
Cth revenues fcr the year ended December 31, 199% increased to $2.4

er
million from $0.4 million in 199E. The increase was primarily attributable to
income earned by Flare on processing and treating plant construction projects.

Depreciation, depleticn zn¢ amortization fer the year ended December 31,
199¢ incressed to $7.5 million from $3.2 million in 1996. This increase was
primarily due to increzsed cepreciation on assets acquired in the KPC, Enadarkc,

DPI/Flare and Calmar acquisitions.

Generel and administrative expenses for the year ended Decemper 31, 190G
increased tc $8.4 million from S€.3 millicn in 1988, The increase was due tec
increased costs assoclated with the management cf the assets acguired in the
KPC, Anadsrkec, DPI/Flare and Calmar acguisitions. General and administrative
expensés, as & percentace oI gross margin, decrezsed 6% from 28% in 199€ to 22%
in 199¢.

Interest expense for the year ended December 21, 1999 increzsed to $6.%
million, from $3.2 million in 199%€. The Ccmpany was servicing an average of
$110.5 million in debt for the year ended December 31, 1999 as compared to $45.€
million in debt for the year ended December 31, 199¢. The increased debt level
in 1999 was primarily associated with the debt used to finznce the Company's KPC
gcquisition in November 1999 as well as its DPI/Flare and Calmar acquisitions in
March 1999. The additional expense related to increased debr levels wasc
mitigated by & reduction in the Company's weighted average interest rate. The
Company's weighted average interest rate was 6.37% and 7.11% for the years endec
December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

During the fourth guarter of fiscal 1999, the Company reccrded a pre-tax
unusuzl charge totaling $2.7 million ($2.2 million after tax) related to the
streamlining efforts announced in November 199%. The charge primarily relates
to the severance and berefits of approximately 50 employees whc were involuntary
terminated. The Company anticipates savings from reduced emplcoyvee cost and more
streamlined operatinc and business processes. At December 31, 199%, an accrued
liability of $1.8 million related to the severance charges was included in
"Rccounts payable and accrued liabilities”™ cn the consolidated balance sheet.
Thirty-three of these employees were still employed with the Company at December
31, 1999. The final severance will be paic¢ in April 200z.

The Company hac an extraordinary charce of 350.6 million fcr the year ended
December 31, 1999 incurred in connection with the write-down of deferred
financing chazrges as a result of amending the Company's credit facility.

Operating income, excluding the unusual charge, for the vear ended December
31, 1999 increased to $23.6 million from $13.6 million in 199€.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 Compzred to Year Ended December 31, 19%7

In 1998, the Company received revenues of $0.4 million from its oil and
naturzl gas properties as compared to $0.3 millicn over the same period in 1997.
The increase was primarily attributable to a2 one-time settlement received by the
Company on its Vealmoor Field properties.

In 1998, the Company's depreciation, depletion and amortization increased
when compared to 1997 primarily due to increzsed depreciation on assets acaguired
in the MIT, MIDLA and Anadarkc Acquisitions. Collectively, these acquisitions
accounted for 105% of the increase of $1.6 million.

The Company's general and administrative expenses in 199€ increased $2.8
million when compared to 1997 primarily due to the numercus acquisitions the
Company made during 1997 and 1998. 1In addition, the increase was attributed to
the Company's expansion of its infrastructure to allow for continued growth.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 1998 increased to $3.2
million, from $1.1 million in 1997. The Company was servicing an average of
$45.6 million in debt for the year ended December 31, 1998 as compared to $13.€
million in debt for the year ended December 31, 1997. The increased debt load
in 1998 was primarily associated with the debt used to finance the MIDLA
Acquisition being outstanding for a full year as compared to only two months in
1997. In a2ddition, $35 million of additional debt associated with the Enadarkc
Accuisition was outstanding for four months in 1998. The additional expense
related to increased debt levels was mitigated by a reduction in
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the Company's weighted averzge interest rate. The Company's weighted averace
interest rate was 7.11% and 7.83% for the years ended December 31, 1998 anc
1987, respectively.

The Company recocnized annual operating income and net income in 1998 of
$13.€ million and $9.1 million, respectively, as compared to $7.3 million ir.
operating income and $5.€ million in net income for the vear ended 1997. EPS
increased 14% from $1.10 in 1997 to $1.25 in 1996. The significant improvement
in EPS is primerily ztiributable to the positive impact of accretive
acguisitions consummated during 1998 and 1997.

INCOME TAXES

As cf December 31, 1999, the Company has NOL carryforwards of approximately
$10.3 milliecn, expiring in various amounts from 2003 through 2018. These loss
cerryvforwsrds were gererated by companiles acquired by Midcoast. The ability cf
the Company to utilize the carryforwards is cependent upon the Company
cenerating suifficlent taxable inccome and will be affected by annuzl limitations
{currently estimated 2t $2.2 million) on the use of such carrvforwards due to &
change 1in sharehcolcder contrcl under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code
triggered by the Company's July 19%7 Common Stock offering and the change of
ownership created by the acguisition of Republic ancd DEI

The valuation zilowence declined 52.1 million during the year endecd
December 31, 1628. The decline was the net result of current vear utilization of
net operating losses to offset taxable income and the removal of $581,000 of
valuation allcwance related to net operating losses that are more likely than
not to be utilized in the future.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

Since 1926, the Company has acquired approximately $368.9 million of
pipeline systems. Cagpitel reguirements have been funded through eguity
infusions from common stock offerings, borrowings from various commercial banks
and cash flow from operat:ions.

The Company has raised net proceeds of approximately $126 million in four
common stock offerings since being listed on the American Stock Exchange ir
hugust 199€. These capital infusions and the stability of our cash flow has
&llowed the Company the financial flexibility to utilize lower cost conventional
bank debt financing to fund a large part of its growth. The Company's long-term
debt to total capitslization ratio increased from 54% at December 31, 1998 tc
60% at December 31, 159¢.

In November 199% and again in March 2000, the Company amended and restatec
its bank financing agreement under the certain Amendec and Restated Credit
Agreement cdated August 31, 1998. The zmencments addecd additional banks to the
syndicate, increased our borrowing availability, modified our letter of credit
facility, extended the maturity five vears to November 2004, modified financial
covenants, established waiver and amendment approvals and chanaged the method tc
determine the interest rate to be chargecd.

The amendments to the credit acreement increased our borrowing availability
from $125 million to £335 million, with & provision to increase up to $40C
million. The amended credit agreement provides borrowing availability as
follows: (i) up to & $25 million sublimit for the issuance of standby anc
commercial letters cf credit and (ii) the difference between the $33% millior.
and the used sublimit available as a revolving credit facility. At the option of
the Company, borrowings under the amended credit agreement accrue interest at
LIBOR plus an applicable margin cr the higher of the Bank of America prime rate
or the Federal Funds rate plus an applicable margir.

The applicable margin percentage to be added to the interest rate is bzasec
on the Company's debt to total capitalization ratio at the end of each fiscal
quarter. The Company is charged sz margin between 1.0% and 2.0% as the Company's
total debt tc total capitalization ratio ranges from under 40% and over 65%,
respectively. The Company's borrowings are currently being charged at the
margin of 1.75%. The Company was also subject to an arrangement fee, agency
fee, underwriting fee, unused fee and commitment fee totaling $1.2 million.
Additionally, the Company is subject to an annual administrative agency fee of
$35,00¢C.

The credit agreement is secured by all accounts receivable, contracts, anc
the pledge of all of our subsidiaries' stock and a first lien security interest
in our pipeline systems. It also contains a number of customary covenants that
require us to mzintain certair financial ratios and limit our ability to incur
additional indebtecdness, transfer or sell assets, create liens, or enter into &
merger or consolidation. The Company is reguired to comply with more stringent
debt to capitalization and EBITDA to interest ratios by June 30, 2000.
Subsequent to the amendment in March 2000, the Company has approximately $§72
million of available capacity under its credit acreement.

For the vear endec December 31, 1992, the Company generated cash flow from
operating activities cf approximately $16.7 million.
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Currently, the Company hes committed to making approximately $4.9 million 2
censtruction related expenditures in 2000. The Company believes that its credit
acreement ancd funcs provided by operations will be sufficient tc meet ite
operating cash needs for the fereseeable future and its projected capital
expenditures, other than acquisitions.

If sufficient funds under the credit acreement are not available to func
acquisition anc construczion prolects, the Company would seek to obtain such
finen ¢ from the sale of eguity securities or other debt financing. There car
be nc assurances that any such financina will be available on terms acceptable
to the Company. Should sufficient capital not be available, the Company will not
be zble to implement its crowth strategy 1n &s aggressive a manner as currently
plannec.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT

The FASE issued SFAS Ne. 133, "Accounting fer Derivative Instruments anc
Hedcing Activities”. This Statement establishes accounting anc reportinc
standards for cerivative instruments, including certain derivative instrumente
embedded in other contracts, (ccllectively referred to as gerivatives) and for
hedging activities. SFAS Ne. 133 will require the Company tc record all
derivatives on the bzlance sheet at fair value. Changes in derivative fair
values will either be recognizec in €arnings as offsets to the changes in fair
value of related hedged zssets, liabilities and firm commitments or, fcor
forecastec transacticns, ceferred and recerded as & compcnent of other
shareholders’ ecuity until the hedged transactions occur and are recognized in
earnings. The ineffective portion of & hedging derivative's change in fair
value will be immediately recognized in earnings. The impact of SFAS No. 133 orn
the Company's financizl statements will depend on a variety cf factors,
including future interpretative guidance from the FASE, the extent of the
Company's hedging activities, the types of hedgin¢ instruments used and the
effectiveness ¢f such instruments. The standard was amended by SFAS Nc. 137 in
Jure 1989¢. The amendment defers the effective date of SFAS No. 133 to fiscal
vears beginning after June 15, 200C. The Company is currently evaluating the
effects of this pronouncement.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SAFETY MATTERS

Our activities in connection with the operaticn and construction of
pipelines and other facilities for transporting, processing, treating, or
stering natural gas anc other products are subject to environmental and safety
regulation by numerous federal, state, local and Canacdian. authorities. This
regulation can include ongoing oversight regulation as well as reguirements for
construction c¢r other permits and clearances that must be granted in connection
with new projects or expansions. Regulatory requirements can increase the cost
cof planning, designing, initial installation and operation of such facilities.
Sanctions for violation of these requirements include a variety of civil and
criminal enfcrcement measures, including assessment of monetary penalties,
assessment and remediation requirements and injunctions as to future compliance.
The following is a discussion of certain environmental anc¢ safety concerns that
relate to us. It is not intended to constitute a complete discussion of the
various federal, state, local and Canadian statutes, rules, regulations, or
orders to which our operations may be subject.

In most instances, these regulatory requirements relate to the release cf
substances into the environment and include measures to conirol water and air
pollution. Mcreover, we could incur liability under the Comprehensive
Envircnmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1680, as emended, or
state counterparts, regardless of our fault, in connection with the disposal or
other relezses of hazardous substances, including those zrising out of
historical operations concducted by our prececessors. Further, the recent trenc
in environmental legislation and regulations is toward stricter standards, and
this trend will likely continue in the future.

Environmental laws and regulations may alsc reguire us to acquire a permit
before we may conduct certain activities. Further, these laws and regulations
may limit or prohibit activities on certain lands lying within wilderness areas,
wetlands, areas providing habitat for certain species that have been identifiec
as "endangered” or "threatened” or other protected areas. We are also
subject to other federal, state and local laws covering the handling, storage or
discharge of materials, and we are stbject to laws that ctherwise relate to the
protection of the envirecnment, safety and health. As an emplover, we are
required to maintain a workplace free of recognized hazards likely to cause
death or serious injury and to comply with specific safety standards.

We will make expencditures in connection with environmental matters as part
of our normal cperaticrs and capital expenditures. In addition, the possibility
exists that stricter laws, regulations or enforcement policies could
significantly increase our cempliance costs and the cost of any remediation that
might become necessary. We are subject to an inherent risk of incurring
environmental costs and liabilities because of our handling of oil, gas and
petroleum products, historical incustry waste disposal practices and prior use
of gas flow meters containing mercury. There can be no assurance that we will
not incur material environmental costs and liabilities. Management believes,
based on our current knowledge, that we have obtained and are in current
compliance with all necessary and material permits and that we are in
substantiel compliance with applicable material environmental and safety
regulations. Further, we maintain insurance coverages that we
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believe zre custemary in the industry; however, there can be no assurance that
ocur envircnmental impairment insurance will provide sufficient coverage in the
évent an environmental claim is made acainst us. See "Business and Froperties-~
Insurance.” We are not eware of &Ny existing environmental or safety claims
that wourld have & materizl impact upen our financial position or results of
operations.

YEAR 200C

The Company completed 211 phases of the Year 2000 Program relative tc
computer systems and technology infrastructure considered essential to the
Company's business prior to the event. The year 2000 event passed without
significant incident. The Company's contingency plans are designed to minimize
any disruptions or other adverse effects resulting from unexpectec
incompatibilities regarcing core systems and business zprlications and tc¢
facilitate the early :derntification and remediation of system problems that
manifest themselves after December 31, 1955. To date, no significant items have
been identified. The Company continues to &ssess, test and remediate business
application and technolocy infrastructure that were previously cdetermined to be
cther than ential tc Core business cperztions. The extent of these activities
1s very insign:ificant to the Company's overzll business. Aggregate costs
expended for the Year 2000 Project totaled epproximately $1.0 mill:ior.

DISCLOSURE RELGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning cof
Section 27h of the Securities Act of 1533 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1834. Rll statements cther than statements of historical fact
included in and incorporated by reference into this Torm 10-K are
forward-looking statements. These forward looking statements include, without
limitation, statements under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operztions--Capitzl Resources and Liquidity" regarcinc
the Company's estimate of the sufficiency of existing capital resources, whether
funds provided by operations will be insufficient to meet its operational needs
in the foreseeable future, and its ability to use NOL carryforwards prior to
their expiretion. Although, we believe that the expectations reflected in these
forward looking statements are reasonzble, we can not give any &ssurance that
such expectations reflected in these forward looking statements will prove tc
have been correct.

When used in this Form 10-K, the words "expect”, "anticipate”, "intend",
"plan”, "believe", "seek", "estimate”, and similar expressions are intended tc
identify fcrward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements
contain these :identifying words. Because these forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertzinties, actual results could differ materially from
those expressec or implied by these forward-looking statements for a number of
important reasons, including those discussed under "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Concdition and Results of Operations", and elsewhere ir
this Form 10-K.

You should read these statements carefully because they discuss our
expectations about our future performance, contain projections of our future
operating results ¢r our future financial condition, or state other "forward-
looking” infermation. Before you invest in our common stock, you should be asware
that the occurrence of any of the events cescribed in "Risk Factors™ in the
Frospectus Supplement, cdated December 6, 199% and elsewhere in this Form 10-K
could substantizlly harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition and that upon the occurrence of any of these events, the trading price
of our common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your
investment.

We cannot guarantee anv future results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements. Except as reguired by law, we undertake no obligation to update
any of the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K after the date of this
Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage market
risks associated with certain energy cemmodities and interest rates. According
to guidelines provided by the Board, the Company enters into exchange-traded
commodity futures, options and Swap contracts to reduce the exposure to marke:t
fluctuations in the price of energy cormmodities and fluctuations in interest
rates. The Company does not engage in speculative trading. Approvals are
regquired from senior management prior to the execution of any financial
derivative.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

The Company's commodity price risk exposure arises from inventory balances
and fixed price purchase anc sale commitments. The Company uses exchange-tradec
commodity futures contracts, options and Swap contracts to manage and hedge
price risk related to these market exposures. These futures and options
contracts have pricing terms indexed to the NYMEX.
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Gas futures involve the buying and selling of natural gas at a fixed price.
Over~the-counter swap agreements reqguire the Company to receive or make payments
based on the difference between a specified price and the actual price of
natural gas. The Company uses futures and swaps to manadge margins on offsetting
fixed-price purchase or sales commitments for physical guantities of natural
gas. Options provide the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell energy
commodities at a fixed price. The Company utilizes options to mariage margins
and to limit overall price risk exposure. (See Note 11 - Financial Instruments
and Price Risk Management Activities in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements). As of December 31, 1999 and 199€¢, the Company had net unrealized
losses on its various open commodity futures, swaps and option contracts of
$1,139,000 and $8%96,000, respectively. The tabular presentation related to the
Company's commodity price risk is illustrated below (in thousands, except for
price per MMBtu amounts):

As of December 31, 189¢
Expected Fiscal Year of Maturity

2000 Fair value

Swap Contracts:

Contract Volumes (MMBtu! 5,04:% -

Weighted Average Price (Per MMBtu) s 2.12 S -

Contract Amount $10, 635 $9, 608
Futures Contracts:

Contract Volumes (MMBtu) 930 -

Weighted Average Price (Per MMBtu) S 2.47 $ -

Contract Amount $ 2,28t $2,18%

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Company's debt financial instruments are sensitive to market
fluctuations in interest rates. The interest rate swap agreements entered into
by the Company effectively convert $65 million of floating-rate debt to fixed-
rate debt (see Note 11 - Financiel Instruments and Price Risk Management
Activities in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company
makes payments to counterparties at fixed rates and in return receives payments
at floating rates. The first swap agreement, which has a notional amount of $25
million, was entered into in December 19%7. It was subsequently transferred to
enother bank in November 1998 and replzced with & new swap agreement which has
an initial term of two years through December 2000 but is extendible, at the
bank's option, for an additional three vears. The second swap agreement, with a
notional amount of $40 million, was entered into in October 1998 and has an
initial term of three years through November 2001 but is extendible, at the
bank's option, for an additional two vears. Both transactions are recorded using
accrual accounting. The table below presents notional amounts and weighted
average interest rates by expected or contractual maturity dates. Notional
amounts are used to calculate the contractuzl payments to be exchanged under the
contract. The tabular presentation related to the Company's interest rate risk
is illustrated below (in thousands, except for interest rates):

As of December 31, 199¢
Expected Fiscal Year of Maturity

Liabilities:
Long-term debt, including current portion -
variable interest rate of 6.17: at
December 31, 19%% s 7 - - - $240,000 $240,071 5$240,07:

Interest Rate Derivatives:
Interest rate swaps, variable to fixed rate -

notional amounts $25,000 $40,00¢ - - - s €5,00C & 7€
Average interest rate 4.71- 4.4¢-
Average received rate 6.58- €.99-
Net cash flow effect s 1,2 s 1,007
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’
equity and cash flows present fairly, in zll material respects, the financial
position of Midccast Energy Resources, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31,
1899 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States,
which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amcunts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides &
reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Houston, Texas
March 10, 2000
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board cf Directors and Shareholders
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for
each of the years in the two vear period ended December 31, 1998. These
consclidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
menagement. Our responeibility is to express an copinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on & test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial pesition of Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc., and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the
two year period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

HEIN + ASSOCIATES LLP

Houston, Texas
March 18, 199¢%
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

Current Assets:

Cash and cash eguivalents

Rccounts end notes receivable, net of allowance of $1,484 and $%Z, respectivels
Other current assets

Totel Current Assets

Property, Plant and Egquipment, net
Other Assets
Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS®' EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt

Other current liabilities

Total Current ligbilities

Long~-term Debt
Other Liabilities
Deferred Income Taxes
Commitments and Contingencies
Minority Interest in Consolidated Subsidiaries

Shareholders' Equity:

Common stock, par value $.01 per share; auvthorized 31,250,000 shares; issuec

12,721,980 and 7,149,513 shares, respectively

Paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Unearnecd compensation

Accumuleated other comprehensive income

Treasury stock (at cost), 161,156 and 181,125 treasury shares, respectively

Total Sharehclders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

statements.
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December 31,
---;999 199¢

s 2,34
gs,1¢8¢
4,808
62,434
392, 9¢€¢
22,964
$478, 37z

S €3,90 $ 32,54¢C

7 93¢

124

€3,97¢ 33,594

240,000 78,082

2,147 2,024

11,034 10,808

53¢ 55C

127 71

165,964 80,955

(2,918 (11,947)

- (4)

71 -

(2,570} (2,781)

160,677 €6,284

$47€,372 $191, 342
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands,

except per share and share data)

For the Year Enced December 31,

lg9¢ 199¢
Operating kevenues:
Energy marketing revenue $ 345,67¢ $ 21%,11¢
Transportation fees 26,65" 13,40¢
Nezturzal g¢as processing and treating revenue 16,84¢ £,107
Other 2,39%¢ 43¢
Total operating revenues 301,87: 234,06¢
Cperating Expenses
Energy marketing expenses 33¢,07¢ 20€, 95C
Naturezl ges processing and treating costs 12, 45¢ 4,08z
Other operzting expenses 47¢ -
Depreciation, depletion and amortizatior 7,54¢ 3,187
General anc zdministrative 8,432 €,317
Unusual charge 2,685 -
Total operating expenses 370, 66¢ 220,51¢
Operating inceome 20,90z 13,58:%
Non~Operating Items:
Interest expense (6,532 (3,247
Minority interest in consclidated subsidiaries (42 (5¢}
Other income (expense), net (137 174
Total non-operating items (6,713 {3,131
Income before income taxes and extraordinary item 14,19C 10,422
Provision fcr income taxes:
Current (1,833} (114
Deferrec 336) (1,195
Income before extraordinary item 12,022 9,11%
Extracrdinary item, net of income tax provision of $300 (582 -
Net Income $ 11,43¢ s 9,112
Earnings per common share:
Basic
Income before extraordinary item < 1.31 $1.2¢
Extraordinary Iten (.0¢ -
Net Income 5 1.2k $1.2¢
Diluted
Income before extraordinary item < .28 $1.25
Extracrdinary Item (.06) -
Net Income s 1.22 $1.25%
Weichted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding:
Basic ©,17€,20C 7,074,372
Dilutec 9,400,754 7,298,34¢

(1,067)
(222)
(BE&)

in
4
—
[N

5,251,456

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

statements.
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

19¢0¢ 199¢ 1967
Net InCOME. . ...ttt i e, $11,43¢ $8,11z $5,76¢
Foreign currency translation acjustment............. 72 - -
COMPrenensive IMCOME . ¢ v e e e ce et e ee e eee e $11,51¢C 59,11 $9,764

The zccompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES,
CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF

(In thousands,

Common

Shares

EALANCE, DECEMEZIR 31,

Net Income -

Shares issued or vestec
under various stock-basec
compensation arrangements -

10% Stock Dividend
{645 shares;

Sale of 2,894 shares cf
commen stock 2,894
Common stock warrants issued in
conjunctien with the MIDL:
Acguisitaern 482
Commor. Stock Dividends, $.24

per share -

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 19%7

Net Income -

Shares issued or vested under
various stock-based
compensation errangements -

Warrants Exercisec -

Treasury Stock Purchased
(181 shares! -

Common Stock Dividends,
$.25 per share -

BALANCE, DECEMEER 31, 199¢
Net Income -

Shares issued or vested under
varicus stock-basec
compensation arrangements -

Steck options exercisec -

3,872 shares of

stock 3,87z

Sale of
common
Sale of shares of
common

2,000
stock 2,00¢C
Treasury Stock Purchased

(144 shares) -

Treasury Stock issued irn
connection with the DPI
Acquisition (164 shares) -

Foreign currency translation
adjustment -

Common Stock Dividends,
$.27 per share -

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 199& 12,722

Steck

0
"

IS

$ 71

W
=

2¢

$127

e

274

54,547

30,22¢

S$1€5,964

INC.,
SHAREHOLDERS'
except per share data)

Accumulated
Other
Accumulated Uneerned Comprehensive
Cempensatior
$(13,284: S(sC § -
5,764 - -
- 7z -
(10, Se£; - -
$(1¢,283 S(1¢ 5 -
9,113 - -
- 14 -
(1,773, - -
$(11,947) 5 (4 $ -
131,438 -
- g -
- - 71
(2,407} - -
$ (2,915} $72

AND SUBSIDIARIES
EQUITY

T

reasury Stock

$(2,570)

s==rn==

Total
Shereholders’
Equity

(4

34,08z

$ 61,451

9,113

54,583

30,245

(2,40¢)

$160,677

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

For the Year Ended December 3.

190¢ 169t l19¢7
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
§ 11,43¢ s &,11F s 5,764

Net income
Acjustments tc arrive at net cash provided by operating activities -

Depreciation, depletion and amortizatior 7,54¢ 3,1¢7 1,582
Deferrecd income taxes 33¢ 1,1¢:¢ -
Recogniticn of deferred income (7¢: (E3: (82
Minority interest in consolidated subsiciaries 4z st 22z
Extraorcdinary charge, net of tax S€2 - -
Other (9¢€ - 6¢
Changes in working capital accountes:
Increase in accounts receivable (11,39¢) (4,498} (12,022)
Increase in other current assets (13¢) (933)
Increase in accounts pavable and accrued liabilities 8,32¢ 8,24
Net cash provided by operating activities 17,186¢ 3,85¢
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Acguisitions, net of cash acquirec (238,104} (82,076 (60,778)
Capital expenditures (1€,562) {(7,81¢€) (1,410
Net receipts from (advances to) egquity investec 36 (724} -
Other - (695, (309}
Net cash used by investing activities (254,288, (61,311 (62,497)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Bank debt borrowings 104, €5¢ 8¢, 15¢ €5,321
Bank debt repayments 33,599) {39,969) (39,891)
Net proceeds from equity offerings 64,87¢C - 34,082
Financing costs (1,372) (588) (504
Treasury stock purchases (2,40€) 2,781} -
Dividends on common stock (2,407; (1,777 (1,198
Net cash provided by financing activities 44,034 57,783
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Egquivalents (10€) (860
Cash anc Cash Equivalents, beginning of vear 30¢ 1,16¢
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of vear s 200 s 30¢
Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash Paid for Interest $ 7,357 s 2,135 s 70€
Cash Paic for Income Taxes $ 46C $ 311 $ 241

1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consclidated financial
Statements.
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MIDCORST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.

tn

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS:

The Company was fcrmed on May 11, 19%Z, as a Nevada corperation and ir
September 1922, through a merger azccounted fcor as a pociing of interest, became
the successcr to Nugget Cil Corporastion. The Cempany was reincorperated as &

Texas corporation in 199¢.

The Compeny is primarily engeged in the transpoertation, gatnering,
processing ancd merketing cf natural gas and other petroleum products. As cof
December 31, 1989, the Company owned and operzted three interstate rrensmissior.

N

ripeline systems, one intrzstate transmission system, 35 end-user systems and 42
cathering systems representing approximately 4,000 miles cf pipeline with an

&g¢regate daily throughput capacity cof over 3.0 Bef of natural aas per dav.
Operations zlso included natural ges processing and treating facilities and over
€0 natural gas liguid and crude oil tanks and rail cars. The Company's

t

principal business consisted of providing transportation services to both enc-
users and naturel gas producers, providing natural gas marketing services tc
these customers and processing natural gas. In connection with these services,
the Company acquires and constructs pipelines tc meet customer needs. The
Company's principal assets are located in the Gulf Coast and Mid-Continent
areas.

e
1

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Basis of Fresentation and Principles of Consclidatior

The accompanying ccnsclideted financial statements include the accounts of
all mejority-owned, controclled subsidizries of the Company after the elimination
of all significant interccmpany accounts and transactions. The equity method
of accounting is used for investments in affiliates where the Company owns fifty
percent or less and is not deemed to have significant contrel. The financial
stetements for previous periods include certain reclassifications that were made
to conform to the current year presentation. Such reclzssifications hasve no
impact on reported net income or shareholders' eguity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements irn
conformity with generally accepted sccounting principles reguires the Company's
management to meke estimates ancd assumptions that effect the reported amounts of
&éssets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent &ssets
and liabilities that exist at the date of the financial statements. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Eguivalents

The Company considers short-term, highly liguid investments that have an
original maturity of three months or less &t the time of purchase tc be cash
equivalents.

Gas Imbalances

In the course of providing services to customers, natural gas pipelines may
receive different quantities of gas from shippers than the guantities deliverec
on behalf of those shippers. These transactions result in natural gas imbalance
receivables and payables that are settled through cash-out procedures specifiec
in each tariff or recoverec or repaid through the receipt or delivery of gas in
the future. Such imbalances are recorded as current assets or current
ligbilities on the bzlance sheet using the posted index prices of the applicable
FERC-approved tariffs, which approximate market rates. Natural gas imbalances
were not material as of December 31, 1999 and 199€.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily cf materials and supplies, natural gas and
liguid petroleum products. Inventories of materials and supplies utilized for
ongoing replacements and expansions are carried at average cost and are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to their net realizable value. The natural gas and ligquid
petroleum products are carried at fair value, which approximates average cost.
Inventories are included in "Other Current Assets" on the consolidated balance
sheets.

Regulated Pipelines

MIT, MLGC and KPC are subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 71, "BRccounting
for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.”
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESCURCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Regulatery assets represent probable future revenue to MIT, MLGC and KPC
2ssociated with certain costs which will be reccvered from customers throuch the
regulatory, or the rate making process. Regulatory assets are included in "Other
Acsets” on the consclidated balances sheets.

The FERC reculates the interstate transportation and certain sales of
natvral gas, includinc among cther things, rates and charges allowed natural gas
companles, extensions znd zbandenment of facilities and service, rates of
depreciation and amortization and certain accounting methods utilized by MIT,
MLGC and KPC.

Property, Plant and Ecuipment
e natural gas transmission, distributicn and

T
her equirment are stated at cost and depreciated by
retes pzsed on the following estimated useful lives

interstate and intrast
Frocessing facilities and o
the straight-line method at
of the assets:

a
T

Interstate netural g¢es transmission facilities 1% - 6% Years
Intrastate natural gas transmission facilitiecs 15 - 60 Years
Pipeline right-of-ways 17 Years
Naturzl gas processing facilities 30 Years
Other property anc eguipment 3 - 10 Years

For regulated interstate natural gas transmission facilities, the cost of
additions to property, plant and eguipment includes direct labor and material,
zllocable overheads and an allowance for the estimated cost of funds used duranc
construction ("RFUDC"). Such provisions for AFUDC are not reflected separately
in the sccompanying consolicated statements of operations cue to the amounts not
being material. Maintenance and repasirs, inclucing the cost of renewals of minor
items of property, are-charged principally to expense as incurred. Major
additions, replacements anc improvements of property (exclusive of minor items
Cr property} are chargecd to the sppropriate property accounts. Upon retirement
of a pipeline plant zsset, 1ts cost is charged to accumulated depreciation
together with the cost of removal, less salvage value.

For all other non-regulated assets, repairs and maintenance are charged tc
expense as incurred; renewals and betterments are capitalized including any

direct labor.

The Company &ccounts for its oil and gas procduction activities using the
full cost method of accounting. Under this method of accounting, all costs,
including indirect costs related to exploration and development activities, are
capitalized as oil and cas property costs. No gains or losses are recognized on

the sale or disposition of oil and gas reserves, except for sales that include &
significant portion of the total remaining reserves.

Impzirment of Lonc-Lived Assets

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 121, “"Accounting for the Impairment
of Long-Lived Assets and for Lcng-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of," the Company
recognizes impairment losses for long-lived assets used in operations wher.
indicators of impalrment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated
to be generzted by those assets are less than the assets' carrying amount.
bPuring the first quarter of 1899, the Company wrote down, by approximately
$145,000, a certain pipeline svstem to salvage value. The ameunt is included ir
"Depreciation, depletion and amortization™ in the Consolicated Statement of
Operations.

Goodwill

Goodwill, representing the excess cost of purchased subsidiaries over the
fair value of net assets acquired, is amortized using the straight-line methocd
over 20 years.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is accounted for using the cost method and is shown as 2
reduction to shareholders' equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Treasury
stock sold or issued is valued on & weighted average basis.

Employee Stock Based Compensation
In 1997, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 123, "Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation™ ("SFAS 123"). Under SFAS 123, the Company is

permitted tc either recorc expenses for stock options and other stock-based
employee compensation plans
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESQURCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

based cn their fair value at the date of grant or to continue to apply
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 ("APE 25") and recognize compensaticr.
expense, if any, based on the intrinsic value of the €guity instrument &t the
measurement date. The Company elected to continue following APB 25; therefore,
no cempensetion expense has been recognirzed because the exercise price of
emplovee stock options eguals the market price of the underlying stock on the
date of cgrant.

kevenue Recognitior.

Customers are invciced and the related revenue is recorded as natural
and other petroleum products are delivered. 0il and natural gas revenue fr
the Company’s interests in progucing wells is recognized as oil and natural ga

<
is procduced from those wells. Fevenue from renovated and manufactured eguipment
sales Is recognized at the time of sale.

cas
or.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are besed on inceme repertec for tax return purposes alonc
with a provision for ceferred income taxes. Deferred income taxes are providec
to reflect the tax ccnsecuences in future vears of differences between the
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities at each vear-enc.
Tax crecits zre accounted for under the flow-through method, which reduces the
rrovisicn fcr inccme taxes in the vear the tax credits first become availabile.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, based upecr.
management's estimates, it is more likely than not that a portion of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized in a future period. The estimates
utilizecd in the recognition of deferred tax assets are subject te revision in
future periods based on new facts or circumstances.

Hedging Activities

It is the Company's policy to maintain as nearly as practicable a fully
hecged position on its net natural gas purchase and sales commitments using
back-to-back physical transactions. When z back-to-back physical transactior
cannot be completec, the Company will periodically enter into financial
instruments to reduce :its exposure to commodity price risk. The Company uses
futures and options with maturities of eichteen months or less tc hedge agzinst
the veclatility of the price of natural gas purchases and sales. The financial
derivatives have pricing terms incexed to the NYMEX futures contract. Gains or
losses on hedging activities are deferred until the physical transaction cccurs.
Gains or losses relating to financial derivatives terminated prior tc maturity
are recognized currently in income. See "Note 1i. Financial Instruments and
Price Risk Management Activities” for information on unrealized losses, notional
amounts and notional contracts at December 31, 195¢.

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

The FASE issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities”. This Statement establishes accounting and reportinc
standards for derivative instruments, including certain cerivative instruments
embedded in other contracts, (collectively referred to as derivatives) ancd for
hedging activities. SFAS No. 133 will require the Cempany to record all
derivatives on the bzlance sheet at fair value. Changes in derivative fair
values will either be recognized in earnings as offsets tc the changes in fair
value of related hedged assets, liabilities and firm commitments or, for
forecasted transactions, deferred and recorded as a component of cther
shareholders' equity until the hedged transacticons occur anc are recognized ir
earnings. The ineffective portion of a hecging derivative's change in fair
value will be immediately recognized in earnings. The impact of SFAS 133 on the
Company's financial statements will depend on a variety of factors, including
future interpretative guidance from the FASB, the extent of the Company's
hedging activities, the types of hedging instruments used and the effectiveness
of such instruments. The standard was amended by SFAS No. 137 in June 199%.
The amendment defers the effective date of SFAS No. 133 to fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company is currently evaluating the effects
of this pronouncement.

3. ACQUISITIONS
The MIT Acguisition

In May 1897, the Company acquired the pipeline and energy services
operations from Atrion Corporation for cash consideration of $38.2 million and
up to $2 million in contingent deferred payments. The MIT operations include (i}
2 295-mile interstate transmission pipeline located in ncrthern Alabama,
Mississippi and southern Tennessee which transports natural gas to industrial
and municipal customers, (ii) a 38-mile and a one mile pipeline in northern
Alabama which primarily serve two large industrial customers and (iii) a natural
gas marketing company which was subsequently merged into MMI. The acquisition
was funded through the Company's existing credit facility.

The MIDLA Acgquisition
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.
NCTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In October 1997, the Company cempleted its merger with Republic, which
owned MLGC, MLGT, and Mi¢ louisiana Marketing Company that was subsequently
merged into MMI. Consideration for the acquisition included $3.2 million in
cash, the assumptien of appreoximately $19.1 million in bank indebtecness, the
issuance of 4€1,247 thares of the Companv's commen stock and the issuance of
warrants to acquire 171,880 shares of commen stock. The assets acquired included
(i) a 405-mile interstate natural gas pipeline which runs from the Monroe gas
field in nerthern Louisiana, southward through Mississippi to Baten Rouge,
Louisiana, (ii) three enc-user natural cas pipelines with a collective length cf

40 miles and (iii) two offshore lateral natural gas gathering pipelines with &
collective length ¢f 6.6 miles. These pipelines serve a number of large
industrial and municipal customers. The acquisition was funded through the

Company's existing Credit Facility.
The Anadarko Acquisition

hering system from El
ay Corporation. The
million. The

it facility.

In September 1688, MGSI purchased the Znacdarko gas qa
Paso Field Services Company, a business unit of El Paso En
ripeline system was purchased for cash consideration of $3
acquisition was financed through the Cempany’s existing cr

Under the agreement, MGSI acquired ownership and operation of the Anadarko
gas gathering system located in Beckham and Roger Mills counties, Oklahoma anc
Hemphill, Roberts and Wheeler counties, Texas. The system was comprised of over
€96 miles of pipeline with an average throughput cf 157 MMcf/day and a total
capacity of 345 MMcf/day. The system gathers natural gas from approximately 25C
wells and includes a 40 MMcf/day natural gas processing facility, 11 compressor
stations and interconnections with eight majocr interstate and intrastate
pipeline systems.

The Company expanded the Anadarko system in December 1998 with the
acguisition of the Mendota svstem from Seacull Energy Corpcration for $3.7%
millicn. The Mendota system, which was interconnected with the Anadarko Systen,
includes two processing facilities and 35 miles of cathering pipeline.

The Calmar Acguisitior

In March 1998, the Company purchased the Calmar system in Alberta, Canade
from Probe. The total value of the transaction was aporoximately $13.2 millior
(U.S.). The assets purchased include a 30 MMcf per day amine sweetening plant,
30 miles of gas gathering pipeline and approximately 4,000 horsepower of
compression located near Edmonten, Alberta. The Calmar system currently cathers
and treats sour natural gas from wells operated by Probe and Courage Energy Inc.
In conjuncticon with the purchase, Probe entered into a2 natural gas gethering ancd
treating agreement with the Company, including the long-term commitment of
Probe's reserves in the Leduc Field, a right of first refusal agreement on new
or existing midstream assets within a defined 390-square mile area of interest,
and an assignment to the Company of an existing third partyv gathering anc
treating acreement. The acquisition was funded through the Company's existing
credit facility.

The Flare and DPI Acquisitions

In March 1999, the Company purchased two related companies, Flare and DPI.
The total value of the transaction was approximately $11.1 million and cculc
include future consideration should certain contirgencies be met. The Flare and
DPI shareholders received cash consideration of approximately $3.2 million, the
Company assumed $5.5 million in debt and the DPI shareholders received 163,71¢
shares of the Company's common stock. Flare is a natural gas processing anc
treating company whose principal assets include 27 mobile natural gas
processing and treating plants from which it earns revenues based on treating
and processing fees and/or a percentage of the NGL's produced. DPI is an NGL,
crude o0il and CO2 transportation and marketing company. DPI cperates 43 NGL and
crude oil trucks and trailers, a fleet of 40 pressurized railcars and in excess
of 400,000 gallons of NGL storage facilities and product treating and handling
equipment. The acquisition was funded through the Company's existing Credit
Facility.

The Tinsley Acquisition

In March 1999, the Company purchased the Tinsley crude oil gathering
pipeline for $5.2 million. The Tinsley system is located in Mississippi and
consists of 60 miles of crude oil gathering pipeline, related truck and
Mississippi River barge loading facilities and 170,000 barrels of crude oil
storage. The system transports approximately 5,000 barrels of crude oil per day
both directly from producing wells and from oil trucked to the pipeline. The
acquisition was funded through the Company's existing credit facility.

The Kansas Pipeline Company Acquisition

In November 199%, the Company acquired KPC and other related entities for
approximately $195.2 million. KPC owns and operates a 1,120 mile regulatec
interstate natural gas pipeline system. The system extends into two major
segments from northwestern and
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northeastern Oklahoma through Wichita and into the Kansas City metropeclitar
area. The system's twc principal customers are divisions of ONEOK, Inc. anc
Southern Union Company, which are the local cistribution companies fcr Wichata
and Kansas City. KPC deraves 97: of its cross margin from a series of long-term
transportation contracts with these two principal customers. KPC is capable of
delivering approximately 140 MMcf pe:x day and 21 MMcf per day of natural gas
inte the Kansas City anc Wichita marketplaces, respectively. KPC is one of only
three pipeline svstems currently capable of deliverang gas into the Kansas Cityv
metrcpclitan market. The acguisition was funded through the Company's existinc
credit facility.

In coricvrcison with the acquisition of KPC, the Company copted to terminate
@ revenve sharing acreement with Manacement Resources Group, LLC by agreeinc tc
pay approx:imately $10.f million on or before January 31, 2000. The full amount
was accrued as of December 31, 1998¢

The Gloria Acguisitior

Ir December 19%9, the Company acquired the Gloria system from Koch
Industries for a total price cf aprroximately $€.1 million. The Gloria system it
comprised cf aprroximately 133 miles of pipeline with a 1,650 hcrsepowe
Compressor statlon, and includes £l miles of gathering pipeline and B2 miles of
transmission pipeline. The system cathers gas from seven producing fields anc
2lso carectly suprlies natural gas to an incustrial custemer and ar LDC in the
area. The pipeline was part of Koch's interstate system and FERC approval for
the system's abandonment from interstate service was received in October of
1925, which, fcllowing the expiration of the required notice period, enabled us
to proceecd to close the Gloria system acquisition. The acquisition was fundec
by a common stock offering in December 18&¢

Pro Formas Information

The following summarized unaudited Pro Forma Consclidatec Income Statement
information for the twelve months ended December 31, 1596 and 199E assumes the
Company's acguisition of DPI/Flare, Calma:z, SeaCrest, SIGCO, KPC anc Gloria had
occurred as of Janvary 1, 1966. The unaudited Prc Forma financial results have
been prepared fcr comparative purposes only and may not be indicative of results
that would have occurred if the Company had acguired these assets on January i,
1996 or results which will be attained in the future. Amounts presernted below
2re in thousands, except for per share amounts:

Pro Forms
Twelve Menths Endec
December 3.

Revenues 5472, 794 $425,842
Operating Income 32,77¢% 39,12¢
Ret Income before Extracrdinary charge 12,868 12,35°
Ret Income 12,263 17,357
Net Income per share before extraordinary charge, diluted 5 1.3 s 2.8
Net Income per share, cilutec s 1 s 1.3

The Company utilized the purchase methoc of accounting to record all of
its acguisitions. At the accuisition date, the respective assets anc
lisbilities acquirecd were recorded at their estimated fair values. Any excess
of the purchase price over fair value was allocated to goodwill. With the
exception of the DPI/Flare acquisitior, no goodwill arose from these
transactions.

In connection with its current year acguisition activity, the Company
acquired certaln assets and liabilities tc include approximately $225.8 million
in property, plant and equipment, $35.4 million in other roncash assets anc
$24.3 million in assumed liabilities. Furthermore, the Company issued
approximately $2.€ million of treasury stock as consideration.

4. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant, and eguipment consisted of the following {irn
thousands}:

December 21,

1995 199¢
Property, Plant, and Equipment:

Transmission. - - . - $251, 422 § 75,5237
eeeraaa . 24,20¢€ 18,862
Gathering and processing. 77,108 53,401
Corporate & other B e .. 1,948 4,258
Construction iR progress... P 12,200 g,500
406,885 160, 55¢
Less accumulated depreciataon........... . 13,91¢ €,30¢
Total property, plant, and eguipment, net.. $392, 96 5154,247
asmmmmm= cersxmnz

Included in construction in progress is an allocation of interest incurred
during the period related to the Baton Rouge expansion. Interest capitalized for
the vears ended December 31, 192% and 1998 totaled $0.2 million and $0.1
million, respectively. No interest was capitalized in 19%7.
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5. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

Reculatory assets, net cf accumulated amort:zation of $6,670 and SSEC
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization ef £30¢

Deferred financing costs, net of accumulatec amortization of 546 and $15¢
Cther

€. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable and accrued liakilities are summarized as follows (in
thousands) :

December 31,

Trade accounts payable
Accrued gas purchases payable
Accrued termination fee
Accrued interest

Accrued other

7. LONG-TERM DEBT:

At December 31, 19S5 and 1998, the Company had outstanding long-term debt
as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

(a: Note payable by Pan Grande to a bank under a term loan H 71 $ 288
bearing interest at the prime rate plus 13 (%.5v and
8.75% at December 31, 1995 and 199§, respectively)
principal and accrued interest are payable in 5S¢
installments of $1€,754 with a final payment of the
remaining unpaid principal and interest due in May 200C.

(b) Revolving credit line with a bank under a $100 millien - 76,000
promissory note bearing interest at 7.5% at December
31, 1998 (see following discussion;.

Revolving credit line with a bank for working capitail - 754
needs under a 5100 million promissory note pearinc
interest at 7.5% at December 31, 199¢

{c} Revolving credit line with a bank under a $265 million 240,000 -
promissory note bearing interest at 8.17% at December
31, 1999 (see following discussion;.
Total debt 240,072 79,012
Less current portiorn {71) {930

Total long-term debt $240, 000
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(g) In March 19%€, Fan Grznae, & joint venture owned 70% by the Company,
obtazined $800,000 from a bank to partially finance the acquisition of six
pipelines. The loan is secured by the pipelines and related ccntracts.
Furthermcore, members cf Pan Grande have guaranteed the loan in an amount eqguea:
to their respective ownership interest.

(b} In August 1998, the Company amended and restated its bank financing
2greement (the "Credit Ac¢reement”) with Bank One. The Credit Agreement
increased the Cecmpany's becrrowing availebility, modified the Letter of Credit
facility, extendec the maturity two vears to Rugust 2002, medified financisal
covenants, esteblished waiver and amendment approvals and changed the fee
structure to include & decrease on the interest rate on borrowings.

The Credit Zcreement increzsed the Company's borrowing availability fron
$60 million to $150 millicn (with an initiel committed amcunt of S1i00 million;.

Under the Credit Agresment, the credit facility was provided by Bank One,
BC Oppenheimer, Texas N.iZ. and Bank of Zmerica, collectively the "Lenders."
e Ccmpany was subject te an initial facility fee of $495,000 which representec
1 fees due on borrowings up to $100 million. As funds in excess of S10C
millicn are borrowed, & .15% fee will be imposed. The Company's commitment fee
remained at .375%. Additicnally, the Companv was subject to an annueal
administrative agency fee of $3%,000.

w30

I
h
1

In March 1982, the Company further amendec the credit agreement to increase
the committed amount of borrowing availabi ity from $100 million to $12°¢
millior.

(c) In November 1689 anc again in March 2000, the Company amended anc
restated the Credit Agreement. The amencmen: tc the Credit Agreement addec
additional banks to the syndicate, increzsed our porrowing availability,
modified our letter of credit facility, extended the maturity five vears
November 2004, mocified financial covenants, established wziver and amencment
approvals and changed the method to determine the interest rate to be charcgec.
The unamortized portion of previously capitelized financing costs were writter
off and recorded as an extraordinary loss totaling $582,000, net cf taxes of
$£300,000, in the fourth guarter of 199¢.

tc

The amendment to the Credit Agreement increased the Company's borrowing
availability from $125 million to $325 million, with & provision tc increase ur
to $400 million. The amendec Credit Agreement provides borrowing availability zs
follows: (i) up to 2 $25 million sublimit for the issuance of standby and
commercial letters cof crecit and (ii) the difference between the $335 millior
and the used sublimit available as & revolving credit facilizy. At the opticn cf
the Company, borrowings under the amended Credit Agreement accrue interest at
LIBOR plus an applicable margin or the higher of the Bank of America orime rate
or the Federal Funds rate plus an applicable margirn.

The applicable margin percentage to be added to the interest rate is basec
on the Company's debt to total capitalization ratio at the end of each fiscal
Guarter. The Company is charged a margin between 1.0% and 2.0% as the Company's
total debt to total capitalization ratio ranges from under 40% and over 65%,
respectively. The Company's borrowings are currently being charged at the
margin cf 1.75%. In addition, the Company was subject to an arrangement fee,
agency fee, underwriting fee, unused fee ancd commitment fee totaling $1.:Z
million. Additionally, the Company is subject to an annual administrative agency
fee of $£35,00C.

The credit zgreement is collateralized by all accounts receivable,
contracts, and the pledge of all of our subsidiaries' stock and a first lier
security interest in our pipeline systems. It also contains a number of
customary covenants that require the Company to maintain certain financial
ratios and limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness, transfer or sell
assets, create liens, or enter into & merger or consclidation.

The Company will be required to comply with more stringent debt to
capitalization and EBITDA to interest ratios by June 30, 2000. At March 2¢,
2000, the Company had epproximately $94 million of available capacity under its
credit agreement.

In an effort to mitigate interest rate fluctuations exposure, the Company
has enterec into interest razte swaps, under two separate swap agreements, with &
combined notional amount cf $65 million (See Note 1i - Financial Instruments anc
Price Risk Management Activities).
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The agcregate maturities of lcng-term debt zt December 31, 1999 are as follows
(in thousands):

€. CAPITAL STOCK:

Commor: and Preferrecd Stock

In July 1997, zpproximately 3.2 million shzres of the Cempany's commor.
stock were issued in & public cffering registered under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, st an offering price of $11.64. Froceeds of $34.6 millien,
net of issuvence costs, were used to repay becrrowinas on indebtecness incurred cor

the MIT Acguisitior.

In May 1998, the Bcard and the Company's shareholders approved a resolution
to emend the Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized
sheres of common stock, par value $.01 per share from 10 millicn to 25 milliern
shares and toc autherize 5 million shares of preferred stock.

In connecticn with the five-for-four stock split discussed below, the
Company increased the azuthcrized shares of common stock to 3i.25 million shares.

In May 1299, the Company sold 3.57 million shares of its common stock zt
cfiering price of $16.31 per share. Proceecs cf $%4.5 million, net of issuanc
costs, were used to pay cown existing long-term debt.

Ir December 1999, the Company sold Z million.shares of its common stock at
an offering price c¢f $16.06 per share. Proceeds of $30.2 million, net of
issuance costs, were used to repzy existing long-term debt, complete the Gloriz
system acguisiticn and provide working capital for general corporate purposecs.

The Company has five million shares of preferred stock authorized, none of
which are cutstanding as of December 31, 199¢ The preferred stock may be
issued in multiple series with various terms, as authorized by the Board. The
Cempany has 12,721,980 shares of common stock issued and 12,560,824 shares of
common stock outstanding &s of December 31, 199¢.

Treasury Stock

From time to time, the Board has authorized the repurchase of the
Company's outstanding shares of common stock to be used for specific corporate
purposes. During 1999 and 1998, the Company repurchased 143,750 and 181,12¢
common shares, respectively, at a weichted-average price of $17.71 and $15.4:
per share. As of December 31, 1999, and 1998, the Company held 161,156 ancd
181,125 shares of treesury stock, respectively. In March and June 1999, the
Company issuved 140,574 and 23,145 shares of treasury stock, respectively, irn
connection with the DPI/Flare acquisition.

Stock Dividends and Stock Splits

On February 3, 1998, the Board declared a ten percent stock dividend to be
paid to shareholders of record at the close c¢f business on February 13, 199¢
("Stock Dividend Record Date") on March 2, 199§. Shareholders of recorg
receivecd one additional share for each ten shazres held. No fractional shares
were issued and sharehclders entitled to 2 fractional share received a cash
payment equal to the market value of the fractional share at the close cof the
market on the Stock Dividend Record Date.

On February 1, 1999, the Board declared a five-for-four stock split to be
paid to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 11, 199¢
("Stock Split Record Date") on March 1, 1999. Nc fractional shares were issuec
and shareholders entitled tc a2 fractional share received a cash payment equal tc
the market value of the fractionzl share at the clcse of the market on the Stock
Split Record Date.
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ccnnect:ion with the Company's August 1996 common stock offering, the
issved werrants in Fekruary 1996 to purchase 47,231 shares of the
s common stock &t $Z.71 per share. Rl of these warrants were exercisec

Alsc in connection with the Company's August 1996 common stock offering,
the underwriters received warrants to acquire 137,500 shares at 142% of the
initial cffering price per share. The securities underlying these warrants are
subject to picgyvback registration righis and expire Aucust 13, 2001. As of
December 31, 1999, none of these warrants hacd been exercisec.

In connection with the MIDLA Acquisition, the Company issued warrants tc
acquire 171,880 shares of Common Stock at $15.£2 per share. The securitiecs
underlyinc these warrants are subject to cemand and plggvback registratior
rights enc expire in October 200C. &s of December 31, 1%9%, none of these
warrants had been exercisec.

$. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS:

In December 1%9€, the Company established & cefined contribution 401 (k:
Profit Sharing Plan fer its employees. The plan provides participants &
mechanism for msking contributions for retirement savings. Each participant may
contribute certain amounts of eligible compensation. The Company made a matching
contribut:ion to the plan, which was recognized as compensation expense in the
vear incurred, of approximately $30%,000, $83,000 and $81,000 for the vears
ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

In Cctober 199€, the Board approvecd an Employee Stock Purchase Plar
("ESPP"), which was subsequently approved by the Company's shareholders in Mav
198%. The purpose of the ESPF, as amended, 1s to permit Company employees tc
purchase the Company's common stock on 3 monthly basis at a 15% discount from
the market price in order to attract anc retain dedicated and reliable
employees. The maximum number of shares of the Company's common stock which
shall be reserved for sale under the ESFP, not including treasury shares or
shares purchased in the open market, shall be 103,000 shares. Through December
31, 1899, all shares purchasecd under the plan have been acquired on the oper
market. The Company recognized 322,000 and $3,000 of compensation expense durinc
the vears ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 related to the ESPF.

10. STOCK OPTION PLANS:

The Company has two stock option plans: the 1996 Incentive Stock Plan (the
"Incentive Plan") and the 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the
"Director's Plan";.

In May 1996, the Board adopted the Incentive Plan, which was subsequently
approved by the Company's shareholders in May 1897. All employees, including
officers (whether or not directors) and consultants of the Company and its
subsidiaries are currently eligible to participate in the Incentive Plan.
Fersons who are not in an employment or consulting relationship with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, including non-employee directors, are not eligible
to participate in the Incentive Plan. Under the Incentive Plan, 531,250 shares
of the Company's common stock are reserved for issuance. In February 2000, the
Compensation Committee approved an amendment to the Incentive Plan which
increasec the shares reserved for issuance from 531,250 to 1,000,000, subject tc
shareholder approval at the Company's 2000 annual shareholders meeting.

The Incentive Plan provides for the grant of (i} incentive stock options,
(1i) shares of restricted stock, (iii) performance awards payable in cash or
common stock, (iv) shares of phantom stock, and (v) stock bonuses. In additior,
the Incentive Plan provides for the c¢rant of cash bonuses payable when a
participant is required to recognize income for federal income tax purposes in
connection with the vesting of shares of restricted stock or the issuvance of
shares of common stock upon the grant of a performance award or a stock bonus,
provided that such cash bonus may not exceed the fair market value (as defined;
of the shares of Common Stock received on the grant cr exercise, as the case mav
be, of an Incentive Awardg. )

With respect to incentive stock options, no option may be granted more thar
ten years after the effective date of the stock option plan or exercised more
than ten years after the date of the grant (five years if the optionee owns more
than 10% of the common stock of the Company at the date of the grant).
Additionally, with regard to incentive stock options, the exercise price of the
options may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock at the
date of the grant (110% if the optionee owns more than 10% of the common stock
of the Company). Subject to certain limited exceptions, options mayv not be
exercised unless, at the time of the exercilse, the optionee is in the service of
the Company. In cenerazl, options granted under the incentive plan vest at a rate
of one-fifth each year.
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Transactions with recard to incentive stock options issued pursuant to the

Incentive Plan are as follows:

Stock Opticens

Numb. Number of Weighted Number of Weightec
Sharex Shares Average Shares Average
Underlying Uncerlying Exercise Underlying Exercise
Cptions Iice Options Price Cptaons Price

441,814 295,627 S B.E: - s
64,27¢ 148,128 l16.6¢€ 29%, €27 £.
(2,500 (EEE) 7.64 -
(35,000 {1,250 - -
Outstanding at end of year........ 464, 68¢ 441,814 295,627 Sg.€5
szexz=s AR — = =x rexas
Exercisable at end ¢
YEAL . . e 5 &.¢0 B€, 382 $ &.24 - SE.ET
rxzems =zeamaz =sezax mexza=s ccass

The fcllowing table summarizes information about incentive stock options
outstanding as of December 31, 159¢:

Options Outstandanc Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Numbe: Remaining Years of Weighted Average Numper Weighted Average
Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

< T.64 140, 93¢ 56,37¢
€.4¢C 78,375 31,350

10.5¢C 72,87% 41,5938
15.40 14,375 2,878
1€.5¢ 56,378 -
16.60 3,128 628
16.80 85, €25 15,125
152,28¢

In April 1997, the Boarc adopted the Director's Plan, which was
subsequently approved by the Company's sharehclders in May 1997. The Director's
Plan is for the benefit of Directors of the Company, who at the time of their
service, zre not emplovees cf the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Under the
Director's Plan, 150,000 shares of the Company's common stock are reserved for
issuance.

The Director's Plan provides for the ¢ranting of non-qualified stock
options {"NQO"), the provisions of which do not gualify as "incentive stock
options™ under the Internzl Revenue Code. Options granted under the Director's
Plan must have an exercise price at least equal to the fair market value of the
Company's common stock on the date of the grant. Pursuant to the Director's
Plan, options to purchase 15,000 shares of common stock are ¢granted to each non-
employee director upon their election to the Board. In addition, all non-
employee Directors are eligible to receive a NQO to purchase 5,000 shares of
common stock at the time of the Directors re-election to the Board, subject tc
share aveileability. Options granted under the Director's Flan are fully vestec
upon issue and expire ten years after the date of the grant. As of December 3i,
1898, 50,000 non-gualified stock options have been issued at option prices
ranging from $11.00 to $18.40 per share and all of these options were
exercisable as of that date at a weichted average price of $14.34 per share.

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimatecd on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions:

ASSUMPTION: 19%% 199€ 1997

Expected Term in Years................ . €.3% €.60 €.57
Expected Velatility. . . 33.04- 36,20 36.2¢
Expected Dividends.. 0.4+ 0.4- 0.4-
Risk-Free Interest Rate $.85- 5.55- 6.3~
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The Black-Scholes weighted average fair value of all options granted under
both plans during 1999, 1858 and 1997 was $7.10, $7.54 and $4.08, respectively.

The Company applies APB Opinion No, 25, Accounting for Stock Issued tc
Emplovees, and related Interpretations in accounting for its plans.
Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for its stock option
plans. Had compensation expense for the Company's stock-based compensation
plans been determined applying the provisions of SFAS No. 1232, The Company's net
income and net income per ccmmon share for 189%, 1998 and 1997 would epproximate
the pro forma eamounts below (in thousands, except per share data) :

December 31, 1887

Fro Forme

Net income.... ... ... .....iaieiaan...
Basic earnings per share......
Diluted earnings per share

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES:
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As of December 31, 1299 and 1998, the carrying amounts of certain
financial instruments held by the Company, including cash, cash eguivalents,
trade receivables and pavables and short-term borrowings are representative of
fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. The fair
value of long-term debt with varieble interest rates approximates the carrying
value becazuse of the variable nature of the debt's interest rate. The fair
value of all derivative financial instruments is the estimated amount at which
menagement believes the instruments could be liquidated over a reasonable period
of time, based on quoted market prices, current market conditions or other
estimates obtained from third-party brokers or dealers.

PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage market
risks associated with certain energy commodities and interest rates. According
to quidelines provided by the Board, the Company enters into exchange-traded
commodity futures, options and swap contracts to reduce the exposure to market
fluctuations in price and transportation costs of energy commodities and
fluctuations in interest rates. The Company does not engage in speculative
trading. Approvals are required from senior management prior to the execution
of any derivative transactions.

Commodity Price Risk:

The Company's commodity price risk exposure arises from inventory balances
and fixed price purchase and sale commitments. The Company uses exchange-traded
commodity futures contracts, options and swap contracts to manage and hedge
price risk related to these market exposures. These futures and cptions
contracts have pricing terms indexed to the NYMEX.

Gas futures involve the buying and selling of natural gas at a fixed price.
Over-the-counter swap agreements require the Company to receive or make payments
based on the difference between a2 specified price and the actual price of
natural gas. The Company uses futures and swaps to manage margins on offsetting
fixed-price purchase or sales commitments for physical quantities of natural
gas. Options held provide the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell
energy commodities at a fixed price. The Company utilizes options to manage
margins and to limit overall price risk exposure.
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The gains, lcsses and relzted costs of the financial instruments that
guelify as 2 hedce are not recocnized until the underlying physical transacticrn
occurs. At Decerver 31, 199% and 1998, the Company had unrealized losses from
such hedeging centracts of $1,139,000 and $B9€,000, respectivelv. The marke:
value, notional emount and notional contract guantity of open commodity futures,
ortions and swaps contracts used for hedging purposes were as follows (ir
theusands) :

(o)
-
O
"
0

Market Value - Unreaslize

Swap contracts $(1,027: £ (B85
Futures centracts (112 (178
Cptions contracts - (23
Notional Contract Amount:

Swap centracts $1C, €3¢ $11,72¢
Futures contracts 2,29: €82
Options contracts - 2z
Notional Contract Quantity (MMEtu):

Swap contracts 5,042 5,60¢
Futures contracts a3c z7¢
Options contracts - 120

Interest Rate Risk:

The Company's Credit Facility provides an cption for the Company t¢ borrow
funds at e variable interest rate of LIBOR plus an applicable margin basec on
the Cempany's debt to total capitalization ratic. In an effort to mitigate
interest rate fluctuatioen exposure, the Company entered into interest rate swaps
under iwo separate swap agreements with a combined noticnal amount ¢f S$6&
million dellars. The interest rate swap acreements entered into by the Company
effectively convert $S€5 million of floating-rate debt to fixed-rate debt.

The first interest rate swap agreement was entered into with Bank One in
December 1297. The swap agreement effectively established a fixed three-month
LIBOR interest rate setting of 6.02% for a two-vear periocd on & notional amount
cf $25 million. This swap zQreement was subsequently transferred to Bank of
Fmerica in November 199€ and replaced with z new swap agreement. The new swap
acreement provides a fixed 5.09% three-month LIBOR interest rate to the Company
with 2 new twe year termination date of December 2000 which may, however, be
extended through December 2003 at Bank of America's option on the last day of
the initial term. The variable three-month LIBCR rate is reset guarterly basec
cn the prevailing market rate and the Company is obligated to reimburse Bank of
Fmerica when the three-month LIBOR rate is reset below 5.00%. Conversely, Bank
cf Americe is obligated tc reimburse the Company when the three-month LIBOR rate
1s reset above 5.09%. At December 31, 1989 and 1998, the fair value of this
interest rate swap through the initial termination date was a net asset of
approximately $303,000 and 2 net liability of approximately $20,000,
respectively.

The second interest rate swap agreement was entered into with CIBC in
Octeber 1958. The swap acreement effectively established a fixed three-month
LIBOK interest rate setting of 4.475% for a three-vear period on a notional
amcunt of $40 million. The acreement, however, may be extended an additional twc
vears through November 2003 at CIBC's option on the last dav of the initial
term. The variable three-menth LIBOR rate is reset guarterly based on the
prevailing market rate znd the Company is cbligated to reimburse CIBC when the
three-month LIBOR rate is reset below 4.475%. Conversely, CIBC is obligated to
reimburse the Company when the three-month LIBOR rate is reset above 4.475%. At
December 31, 1999 and 1898, the fair value of this interest rate swap through
the initial termination date was a net asset of approximately $1,279,000 and
$481,000, respectively.

The effect of these swap agreements was to lower interest expense by
$377,000 and $37,000 in 1999 and 199¢, respectively, and increase interest
expense by $2,000 in 1897.

12. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK:

The Company derives revenue from commercial companies located in the Unitecd
States and Canada. Four of the Company's largest customers account for 11% or
approximately $6.0 million cf the outstanding accounts receivable at December
31, 1999. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of its customers anc
generally does nct require collateral. The Company assesses its credit risk anc
provides an allowance for coubtful accounts for any acceounts that it deems
doubrful of collection. At December 31, 199% and 1998, $1,484,000 and $92,000,
respectively, was reserved as a provision for doubtful accounts.
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The change in market vzlue cf futvres and option contracts requires daily
cash settlement in mErcin accounts with brokers. At December 31, 199% and 199¢,
the Company had $893,000 and $181,000, respectively, in margin cash accounts tc¢
service these derivetive financial instruments. Swap contracts and most other
over-the-ccunter instruments are ogenerally settled at the expiration of the
centrect term. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event cf
nenperfcermance by & counterparty. Fer each counterparty, the Company analyzes
its finencial conditicn prier to entering into the agreement, establishes credit
limits ancd monitors the zppropriateness of these limits on an onceing basis.

15. INCOME TAXES:

The Company has NOL carryforwards cf approximately $10.3 million, expirinc
in various amounts from 2003 through 201€. These loss carryforwards were
generatecd by the ccmpanies acquired by Miccoast. The abi ity of the Company tc
vtilize the carryfcrwards is depencent upor the Company generating sufficient
tazxable income &nd will be zffected by annuzl limitaticns (currently estimatec
at $5.Z million) on the use of such carryforwards cdue to a change in shareholder
control under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code triggered by the
Company's July 19%7 Commen Stock cfferinc and the change cf ownership created by
the MIDLA zcguisitien ané DPI/Flare acquisitiorn.

The tax effects of sicnificant temporary cifferences representing deferred
tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 19%% and 1998, are as follows (in
thousands) :

December 31,

NOL cerryfcrwarcgs $ 3,510
Alternative minimum tax credit 2,104
Valuaticn allowance (2,464;
Financial net book value of assets

in excess of tax net book value of assets (14,184}

Net ceferred tax lizbilitijes $(11,034;

The valuetion allowance declined $2.1 million during the year endec
December 31, 1855. The decline was the net result of current year utilizatiorn
cf net operating lcsses to offset taxable income and the removal of $581,000 of
valuation allowance related to net operating losses that are more likely than
not to be uvtilized in the future.

A recenciliation of the provision for income taxes to the statutory United
States tax rate is as follows (in thousands):

For The Year Ended December 31,

19¢0¢& i9%¢ 1987

Federal tax computed at statutory rate $ 4,832 $ 1,96C
Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards {1,5E9) (1,810}
Reduction in valuation allowance (SEY: -
Foreign jurisdiction tax rate difference (14€; - -
Other 82 - -
Actual provision s 2,1¢¢ $ 1,30¢ $ 15¢

United States income taxes have not been provided on the cumulative
undistributed ezrnings, which totaled approximately $589,000 at December 31,
1999, of the Company's Canacian subsidiaries since it is the Company's intention
to reinvest such earnings indefinitely.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:
Employment Contracts

Certain executive officers of the Company have entered into employment
contracts which, through asmendments, provide for emplovment terms of varying
lengths, the longest of which expires in December 2002. These agreements may be
terminated by mutual consent or a2t the option of the Compeany fcr cause, death or
disability. In the event terminaticn is due to death, disability or defined
changes
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in the ownerchip of the Compeny, the full amcunt ¢f compensation remaining to be
paid during the term cf the z¢reement will be paid to the emplovee or their
estéte, zfter discounting at 12% to reflect the current value of unpaid amounts.

Lezses

The Company incurred net lease expenses of $1.0 millien, $0.2 million anc
$0.1 million during the years ended 199%, 1%$38 and 1997. As of December 31,
1688, future minimum lease payments due under these leases are appreximately
$1.1 million, $0.5 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million fcr the years endec
ecember 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

MIT Acguisition Centingency

As part cof the MIT acguisition, the Company has agreed to pay additional
coentingent annual pavments to Atrion, not to exceed $250,000 per vear, which
will pe treated as deferred purchase price adjustments. The amount each year is
cependent upon revenues received by the Company from certain gas transportatiorn
centracts. The contingency is due over an eight-year period commencing April 2,
1996 and payable at the end of each anniversary date. The Company is obligated
to pay the lesser of 50% of the gross revenues received under these contracts or
$250,000. As of December 21, 19%S%, the Company has made one payment of $280,00¢(
and has accrued an acdditionzl $187,500 under the contingency.

MIDLA Acquisition Contingency

As part of the MIDLE acguisition, the Company agreed that if a specific
contract with & third party was executed prior to October 2, 1996, which
included specific provisions regarding price and thrcughputs, the Company woulc
be obligated to issue 137,500 warrants to Republic to acquire common stock &t an
exercise price of $15.8Z per share. 1In additicn, concurrent with initial
expenditures on the preject, the Company would incur a $1.2 million cash
obligation tc Republic. At December 31, 1599, none of the provisions of this
contingency were met and the obligation expirec.

DPI Acquisition Contingency

As part of the DPI acguisition, the Company agreed that in the event that
the Company approves longc-term DPI or Flare projects and these projects are
placed under contract and in service, the Company would be obligated to pay the
DPI sharehclders an additional consideration of up to $2.5 million. This
contingency expires on March 11, 200z.

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE:
meunts calculated in accordance with

2
esented below for the years endecd
e amounts) :

Basic and diluted earnings per share
SFAS Ne. 12€, "Earnings Per Share," are pr
December 31 (in thousands, except per shar

ol

16. SEGMENT DATA:

The Company conducts its business of transporting, gathering, processinc
and marketing of natural gas anc other petrcleum products through three
reportable segments. The Company's operaticns are segregated into reportable
segments based on the type of business activity and type of customer served. The
Company's transmission pipelines primarily receive and deliver natural gas tc
and from other pipelines, and secondarily, provide end-user or gathering
functions. Transportation fees are received by the Company for transporting gas
owned by other parties through the Company's pipeline systems. The Company's
end-user pipelines provide natural gas and natural gas transportation services
to industrial customers, municipalities or electrical generating facilities
through interconnect gas pipelines ccnstructed or acquired by the Company. These
pipelines provide a direct supply of natural gas to new industrial facilities or
to existing facilities as an alternative to the local distribution company. The
Company's gathering systems typically consist of a network of pipelines
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which ceollect natural gas or crude oil from points near producing wells, process
the natural gas, and transport oil and natural gas to larger pipelines for
further transmission. The Company's natural gas processing revenues are realizecd
from the extraction and sale of NGL's as well as the sale of the residual
natural gas. Rll of the Company's segments have significant revenues from gas
marketing activities.

The Company evaluates performance based on profit or loss from operations
before income taxes and other income and expense items incidental to core
operations. Operating income for each seament includes total revenues less
operating expenses (including depreciation) and excludes corporate
administrative expenses, interest expense, interest income and income taxes.
For the year ended December 31, 19%%, no customer represented in excess of 10%
of the total revenue of the Company. For the vears ended December 31, 1998 anc
1997, the Company derived 12% of total revenue from a transmission segment
customer. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounting policies (see Note 2).

AS OF OR FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 199¢

TRANSMISSION END-USER GATHERING AND
PIPELINES PIPELINES PROCESSING OTHEK TOTAL

(IN THOUSANDS:

Revenues

DOMESTL1C. ottt it eeeeennnnnnn. $124,7¢8¢ $125,442 $136,£0% $ 2,394 $38¢,42¢

| 3o3 =5 o o, - - 2,142 - 2,142
Total Revenues........c.uviuunnn... 124,78¢ 125,441 138,947 2,394 391,571
Gross Mergin.......... ... 18,08¢ 7,854 10,70¢€ 1,81¢ 39,564
Depreciation and Amortization..... (2,417 {g29) {3,621 {608} (7,545
General & Administrative.......... - - - (€,431) (8,432
Interest EXpense.................. - - - (6,533} (€,53Z;
Other, met...........oiiiunuann.. - - - (2,8€5; (2,865
Income before income taxes and

extraordinary charge........... $ 16,671 $ 6,95% $ 7,08s $(16,521) $ 14,190
Assets

DOMeSEIC. o ittt iiii i i eeanaaan.. $336,8¢5¢ $ 28, 84¢ S 8g,€7¢ $ 9,821 $4€5,004

Foreignm..........iuiiviiaaia.. - - 13, 36¢ - 13,36¢
Total Assets...........ccuivnnon.. $33€,55% $ 28,54¢ $102,047 $ 9,821 $478,372
Capital Expenditures............. 2,52¢ 5,85¢ 4,57¢ 3,601 16,562

TRANSMISSION END-USER GARTHERING AND
PIPELINES PIPELINES PROCESSING THER TOTAL

{IN THOUSANDS}
Total Revenues {all from domestic

SOULCeS) ...ttt iiiiianeneonann, $118, 311 $96,720 $15, 600 $ 438 $234,069
Gross Mar@in............ccuiunn... 13,03¢% 5,233 4,357 43¢ 23,067
Depreciation and Amortization..... (1,554 (532) 1841) (270} (3,197}
General & Administrative.......... ~ - - (6,317} (6,317}
Interest EXpense.................. - - - (3,247) (2,247)
Other, met.......cuiminnvicnnnannn. - - - lie¢ 116

Income before income taxes and
extraordinary charge............ $ 11,485 $ 4,701 $ 3,51¢€ $(9,280) S 10,422

Total Assets (all from domestic
SOUICES) sntvenunnerennn. $121,498 $ 8,055 $53,246 $ 8,543 $191, 342
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AS OF OR FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, j}&¢-

END-USER GATHERING AND
PIPELINES PROCESSING CTHE® TCTAL

(IN THOUSANDS)

Total Revenues

(all from domestic scurces)...... S 64,787 S3€, 34¢ $11,24¢ 13 3¢l £112,744
Gross Margin............. E,B€D 3,46¢ 2,717 €2 12,40¢
Depreciation and Amertizat: . (553 421 (341 277 (1,582
General § Aaministrative... . - - - (3,52¢ (3,526
Interest Expense............... - - - (1,067, (1,0€7
Other, net..................... ~ - - (31¢: (310
Income before income taxes anc
extraorcdinary charge......... s &,30¢ § 3,047 $ I,27¢ Si4,81¢; § 5,814

sscesces mcamces mxxzmms PR zcrraxos
Total Assets (all from domestic
SOUICES) . i i 482 5 7,244 512g,03¢
PE. [ra— rr=smn==
Capital Expenditures........... 413 1,42¢
17. SUPPLEMENTAL SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) :

Quarters Endec

March 31 June 30

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

19¢¢
Operating Ievenues...................vuuuunnnon. . .. 582,064 583,457 5$101,844 $124,20¢
Operating iNCOME. ... iuuiuuinuinn . 5,473 45,56¢€ 3,88: 6,97z
Net income before extraordimary item .............. 3,25¢ 2,57¢ 2,75¢ 3,432
Net IMCOME. vttt me e ittt iie e 3,25% 2,57¢ 2,75¢ z,85¢C
Basic earnings per share before extraordinary iten. 0.47 0.3 0.2¢ 0.33
Diluted earnings per share befcre extraordinary
item.......LiiiiiaialL. 0.4¢€ 0.2¢ 0.32
Basic earnings per share... 0.47 0.2¢ 0.2¢
Diluted earnings per share 0.4¢ 0.26 0.2¢€
199¢
Operating revenues........................ ... .. ... $67,33¢ 545,54¢ $ 50,301 5 66,B84
Operating income..... 4,13¢ 2,582 2,58¢ 4,27¢
Net income.............. 2,7€1 1,72¢ 1,580 53,043
Basic earnings per share.. 0.3¢ 0.24 0.22 0.44
Diluted earnings per share......................... 0.3¢ 0.2z c.2:z X

18. UNUSUAL CHARGE

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, the Company recorded a pre-tax
unusual charge totaling $2.7 million ($2.2 million after tax) related to
streamlining efforts announced in November 19096, The charge primarily relates to
the severance and benefits of approximately 50 employees who were involuntary
terminated. The Company anticipates savings from reduced employee cost and more
streamlined operating and business processes. At December 31, 1999, an accrued
liebility of $1.8 million related to the severance charge was included in
"Accounts payable and accrued lizbilities" on the consolidated balance sheet.
Thirty-three of these employees were still employed with the Company at December
31, 1999. The final severance charge will be paid in April 2002.

1¢. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED) :

In January 200C, the Company entered into a definitive purchase and sale
agreement to acquire MBPL from Triumph Energy Corporation for cash
consideration of approximately $5.7 million (U.S.), plus certain future
contingent payments based on the actual throughput volumes. MBPL consists of 90
miles of crude oil pipeline that originates at the Manyberries 0il Field and
terminates at an interconnection with the Milk River Pipeline system in
southeast Alberta, Canada. Truck terminals, including the Legend terminal, and a
significant amount of crude oil storage also contribute to the operations. The
system has a2 design capacity of approximately 21,000 BBLs/day and transports
light sour crude o0il from the Manyberries oil field, as well as additional crude
0il volumes from the Legend truck terminal. The pipeline system is the only
light gravity system in southern Alberta and current volumes are
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approximately 6,500 Bbls/day. Closing is anticipated in the second guarter of
2000, subject to receipt of the approvals, consents or other authorizations
required by the Investment Canada Act.

In March 2000, the Company acquired the Provost natural gas plant and
gathering system from NovaGas Canada LP, & division of TransCanada, for
apprcximately $4.9 million (U.S.). The Provost acguisition includes 80 miles of
naturzl gas gathering pipeline and a 15 MMcf/day sour gas processing plant and
sour gas injection well. The svstem is located in east-central Alberta, Canads
and is the only sour gas gathering and processing system in the area. The system
is connected to 21 oil tank batteries and primarily gathers the associated sour
gas production from approximately 900 wells in the Provost arez. The acguisition
was funded through the Company's existing credit facility.

In March 2000, the Company amended the existing credit agreement to increase
the committed amount of berrowing availlability from $265 million to S$33¢
million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.:

Our zudit of the consolidated financial statements of Midcoast Energy Resources,
Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 1999 and for the year then ended
also included an audit of the financial statemen:t schedule for the year ended
December 31, 1999, listed in Item 14(a)(2) of this Form 10-X. In our opinion,
this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in 2ll meterial respects, the
information set forth therein for the vear ended December 31, 1999, when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Houston, Texas
March 10, 2000



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON SCHEDULE

Stockholders and Board of Directors
Midceoast Energy Resources, Inc.
Houston, Texas

We have audited the consolidated financial statements Midcoast Energy Resources,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998, and for each of the years 1in the
two-year period ended December 31, 1998. Our audits for such years alsc
included the financizl statement schedule cf Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and
subsidiaries, listed in Item 14-2, for each of the vears in the two-yvear period
ended December 31, 199¢. This financizl statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements tzken as a whole, presents fairly in
all material respects the information set forth herein.

HEIN + ASSOCIATES LLF
Houston, Texas
March 18, 199%9¢
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SCHEDULE I1

MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999, 1998, AND 1997
(IN THOUSANDS;

Column » Cclunn E Celumn C Celumn T Ceclumn E
Balance at Charged tc Ealance at
Becinning of Costs anc Charged tc End cf
Descriptiorn Pericc Zxpenses Other Accounts Deductions Perioc
i9¢c
Allowance for coubtful accounrts.............. $ sz s 1z 1,380 (k. < - $1,484
Valuation allowance cn deferred tax assets.... §4,554 $  (5F1) (c $ 480 (¢ $(1,98%8) (£ £2,464
19¢%¢
Rllowance for doubtful accounts............... $ 494 £ - S (309) (2 £ {83) (k) & sz
Veluation allowance on deferred tax assets.... $4,5€2 ${1,089) (¢ $2,207 (d) (e} $(1,145)(f} $4,555
19¢%
Allowance for doubtful account................ s - £ - S 4945 (a; 3 - s 49¢
Valuaticn allowance on deferred tax assets.... $3,7¢7 < - 52,664 (¢ $(2,810) (£} $4,582

(a) Due to MIDLA Acguisition.

({b) Represents uncollectible accounts written off.

(c) Removal of valuation allowance on deferred tax assets that are more likely
than not to be utilized in the future.

(d) Adjustment of federal net operating loss carryforwards and related
valuation zllowance to reconcile to federal income tax return.

(e} Valuation allowance on federal net operating loss carryforwards acquired in
connection with the MIDLA Acquisitiorn.

f) Represents utilization of federal net operating loss carryforwards.

(g) Valuation allowance on federal net operating loss carryforwards and

alternative minimum tax credits acguired in connection with the DPI

Acguisition.

(h} Due to KPC acqguisition.
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ITEM €. CHRNGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING ANT
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

On October 11, 1999, PricewaterhouseCocpers LLP was engaged as indepencent
accountant to &ucdit the financial statements of the Company for the year endec
December 31, 199¢. 1In connecticn therewith, on October 11, 1999, the Company
and Heln § Associates LLP, the Company's prior principal independent accountant,
mutually acreed that Hein + ZAsscciates LLP would be replaced by
PricewaterhouseCocpers LLP &s the Company's principal incependent accountans:.
The decision to replace Hein + Associates LLF and engage PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP was aprrcoved by the Board of Directors of the Company .

The accounting firm of Hein + Associates LLP served as the independent

¢countent for the Company from March 17, 1994 until dismissed by the Company on
October 11, 19%%. Midcoast and Hein have not, in connection with the audit c¢f
Midcoast's finzncial statements for each ¢f the prior two years ended December
31, 1996 and December 31, 1997 or for any subsequent interim pericd pricr to and
including October 11, 1999, had ary disagreement on any matter of accounting
principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, cr auditing scope cr
procedure, which cisagreement, if not resclved to Hein's satisfacticn, weulc
have caused Hein tc make reference te the subject matter of the disagreement in
connection with its reports.

The repcrts ¢f Hein on the Midcoast financial statements fer the past twe
fiscal vears did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion anc
were not gualified cor modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting

rinciples. Midcoast had no relationship with PricewaterhouseCcopers LLF
reguirecd 1o be repcrted pursuant to Regulation $-K item 304 (a) (2) during the
two fiscal periods ended December 31, 199f anc December 31, 19%7 or for anv
subsecuent interim period pricr to and including October 11, 199¢.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
ITEM 1Z. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

ITEM 13. CERTRIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRZNSACTIONS.

Pursuant to instruction G (3) to Form 10-K, Items 10, 11, 12 and 13 are
omitted pDecause the Company will file with the SEC a defiritive proxy statement
{the "Proxy Statement”) pursuant to regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange
Act ¢f 1934 not later than 120 davs after the close of the fiscal year. The
informztion recuired by such Items will be included in the Proxy Statement to be
filed in connection with the Company's annuzl meeting of shareholders schedulec
for May 16, 1999 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FROM 8-K.
The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1. Financial Statements
The fcllowing consolidated financial statements cf Midcoast Energ:

Resources, Inc. and subsidiaries are included in Part 11, Item § of
this Form 10-K.

Page
Reports of Independent Accountants............. 2%
Consolidated Balance Sheets................ 27
Consolidated Statements of Operations . 26
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.... 2¢
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity.... 3¢
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.............. 31
Notes to Ccnsolidated Financial Statements......... 3z

2. Financial statement schedules and supplementary information
requirec to be submittec.

Page

w
-1

Schedule II - Valuation and qualifying accounts....
Schedules other than that listed above are cmittec
because they are not applicable

3. An exhibit list is included on page 54 of this Form 10-K.
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(B) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K:

An B-K was filed on Octocber 15, 1999 to report the cheange of independent
accountant from Hein + Asscciates LLP to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLE.

A report on Form 8-K was filed on November 1%, 1999 to report the KPC
acquisition and the zmendment to the existing credit agreement. A report on
Form 8-KA was filed on December 3, 1999 zs an amendment to the Form 8-K filed on
November 18, 19%%. The amendment was fiied to include the reguired auditec
historical summary of revenue and direct operating expenses of Kansas Pipeline
Company for the nine months ended September 3C, 1999. 1In addition, the
unaudited Midcoast Pro Formes Statement of Operztions for the nine months ended
September 3C, 1999 and for the vear ended December 21, 1998 and unaudited Pro
Forma Bzlance Sheet at September 30, 199S were included.

A report on Form 8-K/A was filed on December 2, 1999 as an amendment to the
report on Form 8-K filed September 25, 19989 relating the Company's
reincorporation in Texas. The amendment was filed to include specific language
adopting the pre-reincerporation company's registration statement and under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (1934 Act) such that the common stock of the
Company after the reincorporation would be deemed to be registered under the
1934 Act.

A report on Form 8-K was filed on December 10, 1999 to report the terms of
the Underwriting Zgreement that the Company entered in connection with its
public offering of common stock, in which the agreement was included as an
exhibit to the report.

A report on Form 8-K was filed on December 14, 1999 to report the
streamlining of its operations.

w
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOQURCES, INC.
EXHIBIT LIST
December 31, 199¢

Each exhibit identified below is filed as a part ¢f this report. An
sterisk designates exhibits not incorperated by reference to a prior filing;
all exhibits not so designated are incorpcrated herein by reference to a prior
filing as indicated.

Exhibit

Number DESCRIPTION OF EIXEIBITS

2.1 Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Harmony Gas Processing Plant and Relatec
Gathering System dated October 3, 1996, by and between Koch Hydrocarbor
Company, a division of Koch Industries, Inz. and Midcoast Holdings No. One,
Inc. (Incorporated by reference from Midcoas: Form 6-X dated October 21,
1996, as Exhibit 2.1).

8}
[N}

Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 1B, 1927, by and between Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc. and Atrion Corporatien. (Incerporated by reference
frem Midcoast Ferm 10-KSE for the fiscal vear ended December 31, 19%¢, as

Exhibit 2.7}.
2.3 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated COctober 31, 1997 by and between Republic

Gas Partners, LLC. And Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 8-K deted November 13, 1957 as Exhibit 2.2)

2.4 Purchase anc Sale Agreement dated September &, 1998, by and between El Pasc
Field Services Company, 2 Delaware Ccorporation, and Midcoast Gas Services,
Inc., & Delaware ccrporation. (Incorperated by reference from Midcoast Ferm
10-0 for the nine month period ended September 30, 199€, as Exhibit 2.8).

N
w

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated March i1, 1399, by and between Dufour
Petroleum, Inc., Flare L.L.C. Partners and Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

Incorporated by reference from Midcoast Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1998).

2.6 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated March 23, 19%%%, by and between Prebe
Exploratien Inc. and Midcoast Canada Operating Corporaticn. {Incorporated
by reference from Midcoast Form 10-K for the fiscal vear ended December 31,
1998).

~

-7 Asset Purchase Agreement dated November §, 199§ by and between K-Pipe
Merger Corporation, Midcoas:t Energy Resources, Inc., Midcoast Kansas
Pipeline, Inc., and Midcoas:t Kansas General Partner, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form §-X dated November g, 1995 as Exhibit 2.4)

3.1 Articles of Incorporatien of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. (Incorporatec
by reference from Midcoast Form 1C-XSB for the fiscal year ended December
31, 1992).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. (Incorporated by reference from Midcoast Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (No. 333-4643) dated August 8, 1996).

3.3 Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorperation of Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. dated May 15, 199§ (Incorporated by reference from Midcoast
Form 10-Q for the six month period ended June 30, 1998 as Exhibit 3.4).

3.4 Certificate of Stock Split of Midecoast Energy Resources, Inc. datec
February 24, 159%. (Incorporated by reference from Midcoast Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 199g;.

3.5 Bylaws of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 19%2)

3.6 Plan of Agreement of Merger between the Company ancd the Corporation dated
September 22, 1999. (Incorporated by reference from Midcoast Form 8-K dated
September 29, 199¢%, as Exhibit 2.1).

3.7 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation dated September 23, 1996.
{Incorporated by reference from Midcoast Form 8-K dated September 29, 19%¢9,
as Exhibit 3.1).

3.8 Bylaws of the Texas Corporation dated September 22, 1999. (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 8-K dated September 29, 1999, as Exhibit 3.2).

4.1 Specimen Certificate for Shares of Common Steck, par value §.01 per share.
(Incorporated by reference from Midcoast Registration Statement on Form
SB-2 (No. 333-4643) dated August 8§, 1996).

4.2 Representative's Warrants. (Incorperated by reference from Midcoast
Registration Statement on Form S$B-2 (No. 333-4643) dated August 8, 1596).
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10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

.10

.11

s

Voting Proxy Agreement dated August 5, 199§, by and between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc., Stevens G. Herbst, Kenneth B. Holmes, Jr., Rainbow
Investments Company and Texas Commerce Bank National Association.
(Incorperated by reference from Midcoast Registration Statement on Form
SB-2 (No. 333-4643) dated August 8, 1996)

Registration Rights Agreement dated August 5, 1996, by and between Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc. and Stevens G. Herbst. {Incorporated by reference
from Midcoast Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (No. 333-4643) dated
August g, 1996)

Registration Rights Agreement dated August 5, 1996, by ancd between Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc. and Kenneth B. Holmes, Jr. (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Registration Statement on Form SE-2 (No. 333-4643)
dated August 8, 1996;.

Registration Rights Agreement dated August 5, 1996, bv and between Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc. and Rainbow Investments Company. (Incorporated by
431

reference from Miccoast Registration Statement on Form SE-2 (No. 333-4643)
dated August 8, 159%¢).

Executive Severance Agreement by and betweer Midcoast Energy Resources,
Inc. and Dan Tutcher, dated August 15, 1997. {Incorporated by reference
from Form 10-K for the vear ended Decemcer 31, 1997 as Exhibit 4.11)

Executive Severasnce Agreement by and between Midcoast Energy Resources,
Inc. and I.J. Berthelot, II, dated August 15, 1%87. (Incorporated by
reference from Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 1997 as Exhibit
4.12)

Executive Severance Agreement by and between Midcoast Energy Resources,
Inc. and Richard Robert, dated August 15, 1997, {Incorporated by reference
from Form 10-K for the vear endec December 31, 1997 as Exhibit 4.13)

Executive Severance Agreement by and between Midcoast Energy Resources,
Inc. and Duane Herbst, date¢ August 15, 1997, {Incorporated by reference
from Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997 as Exhibit 4.14)

First Amendment to Voting/Proxy Agreement dated April 29, 1998 by and
between Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and Steven G. Herbst, June Herbst,
Kenneth Holmes, Jr., Dorothy C. Holmes and Rainbow Investments Company and
Chase Bank of Texas. (Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the
three months ended March 31, 1998 as Exhibit 4.14)

Employment Agreement dated January 1, 1993, by and between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and Dan €. Tutcher (Incorporated by reference from Midcoast
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1992).

Amendment to the Employment Agreement dated April 1, 1993, by and between
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and Dan C. Tutcher (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 10-XSB for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1993).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 14, 1997, by and between
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and Dan Tutcher (Incorporated by reference
from Midcoast Form 10-QSB for the three-month period ended March 31, 1997).

Employment Agreement dated April 30, 1994, by and between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and Richard A. Robert (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 19%4).

Amendment toO the Employment Agreement dated April 8, 1996, by and between
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and Richard A. Robert (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 10-QSB for the three-month period ended March
31, 199%6).

Employment Agreement dated April 25, 1995, by and between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and I.J. Berthelot, II (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1995).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 14, 1997, by and between
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and 1.J. Berthelot, II (Incorporatec by
reference from Midcoast Form 10-0SB for the three-month period ended March
31, 1997).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 8, 1995, by and between
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and 1.J. Berthelot, II (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1995).

Assignment of Net Revenue Interest dated July 1, 19%4, by and between
Texline Gas Company and Miccoast Energy Resources, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 10-KSE for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1994).
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10.15
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10.17

10.18

10.1¢9

10.20

10.22

10.23

10.24

Assignment of Net Revenue Interest dated July 1, 1994, by and between
Rainbow Investments Co. and Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. {(Incorporated
by reference from Midcoast Form 10-KSB for the fiscal vear ended December
31, 1894).

Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. 1996 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended on
May 15, 1998. (Incorporated by reference from Midcoast Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1$98;.

Credit Rgreement dated Rugust 22, 1996, by and between Bank One, Texas
N.A. and Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc., Magnolia Pipeline Corporation
and H&W Pipeline Corporation. (Inccroorated by reference from Midcoast
Form 10-QSE for the nine-month period ended September 30, 1996).

Midcoast Erergy Resources, Inc. 1987 Non-Employee Director Stock Option
Plan (Incorperated by reference from Midcoast Form 10-0SB for the three-
month period ended March 31, 1997).

Indemnity Acreement dated April 23, 19¢7 between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and Richard A. Robert (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Registration Statement on Form $-1 (No. 333-27885) dated June 2€,
1687).

Indemnity Ac¢reement dated April 23, 1997 between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and 1.J. Berthelot, II. (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Registration Statement on Form $-1 (No. 233-27885) dated June 2€,
1997).

Indemnity Agreement dated April 23, 1997 between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and Richard N. Richards. {Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Registration Statement on Form S$-1 (No. 333-27885) dated June 26
1997}

Indemnity Agreement dated April 23, 1997 between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and Duane S. HKerbst. {Incorporated by reference from
Miccoast Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 233-27885) dated June 28,
1997)

Indemnity Agreement dated April 23, 1997 between Midcoast Energy
Resources, Inc. and Dan C. Tutcher. (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-27885) dated June 26,
1997)

First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated May 30, 1997 by and between
Bank One, Texas N.A. and Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. , Magnolia
Pipeline Corporation, H&W Pipeline Corporation, Magnolia Resources, Inc.,
Magnolia Gathering Inc., Midcoast Holdings No. One, Inc., Midcoast Gas
Pipeline, Inc., Nugget Drilling Corporation, Midcoast Marketing, Inc.,
AlaTenn Energy Marketing Company, and Tennessee River Intrastate Gas Co.
(Incorpeorated by reference from Midcoast Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (No. 333-27885) dated June 26, 1997)

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated October 31, 1997 by anc
between Bank One, Texas N.A. and Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. ,
Magnolia Pipeline Corporation, H&W Pipeline Corporation, Magnolia
Resources, Inc., Magnolia Gathering Inc., Midcoast Holdings No. One, Inc.,
Midcoast Gas Pipeline, Inc., Nugget Drilling Corporation, Midcoast
Marketing, Inc., AlaTenn Energy Marketing Company, Tennessee river
Intrastate Gas Co., Mid Louisiana Gas Company, Mid Louisiana Gas
Transmission Company and MIDLA Energy Services Company. (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 8-K dated October 13, 1987).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated October 31, 1997 by and between
Bank One, Texas N.A. and Midcoast Interstate Transmission, Inc. (f/k/a/
Alabama Tennessee Natural Gas Company). (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Form 8-K dated October 13, 1997).

Third Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 2, 1998 by and
between Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and Dan Tutcher. (Incorporated by
reference from Form 10-K/A dated February 2, 1999, for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1997).

Third Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 18, 1998 by and
between Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and I.J. Berthelot, II.
{Incorporated by reference from Form 10-K/A dated February 2, 1999, for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997).

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 18, 1998 by and
between Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and Richard Robert. {Incorporated
by reference from Form 10-K/A dated Februvary 2, 1998, for the fiscal vear
ended December 31, 1997).
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10.25

10.26

10.27

*10.

*21.

*23.

*23.

*27.

28

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated August 31, 1998, by and
among Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc., and, Bank One Texas, N.A., CIBC
Inc., and Nationsbank, N.A. (Incorporated by reference from Midcoast
Form 10-Q for the nine month period ended September 30, 1998, as
Exhibit 10.30).

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated
March 12, 1999, by and among Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc., and, Bank
One Texas, N.A., CIBC Inc., and Nationsbank, N.A. (Incorporated by
reference from Midcoast Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December

31, 1998).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated November 8, 1999, by and
between Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc., Bank of America, N.A.,
individually and as administrative agent, Bank One, N.A., individually
and as syndication agent, CIBC, Inc., individually and as documentation
agent, Banc of America Securities LLC, as lead arranger and book
manager, and certain other Lenders. (Incorporated by reference from
Midcoast Form 8-K dated November 9, 1999 as Exhibit 10.4)

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated
March 1, 2000, by and between Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc., Bank of
America, N.A., individually and as administrative agent, Bank One,
N.A., individually and as syndication agent, CIBC, Inc., individually
and as documentation agent, Banc of America Securities LLC, as lead
arranger and book manager, and certain other Lenders.

Schedule listing subsidiaries of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
Consent of independent accountants, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Consent of independent accountants, Hein + Associates LLP

Financial Data Schedule for the year ended December 31, 1999.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities and Exchange Act
of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MIDCCAST ENERGY RESOURCES,

(Registrant)

BY: /s/ DAN C. TUTCHER
Dan C. Tutcher

Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 31, 2000

In accerdance with the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has
been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURES

/s/ DAN C. TUTCHER
(Dan C. Tutcher)
Date: March 30, 2000

/s/ I. J. BERTHELOT, 1II
(I. J. Berthelot, II)
Date: March 30, 2000

/s/ TED COLLINS, JR.
(Ted Collins, Jr.)
Date: March 30, 2000

/s/ CURTIS J. DUFQUR III.

(Curtis J. Dufour, III.)
Date: March 30, 2000

/s/ RICHARD N. RICHARDS
(Richard N. Richards)
Date: March 30, 2000

/s/ RICHARD A. ROBERT
(Richard A. Robert)
Date: March 30, 2000

/s/ BRUCE WITHERS
(Bruce Withers)
Date: March 30, 2000

CAPACITY IN WHICH SIGNED

Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer
and President

Executive Vice President, Chief Operating

Officer and Director

Director

Director

Director

Treasurer, Principal Financial QOfficer

Principal Accounting Officer

Director
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EXRIBIT "A"
TO
FIRST AMENDMENT

CONSENT AND AGREEMENT

Each of Crecle Gas Pipeline Corporaticn, a Delaware corporation, Dufour
Petroleum, Inc. f/k/a DPI/Midcoast, Inc., & Mississippi corporation, H&W
Pipeline Corporation, an Alabama corporation, Kansas Pipeline Company, a Kansas
general partnership, Magnolia Gathering, Inc., an Alabama corporation, Magnolia
Pipeline Corporation, an Alabama corporation, Magnolia Resources, Inc., a
Mississippl corporation, MarGasCo Partnership, an Oklahoma general partnership,
Midcoast Energy Marketing, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Midcoast Gas Services,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, Midcoast Gas Pipeline, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, Midcoast Gas Pipeline, Inc., & Texas corporation, Midcoast Holdings
No. One, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Midcoast Interstate Transmission, Inc.,
an Alabama corporation, f/k/a Alabama Tennessee Natural Gas Co., Midcoast Kansas
General Partner, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Midcoast Kansas Pipeline, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, Midcoast Marketing, Inc., a Texas corporation, Mid Kansas
Partnership, & Kansas general partnership, Mid Louisiana Gas Company, a Delaware
corporation, Mid Louisiana Gas Transmission Company, a Delaware corporation,
Nugget Drilling Corporation, a Minnesota corporation, Riverside Pipeline
Company, L.P., a Kansas limited partnership, Southern Industrial Gas
Corporation, a Louisiana corporation, and Tennessee River Intrastate Gas
Company, Inc., an Alabama corporation, hereby consents to the provisions of this
Amendment and the transactions contemplated herein, and hereby ratifies and
confirms the Guaranty dated as of November 8, 1999 made by it for the benefit of
Lenders, and agrees that its obligations and covenants thereunder are unimpaired
hereby and shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Guarantor has executed and delivered this Consent
and Agreement.

GUARANTORS:

MAGNOLIA PIPELINE CORPORATION
H&W PIPELINE CORPORATION
MAGNOLIA RESOURCES, INC.
MAGNOLIA GATHERING, INC.
MIDCOAST HOLDINGS NO. ONE, INC.
TENNESSEE RIVER INTRASTATE
GAS COMPANY, INC.
NUGGET DRILLING CORPORATION
MIDCOAST MARKETING, INC.
MID LOUISIANA GAS COMPANY
CREOLE GAS PIPELINE CORPORATION
MID LOUISIANA GAS TRANSMISSION
COMPANY
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MIDCOAST INTERSTATE
TRANSMISSION, INC.
MIDCOAST GAS SERVICES, INC.,
MIDCOAST ENERGY MARKETING,

INC.

DUFOUR PETROLEUM, INC. fka
DPI/MIDCOAST, INC.
MIDCOAST GAS PIPELINE, INC.,
a Texas corporation
MIDCOAST GAS PIPELINE, INC.,

a Delaware corporation
SOUTHERN INDUSTRIAL GAS
CORPORATION
MIDCOAST KANSAS PIPELINE, INC.
MIDCOAST KANSAS GENERAL
PARTNER, INC.

By:

Richard A. Robert
Treasurer

MID-KANSAS PARTNERSHIP

MARGASCO PARTNERSHIP

RIVERSIDE PIPELINE COMPANY, L.P.
KANSAS PIPELINE COMPANY

By: Midcoast Kansas General Partner, Inc.,
General Partner

By:

Richard A. Robert
Treasurer
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EXHIBIT "B"
TO
FIRST AMENDMENT

ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE

Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of November 8, 1999 (the
"Credit Agreement”) among MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., a Texas corporation
(the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Credit Agreement), Bank One,
NA, as Syndication Agent, CIBC, Inc., as Documentation Agent, and Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent for the Lenders (the "Administrative
Agent"). Terms defined in the Credit Agreement are used herein with the same
meaning.

The "Assignor" and the "Assignee" referred to on Schedule 1 agree as
follows:

1. The Assignor hereby sells and assigns to the Assignee, without recourse and
without representation or warranty except as expressly set forth herein,
and the Assignee hereby purchases and assumes from the Assignor, an
interest in and to the Assignor's rights and obligations under the Credit
Agreement and the other Loan Documents as of the date hereof equal to the
percentage interest specified on Schedule 1 of all outstanding rights and
obligations under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents. After
giving effect to such sale and assignment, the Assignee's Commitment,
Commitment Percentage, Percentage Share and the amount of the Loans owing
to the Assignee will be as set forth on Schedule 1.

2. The Assignor: represents and warrants that it is the legal and beneficial
owner of the interest being assigned by it hereunder and that such interest
is free and clear of any adverse claim; makes no representation or warranty
and assumes no responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties or
representations made in or in connection with the Loan Documents or the
execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or
value of the Loan Documents or any other instrument or document furnished
pursuant thereto; makes no representation or warranty and assumes no
responsibility with respect to the financial condition of any Restricted
Person or the performance or observance by any Restricted Person of any of
its obligations under the Loan Documents or any other instrument or
document furnished pursuant thereto; and attaches the Note held by the
Assignor and reguests that Administrative Agent exchange such Note for new
Notes payable to the order of the Assignee in an amount equal to the
Commitment assumed by the Assignee pursuant hereto and to the Assignor in
an amount equal to the Commitment retained by the Assignor, if any, as
specified on Schedule 1.

3. The Assignee confirms that it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement,
together with copies of the financial statements referred to in Section 6.2
thereof and such other decuments and information as it has deemed
appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this
Assignment and Acceptance; agrees that it will, independently and

To Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment
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without reliance upon Administrative Agent, the Assignor or any other
Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall deem
appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in
taking or not taking action under the Credit Agreement; confirms that it is
an Eligible Transferee; appoints and authorizes Administrative Agent to
take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers and
discretion under the Credit Agreement as are delegated to Administrative
Agent by the terms thereof, together with such powers and discretion as are
reasonably incidental thereto; agrees that it will perform in accordance
with their terms all of the obligations that by the terms of the Credit
Agreement are required to be performed by it as a Lender; and attaches any
U.S. Internal Revenue Service or other forms required under Section
3.10(d) .

Following the execution of this Assignment and Acceptance, it will be
delivered to Administrative Agent for acceptance and recording by
Administrative Agent. The effective date for this Assignment and Acceptance
(the "Effective Date") shall be the date of acceptance hereof by
Administrative Agent, unless otherwise specified on Schedule 1.

Upon such acceptance and recording by Administrative Agent, as of the
Effective Date, the Assignee shall be a party to the Credit Agreement and,
to the extent provided in this Assignment and Acceptance, have the rights
and obligations of a Lender thereunder and the Assignor shall, to the
extent provided in this Assignment and Acceptance, relinquish its rights
and be released from its obligations under the Credit Agreement.

Upon such acceptance and recording by Administrative Agent, from and after
the Effective Date, Administrative Agent shall make all payments under the
Credit Agreement and the Notes in respect of the interest assigned hereby
(including, without limitation, all payments of principal, interest and
Unused Fees with respect thereto) to the Assignee. The Assignor and
Assignee shall make all appropriate adjustments in payments under the
Credit Agreement and the Notes for periods prior to the Effective Date
directly between themselves.

This Assignment and Acceptance shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the Laws of the State of Texas.

This Assignment and Acceptance may be executed in any number of
counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each
of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of
which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery
of an executed counterpart of Schedule 1 to this Assignment and Acceptance
by telecopier shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of this Assignment and Acceptance.

To Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Assignor and the Assignee have caused Schedule 1 to
this Assignment and Acceptance to be executed by their officers thereunto duly
authorized as of the date specified thereon.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
Assignor

By:

Patrick M. Delaney
Managing Director

NEW LENDER,
Assignee

By:
Name:
Title:

To Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment
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SCHEDULE 1
to
ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE

Commitment Percentage interest assigned: %
Assignee's Commitment: $
Aggregate outstanding principal amount
of Loans assigned: $
Principal amount of Note payable to
Assignee: $
Principal amount of Note payable to
Assignor: $
Effective Date (if other than date
of acceptance by Administrative Agent): * , 2000

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
Assignor

By:
Patrick M. Delaney
Managing Director
Dated: , 19

NEW LENDER, as Assignee

By:

Name:
Title:

Domestic Lending Office:

Eurodollar Lending Office:

* This date should be no earlier than five Business Days after the delivery
of this Assignment and Acceptance to Administrative Agent.

To Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
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Accepted and Approved **
this day of , 2000

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent

By:

Patrick M. Delaney
Managing Director

Accepted and Approved **
this day of , 2000

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
as LC Issuer

By:
Patrick M. Delaney
Managing Director
Approved this day
of , 2000

MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.

By: * *
Name:
Title:
** Required if the Assignee is an Eligible Transferee solely by reason of
subsection (b) of the definition of "Eligible Transferee".

To Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment
Exhibit B Page 5



EXHIBIT 10.28

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (herein
called the "BRmendment") made as of March 1, 2000 by and among MIDCOAST ENERGY
RESOURCES, INC., a Texas corporation (herein called "Borrower"), BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A., individually and as administrative agent (in its agency capacity
herein called "Administrative Agent"), BANK ONE, NA, individually and as
syndication agent (in its agency capacity herein called "Syndication Agent"),
CIBC, INC., individually and as documentation agent (in its agency capacity
herein called "Documentation Agent™), the Lenders party to the Original
Agreement defined below ("Original Lenders"), and certain additional lenders as
new Lenders ("New Lenders"; the New Lenders and the Original Lenders
collectively called "Lenders"),

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Borrower, Administrative Agent, Syndication Agent, Documentation
Bgent and Original Lenders entered into that certain Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of November 8, 1999 (as amended, supplemented, or restated
prior to the date hereof, the "Original Agreement"”), for the purpose and
consideration therein expressed, whereby Original Lenders became obligated to
make loans to Borrower as therein provided; and

WHEREAS, Borrower, Administrative Agent, Syndication Agent, Documentation
Agent, Original Lenders and New Lenders desire to amend the Original Agreement
to (i) increase the Facility Amount tc , (ii) provide for certain additional
ienders to become new Lenders, (iii) increase the LC Sublimit to $50,000,000,
(iv) eliminate the C$50,000,000 limit on Canadian Dellar advances, and (V) amend
various other provisions of the Original Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants
and agreements contained herein and in the Original Agreement, in consideration
of the loans which may hereafter be made by Lenders to Borrower, and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I - Definitions and References

Section 1.1 Terms Defined in the Original Agreement. Unless the context
otherwise requires or unless otherwise expressly defined herein, the terms
defined in the Original Agreement shall have the same meanings whenever used in
this Amendment.

Section 1.2 Other Defined Terms. Unless the context otherwise requires,
the following terms when used in this Amendment shall have the meanings assigned
to them in this Section 1.2.

"amendment”™ means this First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement.



"Amendment Documents” means this Amendment and the Consent and
Agreement.

"Assignment and Acceptance" means the Assignment and Acceptance
appended hereto as Exhibit "B".

"Consent and Agreement" means the Consent and Agreement appended
hereto as Exhibit "A".

"Credit Agreement" means the Original Agreement as amended hereby.

"Revised Schedule of Commitments and Commitment Percentages" means the
Revised Schedule of Commitments and Commitment Percentages appended hereto
as Schedule 1.

ARTICLE II - Amendments to Original Agreement

Section 2.1 Cover Page. The figure "$265,000,000" on the cover page of
the Original Agreement is hereby deleted and the figure "$335,000,000" is
substituted therefore and the phrase " (including up to $50,000,000 Canadian
Dollar Revolving Loan)" is hereby deleted.

Section 2.2 Defined Terms. (a) The definition of "Commitment"”" in
Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read
as follows:

""Commitment" means initially the Dollar amount set forth opposite
such Lender's name on its signature page hereto, and on and after the first
and each successive assignment pursuant to Section 10.6(a), the Dollar
amount set forth opposite such Lender's name on the Revised Schedule of
Commitments and Commitment Percentages and as of the First Amendment
Effective Date, the Revised Schedule of Commitments and Commitment
Percentages appended as Schedule 1 to the First Amendment, as such
Commitment may be reduced pursuant to Section 2.1, increased (as determined
by such Lender in its sole and absolute discretion) pursuant to Section
2.14, or reduced or increased pursuant to Section 10.6."

(b) The definition of "Canadian Subsidiaries™ in Section 1.1 of the
Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

""Canadian Subsidiaries"” means collectively MCCI, MCOC and any other
Subsidiary organized under the laws of Canada or any Province of Canada,
acquired or formed by a Restricted Person in compliance with the terms and
provisions of this Agreement, giving effect to such acquisition or
formation, and "Canadian Subsidiary” individually means any of the
foregoing.”

(c) The definition of "Commitment Percentage” in Section 1.1 of the
Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:



""Commitment Percentage™ means initially the Commitment Percentage set
forth opposite such Lender's name on its signature page hereto, and on and
after the first and each successive assignment pursuant to Section 10.6(a),
the Commitment Percentage set forth opposite such Lender's name on the
Revised Schedule of Commitments and Commitment Percentages and on and after
the First Amendment Effective Date, the Commitment Percentage set forth
opposite such Lender's name on the Revised Schedule of Commitments and
Commitment Percentages appended as Schedule 1 to the First Amendment, as
such Commitment Percentage may be reduced pursuant to Section 2.1,
increased (as determined by such Lender in its sole and absolute
discretion) pursuant to Section 2.14, or reduced or increased pursuant to
Section 10.6."

(d) The definition of "Facility Amount"” in Section 1.1 of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

""Facility Amount” means $335,000,000, subject to increase to
$400,000,000 pursuant to Section 2.14 and subject to reduction pursuant to
Section 2.1."

(e) The definition of "Indebtedness" in Section 1.1 of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by deleting section {(c) thereof and substituting the
following therefor:

"(c) Liabilities evidenced by a bond, debenture, note or similar
instrument and Liabilities arising in connection with the Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness;”

(f) The definition of "LC Sublimit” in Section 1.1 of the Original
Agreement 1s hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

""LC Sublimit" means a Dollar Eguivalent amount equal to $50,000,000.

(g) The definition of "Permitted Canadian Investments” in Section 1.1 of
the Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

""Permitted Canadian Investments" means (without duplication) (a)
equity Investments by Restricted Persons in Canadian Subsidiaries; provided
that, after giving effect to the making by any Restricted Person of any
equity Investment in a Canadian Subsidiary, the sum of (i) the Dollar
Equivalent of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all loans and
advances made by all Restricted Persons to the Canadian Subsidiaries, plus
(ii) the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate amount of all equity
Investments made by all Restricted Persons in the Canadian Subsidiaries,
plus (iii) the Dollar Equivalent of the outstanding principal amount of the
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness, would not exceed forty percent
(40%) of Borrower's Consolidated total assets, and (b) equity Investments
by Restricted Persons in an aggregate amount not to exceed the Dollar
Equivalent of $5,000,000 at any one time in non-Affiliate, non-Subsidiary
Canadian companies or



partnerships engaged in the same or similar lines of business as Restricted
Persons are engaged in or other businesses reasonably related thereto.”

(h) The definition of "Permitted Liens" in Section 1.1 of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by amending subsection (h) of such definition in its
entirety to read as follows:

"(h) Liens securing the KPC Notes and Liens securing (or an agreement to
secure by Lien in the future) the Permitted Canadian Acguisition
Indebtedness, but in the case of the Permitted Canadian Acguisition
Indebtedness, such Liens can only encumber the specific assets acquired by
MCOC or the MCOC Acguisition Subsidiary with proceeds of that specific
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness,”

(1) The definition of "Total Funded Debt” in Section 1.1 of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by amending the first sentence of such definition in
its entirety to read as follows:

""Total Funded Debt" means, without duplication, all Indebtedness for
money borrowed including any subordinated indebtedness, the KPC Notes, the
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness, purchase money mortgages,
lease obligations capitalized in accordance with GAAP, amounts outstanding
in respect of asset securitization vehicles, conditional sales contracts
and similar title retention debt instruments, including any current
maturities of such Indebtedness, plus the net present value of future
operating lease payments calculated using standard S&P methodology, plus
the redemption amount with respect to any redeemable preferred stock of
Borrower or any Subsidiary required to be redeemed within the next twelve
(12) months."

(j) The following definition of "Canadian Finance Subsidiary” is hereby
added to Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the
definition of "Canadian Eurodollar Rate":

""Canadian Finance Subsidiary" means one or more wholly-owned
Subsidiaries of Borrower, which Subsidiaries shall be corporations
organized under the Business Corporation Act of the Province of Alberta or
another Canadian Province and which Subsidiaries will purchase Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness from a Permitted Canadian Lender pursuant
to the corresponding Put/Call Agreement."”

(k) The following definition of "Canadian Side Letter Agreement” is hereby
added to Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the
definition of "Canadian Finance Subsidiary":

""Canadian Side Letter" means a letter agreement to be entered into
between the Administrative Agent and the Permitted Canadian Lender funding
any Permitted Canadian Acgqguisition Indebtedness providing that while such
Permitted Canadian



Acguisition Indebtedness remains outstanding (i) the Permitted Canadian
Lender will not terminate the Put/Call Agreement without the prior written
consent of Administrative Agent, (ii) the Permitted Canadian Lender will
not amend, waive, modify or otherwise alter the terms of the Put/Call
Agreement, and (iii) the Permitted Canadian Lender will agree to perform
its contractual obligation under the "call" to sell such Permitted Canadian
Acquisition Indebtedness to Borrower upon Borrower's exercise of its "call
rights” even if for any reason the Put/Call Agreement had been breached or
might otherwise not have been enforceable.”

(1) The following definition of "First Amendment” is hereby added tc
Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the definition of
"Federal Funds Rate":

"First Amendment” means the First Amendment to this Agreement.”

(m) The following definition of "First Amendment Effective Date" is hereby
added to Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the
definition of "First Amendment":

"First Amendment Effective Date" means the first date on which all of
the conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the First Amendment have
been satisfied or waived."

(n) The following definition of "MCCI" is hereby added to Section 1.1 of
the Original Agreement immediately following the definition of "Maximum Drawing
Amount”:

"MCCI" means Midcoast Canada Capital, Inc., a corporation organized
under the Business Corporation Act of the Province of Alberta and wholly-
owned Subsidiary of Borrower, which Subsidiary may acquire Permitted
Canadian Acgquisition Indebtedness from a Permitted Canadian Lender pursuant
to the corresponding Put/Call Agreement."

(o) The following definition of "MCOC" is hereby added to Section 1.1 of
the Original Agreement immediately following the definition of "MCCI":

"MCOC" means Midcoast Canada Operating Corporation, a corporation
organized under the Business Corporation Act of the Province of Alberta and
wholly-owned Subsidiary of Borrower, which Subsidiary may acquire certain
Canadian assets and finance or refinance such acquisition by incurring
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness."”

(p) The focllowing definition of "MCOC Acqguisition Subsidiary" is hereby
added to Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the
definition of "MCOC":

"MCOC Acquisition Subsidiary" means one or more wholly-owned
Subsidiaries of Midcoast Canada Operating Corporation, which Subsidiaries
shall be corporations organized under the Business Corporation Act of the
Province of



Alberta or another Canadian Province and which Subsidiaries will acguire
certain Canadian assets and finance or refinance such acquisition by
incurring Permitted Canadian Acguisition Indebtedness.”

(q)

The following definition of "1999 Canadian Financing Transaction” is

hereby added to Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the
definition of "Net Worth":

""1999 Canadian Financing Transaction" means the C$15,187,500 term

loan from First Chicago NBD Bank, Canada to MCOC dated March 24, 1999 to
finance MCOC's acqguisition of certain Canadian assets, which term loan was
repaid and is no longer outstanding."”

(xr)

The following definition of "Permitted Canadian Acquisition

Indebtedness" is hereby added to Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement
immediately following the definition of "Percentage Share":

""pPermitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness" means, at any time,

Indebtedness in Canadian Dollars for borrowed money:

(a)

incurred by MCOC or an MCOC Acguisition Subsidiary:

for the purpose of financing or refinancing MCOC's or such MCOC
Acquisition Subsidiary's acquisition of assets located in Canada;

payable to one or more Permitted Canadian Lenders; and
in an amount which does not exceed the lesser of:

(i) (1) the Facility Amount less (2) the Dollar Equivalent of the
Facility Usage plus (ii) the Dollar Equivalent of the amounts
outstanding determined pursuant to subsections (a) through (c) above;
and

(ii) $25,000,000;

provided, however, that after giving effect to such Permitted Canadian
Acquisition Indebtedness, the sum of (i) the Dollar Eguivalent of the
outstanding principal amount of the Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness, plus (ii) the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate amount
of all equity Investments made by all Restricted Persons in the
Canadian Subsidiaries, plus (iii) the Dollar Equivalent of the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of all loans and advances made
by all Restricted Persons to the Canadian Subsidiaries, would not
exceed forty percent (40%) of Borrower's Consolidated total assets;
provided further, to constitute Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness, such Indebtedness must be substantially similar in terms
and substance to the 1999 Canadian Financing



Transaction, as determined by the Administrative Agent in its scole
discretion including, without limitation, such Indebtedness being
subject to a Put/Call Agreement in form and substance satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent; and provided further, to constitute
Permitted Canadian Acguisition Indebtedness, such Indebtedness must at
all times be subject to a Canadian Side Letter Agreement.”

(s) The following definition of "Permitted Canadian Lenders" is hereby
added to Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the
definition of "Permitted Canadian Investments":

""Permitted Canadian Lenders" means those Canadian banking Affiliates
of one or more Lenders who lend the Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness and enter into a Put/Call Agreement and Canadian Side Letter
Agreement in connection therewith."

{t) The following definition of "Put/Call Agreement™ is hereby added to
Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement immediately following the definition of
"Prior Credit Documents":

""put/Call Agreement"” means an agreement between the Permitted
Canadian Lender and Borrower pursuant to which the Permitted Canadian
Lender has the right to require that Borrower purchase the Permitted
Canadian Acguisition Indebtedness subject to such Put/Call Agreement and
Borrower has the right to require the Permitted Canadian Lender to sell to
Borrower the Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness subject to such
Put/Call Agreement.”

Section 2.3. Amendments to Section 2.1. (a) The first and second
sentences of Section 2.1 of the Original Agreement are hereby amended in their
entirety to read as follows:

"Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each Lender severally agrees
to make Loans to Borrower upon Borrower's request from time to time during
the Commitment Period; provided that (a) subject to Sections 3.3, 3.4 and
3.6, all Lenders are requested to make Loans of the same Type in accordance
with their respective Percentage Shares and as part of the same Borrowing,
(b) after giving effect to such Loans, the sum of (1) the Dollar Equivalent
of the Facility Usage plus (2) the Dollar Equivalent of the Permitted
Canadian Acguisition Indebtedness does not exceed the Facility Amount
determined as of the date on which the requested Loans are to be made, and
(c) after giving effect to such Loans, the Dollar Equivalent of such
Lender's Loans and Percentage Share of any LC Obligations does not exceed
such Lender's Commitment determined as of the date on which the requested
Loans are to be made. The aggregate amount of all Loans in any Borrowing
consisting of Base Rate Loans must be greater than or equal to $1,000,000
or must equal the remaining availability under the Facility Amount (or, 1if
any Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness is outstanding, the
remaining availability under the Facility Amount less the Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness) and the aggregate



amount of all Loans in any Borrowing consisting of Eurodollar Loans must be
greater than or egqual to $3,000,000."

{(b) The last sentence of Section 2.1 of the Original Agreement is hereby
amended in its entirety to read as follows:

"Borrower may, upon three (3) Business Days' prior written notice to
Administrative Agent, irrevocably cancel all or any portion of the Unused
Amount; provided, however, that Borrower may not cancel that portion of the
Unused Amount equal tc the outstanding principal balance of the Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness."

Section 2.4. Amendment to Section 2.3. The second sentence of Section
2.3 of the Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as
follows:

"If any Dollar Loan is converted into a Canadian Dollar Loan, the amount of
the resulting Canadian Dollar Loan shall be eqgual to the Canadian Dollar
Equivalent of such converted Dollar Loan; and, if any Canadian Dollar Loan
is converted into a Dollar Loan, the amount of the resulting Docllar Loan
shall be equal to the Dollar Equivalent of such converted Canadian Dollar
Loan."

Section 2.5. Amendment to Section 2.7. Subsection 2.7(a) of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

"{a) If at any time the sum of (1) the Dollar Egquivalent of the Facility
Usage plus (2) the Dellar Eguivalent of the outstanding principal balance
of the Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness exceeds the Facility
Amount, Borrower shall immediately upon Administrative Agent's demand
prepay the principal of the Loans in an amount at least equal to such
excess."

Section 2.6. Amendment to Section 2.8. Subsection 2.8(a) of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

"(a) the sum of (1) the Dollar Eguivalent of the Facility Usage plus (2)
the Dollar Eguivalent of the outstanding principal balance of the Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness does not exceed the Facility Amount at
such time;"

Section 2.7. Bmendment to Section 2.13. The first sentence of Subsection
2.13(a) of the Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as
follows:

"If, after the making of all mandatory prepayments required under Section
2.7, the outstanding LC Obligations exceed the Facility Amount {(or, if any
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness is outstanding, the outstanding
LC Obligations exceed the Facility Amount less the Dollar Egquivalent of the
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness), then in addition to
prepayment of the entire principal



balance of the Loans Borrower will immediately pay to LC Issuer an amount
equal to such excess."

Section 2.8. Amendment to Section €.2. Section 6.2 of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new Subsection 6.2(g) thereto to read in
its entirety as follows:

"(g) Not less than five (5) Business Days before MCOC or an MCOC
Acguisition Subsidiary incurs any Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness, the Borrower will furnish a certificate stating the amount
and terms of the Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness to be
incurred, identifying the Permitted Canadian Lender(s) providing such
Permitted Canadian Acqguisition Indebtedness, identifying the assets to be
acquired and the identity of the seller and certifying that after giving
effect to such Indebtedness such Indebtedness will meet all of the
conditions for such Indebtedness specified in the definition of "Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness.”

Section 2.89. Amendment to Section 6.3. The second sentence of Subsection
6.3 of the Original Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as
follows:

"Each Restricted Person will permit representatives appointed by
Administrative Agent (and after the occurrence and during the continuance
of an Event of Default, representatives appointed by any Lender) (including
independent accountants, auditors, agents, attorneys, appraisers and any
other Persons) upon reasonable notice to visit and inspect during normal
business hours any of such Restricted Person's property, including its
books of account, other books and records, and any facilities or other
business assets, and to make extra copies therefrom and photocopies and
photographs thereof, and to write down and record any information such
representatives obtain, and each Restricted Person shall permit
Administrative Agent or its representatives (and after the occurrence and
during the continuance of an Event of Default, any Lender or its
representatives) to investigate and verify the accuracy of the information
furnished to Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection with the Loan
Documents, the Acquisition Agreement, the Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness and the KPC Notes and to discuss all such matters with its
officers, employees and representatives."”

Section 2.10. Amendment to Article VI. Article VI of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new Section 6.19 thereto to read in its
entirety as follows:

"Section 6.19 Exercise of Call Rights. 1In connection with the Put/Call
Agreement relating to any particular Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness, Borrower shall, upon demand of Administrative Agent, with the
consent of Required lenders, exercise Borrower's right to "call” such
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness and compel the Permitted
Canadian Lender holding such Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness to
sell, assign, transfer and convey such Permitted
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Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness to Borrower pursuant to the terms of the
applicable Put/Call Agreement."

Section 2.11. Amendment to Section 7.1. Subsection 7.1(e) of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

"(e) inter-company Indebtedness (i) incurred by Borrower or any Guarantor
and payable to Borrower or another Guarantor, or (ii) incurred by a
Canadian Subsidiary and pavable to Borrower, a Guarantor or another
Canadian Subsidiary, including any extensions, renewals and replacements of
any such inter-company Indebtedness; provided that the sum of (&) the
Dollar Eguivalent of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all
loans and advances made by Restricted Persons to Canadian Subsidiaries,
plus (B) the Dollar Eguivalent cof the aggregate amount of all equity
Investments made by Restricted Persons in Canadian Subsidiaries, plus (C)
the Dollar Equivalent of the outstanding principal balance of the Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness does not exceed at any time during the
term of this Agreement forty percent (40%) of Borrower's Consolidated total
a2ssets and Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness,”

Section 2.12. Amendment to Section 7.1. Subsection 7.1(i) of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the word "and" after the word "hereof”
and a new subsection (k) is hereby added to Section 7.1 after the word "prices”
and before the period at the end of subsection (j) to read in its entirety as
follows:

"and (k) Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness."”

Section 2.13. Amendment to Section 7.2. Subsection 7.2(f) of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended to read in its entirety as follows:

"(f) guarantees, including, without limitation, the Put/Call Agreement, by
a Restricted Person of Indebtedness of another Restricted Person permitted
under Section 7.1."

Section 2.14. Amendment to Section 7.6. Subsection 7.6(f) of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

"(f) without duplication of any amounts permitted pursuant to subsection
(c) of this Section, loans or advances made by a Restricted Person to a
Canadian Subsidiary; provided that, after giving effect to the making by
any Restricted Person of any loan or advance to a Canadian Subsidiary, the
sum of (A) the Dollar Eguivalent of the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of all loans and advances made by Restricted Persons to the Canadian
Subsidiaries, plus (B) the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate amount of all
equity Investments made by Restricted Persons in the Canadian Subsidiaries,
plus (C) the Dollar Equivalent of the outstanding principal balance of the
Permitted Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness does not exceed at any time
during
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the term of this Agreement forty percent (40%) of Borrower's Consolidated
total assets or"

Section 2.15. Amendment to Article VII. Article VII of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new Section 7.18 thereto to read in its
entirety as follows:

"Section 7.18 Maintenance of Put/Call Agreement. Borrower shall not
terminate any Put/Call Agreement relating to any particular Permitted
Canadian Acquisition Indebtedness while such Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness is cutstanding and held by a Permitted Canadian Lender."

Section 2.16. Amendment to Article VII. Article VII of the Original
Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new Section 7.19 thereto to read in its
entirety as follows:

"Section 7.19 Refinancing Permitted Canadian Acguisition Indebtedness.
Borrower agrees that only MCCI or a Canadian Finance Subsidiary will
acquire from Permitted Canadian Lenders any Permitted Canadian Acquisition
Indebtedness and upon MCCI's or such Canadian Finance Subsidiary's
acquisition of any such Indebtedness MCCI or such Canadian Finance
Subsidiary shall not further sell, assign, transfer or convey such
Indebtedness or any evidence of such Indebtedness.”

Section 2.17. Amendment to Section 10.16. Subsection 10.16 of the
Original Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the reference to the promissory
note in the original principal amount of "$20,000,000" and substituting
"$2,000,000" therefor.

ARTICLE III - Conditions of Effectiveness

Section 3.1. Effective Date. This Amendment shall become effective as of
the date first above written when, and only when, (i) Administrative Agent shall
have received, at Administrative Agent's office, a counterpart of this Amendment
executed and delivered by Borrower and each lender, (ii) Administrative Agent
shall have additionally received the Consent and Agreement in the form attached
hereto executed by each of the Guarantors, and (iii) Administrative Agent shall
have additionally received the Assignment and Acceptance in the form attached
hereto executed by each of the parties thereto.

ARTICLE IV - Waiver of Notice
Section 4.1. Waiver of Notice Required Under Section 2.14. Each Lender
Party hereby waives the reguirement that Borrower provide not less than thirty
(30) days' prior written notice to Administrative Agent of any requested
increase in the Facility Amount and agrees that this Amendment shall suffice as
such written notice.

ARTICLE V - Representations and Warranties
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Section 5.1. Representations and Warranties of Borrower. In order to
induce each Lender to enter into this Amendment, Borrower represents and
warrants to each Lender that:

(a) The representations and warranties contained in Article V of the
Original BAgreement are true and correct at and as of the time of the
effectiveness hereof, except to the extent that the facts on which such
representations and warranties are bpased have been changed by the extension of
credit under the Credit Agreement and except as such representations and
warranties have been modified pursuant to this Amendment.

(b) Borrower is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Amendment and
is and will continue to be duly authorized to borrow monies and to perform its
obligations under the Credit Agreement. Borrower has duly taken all corporate
action necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Amendment and
to authorize the performance of the obligations of Borrower hereunder.

(c) The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment, the
performance by Borrower of its obligations hereunder and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not conflict with any provision
of law, statute, rule or regulation or the certificate of incorporation or
bylaws of Borrower, or of any material agreement, judgment, license, order or
permit applicable to or binding upon Borrower, or result in the creation of (or
obligation to create) any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any assets or
properties of Borrower. Except for those which have been obtained, no consent,
approval, authorization or order of any court or governmental authority or third
party is required in connection with the execution and delivery by Borrower of
this Amendment or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

(d) When duly executed and delivered, each of this Amendment and the
Original Agreement will be legal and binding obligations of Borrower,
enforceable in accordance with their terms, except as limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar laws of general application relating to the enforcement of
creditors' rights and by equitable principles of general application.

ARTICLE VI - Miscellaneous

Section 6.1. Ratification of Agreements. The Original Agreement as
hereby amended is hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects. The Loan
Documents, as they may be amended or affected by the various Amendment
Documents, are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects. Any reference to
the Credit Agreement in any Loan Document shall be deemed to be a reference to
the Original Agreement as hereby amended. The execution, delivery and
effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein,
operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of Lenders under the Credit
Agreement, the Notes, or any other Loan Document nor constitute a waiver of any
provision of the Credit Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan Document.

Section 6.2. Survival of Agreements. All representations, warranties,
covenants and agreements of Borrower herein shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Amendment and the performance hereof including, without
limitation, the making or granting of the Loans, and shall
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further survive until all of the Obligations are paid in full. All statements
and agreements contained in any certificate or instrument delivered by Borrower
or any Restricted Person hereunder or under the Credit Agreement to any Lender
shall be deemed to constitute representations and warranties by, and/or
agreements and covenants of, Borrower under this Amendment and under the Credit
Agreement.

Section 6.3. ILoan Documents. This Amendment is a Loan Document, and all
provisions in the Credit Agreement pertaining to Loan Documents apply hereto.

Section 6.4. Revised Commitments and Commitment Percentages. Each of the
Lenders agrees and acknowledges that upon the effectiveness of this Amendment,
the Commitment and Commitment Percentage ¢of each Lender will be as set forth on
the Revised Schedule of Commitments and Commitment Percentages appended hereto
as Schedule 1.

Section 6.5. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas and any applicable
laws of the United States of America in all respects, including construction,
validity and performance.

Section 6.6. Counterparts; Fax. This Amendment may be separately
executed in counterparts and by the different parties hereto in separate
counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to constitute one
and the same Amendment. This Amendment and the other Amendment Documents may be
validly executed by facsimile or other electronic transmission.

THIS AMENDMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRICR,
CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO
UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment is executed as of the date first above
written.

MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.,
Borrower

By:

Richard A. Robert
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
Administrative Agent, Lender and LC Issuer

Signature Page 1
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By:

Patrick M. Delaney
Managing Director

BANK ONE, NA,
Syndication Agent and Lender

By:
Name:
Title: Authorized Officer

CIBC INC.,
Documentation Agent and Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK,
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

FLEET NATIONAL BANK,
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

CREDIT AGRICOLE INDOSUEZ,
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

By:
Name :
Title:

To Modcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment
Signature Page 2



SCOTIABANC INC.,
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

PRUDENTIAL SECURITIES CREDIT CORP.,
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

UMB OKLAHOMA BANK,
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

MEESPIERSON CAPITAL CORP.

By:

Darrell W. Holley
Managing Director

By:

Christopher S. Parada
Vice President

TORONTO DOMINION (TEXAS), INC.
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

To Modcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment

Signature Page 3



THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI, LTD.
Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

To Modcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment
Signature Page 4



Commitment

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

SCHEDULE 1

Revised Schedule of Commitments and Commitment Percentages

and Commitment Percentage

Percentage:
Share:

Percentage:
Share:

Percentage:
Share:

Percentage:
Share:

Percentage:
Share:

Percentage:
Share:

Percentage:
Share:

$40,000,000
12%
12%

$40,000,000
12%
12%

$40,000,000
12%
12%

$40,000,000
12%
12%

$30,000,000
9%
9%

$20,000,000
6%
6%

$20,000,000
6%
6%

Schedule 1 Page 1

Lender

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
Lender and LC Issuer

BANK ONE, NA,
Syndication Agent and Lender

CIBC, INC.
Documentation Agent and Lender

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK,
Lender

PRUDENTIAL SECURITIES CREDIT
CORP.
Lender

FLEET NATIONAL BANK
Lender

CREDIT AGRICOLE INDOSUEZ,
Lender

To Modcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

First Amendment



Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Commitment:

Commitment
Percentage

Percentage:

Share:

Percentage:

Share:

Percentage:

Share:

Percentage:

Share:

Percentage:

Share:

TOTAL COMMITMENT

$30,000,000
9%
9%

$ 5,000,000
1%
1%

$20,000,000
6%
6%

$30,000,000
9%
9%

$20,000, 000
6%
6%

SCOTIABANC INC.
Lender

UMB OKLAHOMA BANK
Lender

MEESPIERSON CAPITAL CORP.
Lender

TORONTO DOMINION (TEXAS), INC.
Lender

THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI,
LTD.
Lender

$335,000,000

To Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
First Amendment
Schedule 1 Page 2



Year of State of

Name Incorporation Incorporation
Mid Louisiana Gas Company 1953 Delaware
Creole Gas Pipeline Corporation 196z Louisians
Midcoast Interstate Transmission, Inc. 156¢€ Alabama
H&W Pipeline Corporation* 1¢7¢ ~labama
Nugget Drilling Corporation* 19¢z Minnesotsa
Tennessee River Intrastate Gas Company, Inc. 19¢€e Elabame
Mid Louisiana Gas Transmission 1987 Delaware
Magnolia Pipeline Corporation 19g¢ Elsbamz
Midcoast Marketing, Inc. 1891 Texas
Midcoast Holdings No. One, Inc. 19¢3 Delaware
Magnolia Resources, Inc. 199¢ Mississipp:l
Magnolia Gathering, Inc. 199¢ ~labama
Arcadia/Midcoast Pipeline of New York L.L.C. 1996 New York
Midcoast Gas Pipeline, Inc. 1687 Texas
Pan Grande Pipeline, L.L.C. 15696 Texas
Starr County Gathering System - A Joint Venture N/A N/A
Texana Gas Pipeline - A Joint Venture N/ER N/E
Midcoast Energy Marketing, Inc. 1998 Delaware
Midcoast Gas Services, Inc. 1996 Delaware
Midcoast Del Bajio S. de R.L. de C.V. 1998 Mexico
Midcoast Canada Capital, Inc. 199¢ Canada
Midcoast Canada Operating Corporation 19¢¢ Canada
DPI/Midcoast, Inc. 19¢ge Mississippi
Flare, LLC 1996 Rlabamz
Nova Scotia Company 1908 Canada
Alberta Limited Partnership le8c Canada
Midcoast Canada EZnergy Services, Inc. 1g¢¢ Canada
Midcoasr Kansas Pipeline, Inc. 198¢ Kansas
Midcoast Kansas General Partner, Inc. 185¢ Kansas
MarGasCe Partnership 1¢99¢ Oklahoma
Kansas Pipeline Company General Partnership 19¢¢ Kansas
Mid-Kansas General Partnership 189¢ Kansas
Riverside Pipeline Co. General Partnership 1988 Kansas

* Presently Inactive

MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

EXHIBIT 21.1




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration
Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-70371) and Form S$S-8 (No. 333-33127) of Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc. of our report dated March 10, 2000 relating to the
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, which
appears in this Form 10-K.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Houston, Texas
March 30, 2000



EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration
Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-70371) and Form S-8 (No. 333-33127) of Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc. of our report dated March 18, 1999 relating to the
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules, which

appears in this Form 10-K.
HEIN + ASSOCIATES LLP

Houston, Texas
March 30, 2000
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.
1100 LOUISIANA, SUITE 2950
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TUESDAY, MAY 16, 2000
10:00 A.M. - CENTRAL TIME

MIDCOAST BOARD ROOM
1100 LOUISIANA, 32/nd/ FLOOR
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002

On behalf of our board of directors, we cordially invite you to attend the
2000 Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. Annual Meeting of Shareholders. At the
meeting, we will:

1. Elect the board of directors:;

2. BApprove an amendment to the 1996 Incentive Stock Plan to increase the
number of shares authorized for issuance under the plan by 468,750
shares of common stock to an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares;

3. Conduct other business properly brought before the meeting.

Shareholders who owned our common stock at the close of business on
March 31, 2000 may attend and vote at the meeting. A shareholders' list will be
available at our offices listed above for a period of ten days prior to the
meeting. If you cannot attend the meeting, you may vote by mailing the proxy
card in the enclosed postage-prepaid envelope. Any shareholder attending the
meeting may vote in person, even though he or she has already returned a proxy
card.

WHETHER OR NOT YOU EXPECT TO ATTEND THE MEETING, PLEASE COMPLETE, DATE,
SIGN AND PROMPTLY RETURN THE PROXY IN THE ENCLCSED ENVELOPE. SHAREHOLDERS WHO
ATTEND THE MEETING MAY REVOKE THEIR PROXIES AND VOTE IN PERSON.

You will notice that this year we have changed the format of the proxy
statement to make it easier to understand. The Securities and Exchange
Commission is encouraging companies to write documents for investors in plain
English and we support this effort.

We look forward to seeing you at the meeting.
By order of the board of directors,
/s/ Duane S. Herbst

Duane S. Herbst
Secretary

Houston, Texas
April 17, 2000






U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
[X] CQuarterly Report Under Secticn 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 for the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2000
[ ] Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 0-8898

MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

TEXAS 76-0378638
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

1100 LOUISIANA, SUITE 2950
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

REGISTRANT'S TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE: (713) 650-8900

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports
required to be filed by Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No

On November 14, 2000 there were outstanding 12,491,684 shares of the
Company's common stock, par value $.01 per share.
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GLOSSARY

The following abbreviations, acronyms, or defined terms used in this
Forml0-Q are defined below:

Bbl...... .. ... .. ..., 42 U.S. gallon barrel
Board................. Board of directors of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.
Btu...... ... o o, British thermal unit

Common Stock.......... Midcoast common stock, par value $.01 per share
Company............... Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc., its subsidiaries and

affiliated companies

DPI..... ... ... ... Dufour Petroleum, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

EBITDA. ..., Eernings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization

EPS.. .. i Diluted earnings per share

FASB...... oo, Financial Accounting Standards Board

FERC....... .. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

KPC Acquisition....... The November 1888 acguisition of Kansas Pipeline

Company and MarGasCo

KPC System............ A 1,120-mile interstate transmission pipeline

LIBOR. ... ..t London Inter Bank Offering Rate

Mcf/day.....ovvuienn... Thousand cubic feet of gas (per day)

Midcoast.............. Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

MIDLA Acguisition..... The October 1997 acquisition of the MLGC and MLGT
Systems

MIT Acquisition....... The May 1897 acquisition of the MIT and TRIGAS Systems

MIT System............ A 288-mile interstate transmission pipeline

MLGC System........... A 386-mile interstate transmission pipeline

MLGT System........... A Louisiana intrastate pipeline

MMBtu................. Million British thermal units

MMcf/day.............. Million cubic feet of gas (per day)

NGL..... ..o Natural gas liquid

NOL......ooiviennn... Net operating loss

SeaCrest......ccueuun.. SeaCrest Company, L.L.C., a 70% owned subsidiary of Mid

Louisiana Gas Transmission Company, which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.

SFAS. ... .. i Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

iii



MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

September 3C,
2000

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash ancd cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,180 and $1,484, respectively...
(23 s L T

TOTAL RSSO S . Lttt e e e e $521,354
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES. . . ..ttt ittetiitttn e et e e et et e e e e e e e s 84,157
LONG=TERM DEBT. ..\ttt ittt it ettt s e ettt e e e e e e e e e 249,397
OTHER LIABILITIES. ... .ottt attnnitnatnttetea it et et et e e e e et e e e 2,07¢
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES. . . . utuuunuuunntnnotnenotieanaee et ettt et e e e e 14,694
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 3).uuunun i eian it ee et e e e e -
MINORITY INTEREST IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES. ... ..cuuiunnnnnnneenn e 557
SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY:
Common stock, par value $.01 per share: authorized 31,250,000 shares;
issued 12,732,359 and 12,721,980 shares, respectively 127
Paid-in capital................. I I I S 165,871
Retained earnings {accumulated deficit).... 8,42¢€
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . . . (39
Treasury stock {(at cost), 245,175 and 161,156 shares, (3,915)
Total Shareholders' EQuily...u.ueeionnnee ettt e e e e 170,470
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' EQUITY.......eueierniinnneeneesaannn $ 521,354

December 31,

$478,372

$ 63,97
240,000
2,147
11,034

53¢

127

1€5,964
(2,918
71)
(2,570}

$ 478,372

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated

financial statements.
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES,
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands,

OPERATING REVENUES:
Energy marketing revenue

Transpertation fees.............
Natural gas processing revenue.. . .
1% -

Total OPerating IeVenUeS......ceuecuuenenonanannn

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Energy marketing expenses.................
Natural gas processing costs..
Other cperating expenses..................
Depreciation, depletion and amortization..

General ancd administrative

Total OPEerating eXPenSEeS......ccetcueueeinsannns

OPERATING INCOME ... .. it rtnnnnnnionnnnnnnnnnns

NON~OFERATING ITEMS:

INLEresSt @XPeNSE...uvenrerrcocnnencssanens
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries.
Other income (expense), net

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES......cu.icvuinaneannns

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES:

L2 o -3 o

INC.,

except share data)

SEPTEMBER 3C,

AND SUBSIDIARIES

FOR TEE NINE MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30,

SEPTEMBER 30

2000 199¢ 2000 1999
$ 90,852 S 439,63€ $ 240,294
5,20¢ 44,578 15,540
S, 2€¢ 26,72¢ 10,37¢
517 1,453 1,158
101,644 512,393 2€7,3€L
84,663 415,272 219,717
3,451 17,785 €,352
6,003 22,174 14, €37
1,850 11,364 4,793
1,98¢ 12,804 5,23¢
253,438
10, €97 13,930
(5,328) (775) (14,951 (3,651)
(29) (5} (51) {28)
132 {23 217 (115}
5,476 3,08¢ 18,10¢ 10,13¢
(69) (497 (472) {1,326)
(1,649) 167 (3,659) {221}
s 3,758 S 2,75¢ s 13,978 S 8,589
s 0.2¢€ $ 1.12 $ 1.00
s 0.2¢ s 1.10 $ 0.9¢
12,477,698 10,558,172 12,504, 05¢ 8,585,037
12,725,235 10,795,517 12,728,533 8,804,258

The accompanying notes are an integrzl part of these condensed consolidated

2

financial statements.



MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOCURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDEL

SEPTEMBER 3(, SEPTEMEBER 3C,

200¢ 1o¢&
Net dncome. .. ... i i $3,75¢ $2,75¢
Foreign currency translation adjustment........... (112 7€
Comprehensive INCOME. ... ...t nnrennenennnnnnn.. $3,64¢ $2,83¢€

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 3C, SEPTEMBER 3C,
200¢C 19¢¢
$13 Sg,58¢
(110} (68)
$13,86¢ $€,521

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
financial statements.

3
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSCLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2000 1992 200C 199¢

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
3L A oL T PN § 3,75¢ s 2,75¢ $ 13,97%¢ $ 8, 5e¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
from cperating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortizationh................. 4,174 1,85¢C 11,364 4,783
Deferred income taxes 1,64¢ (167) 3,65% 222
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries.... 28 < S 2¢
Gain on sale of plant assets . . . (101 - (101) -
L T U (317) 72 (236) 3¢
Changes in working capital accounts, net of effects of
acquisitions:
{Increase) decrease in accounts receivable........... (4,130) 2,184 (23,795 (15,147)
(Increase) decrease in other current assets.......... 857 {212) (3,288 (238)
Increase (decrease) in accounts pavable and accruec
B - - 9,757 (12,45%) 19,942
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities............ 15,672 {5,985) 21,574

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Bt LR B B B = o {300) {3,998, {13,320) (34, 388;
Capital expenditures..........o.... e . R 3,786) (3,040) {10,209) {14,788)
Froceeds from sale of plant assets 111 - 111 -
Net advances to equity investee . . 18¢ - 23 -
L £ (€17) (385) {1,618} (187)
Net cash used in investing activities...................iuou... (4,404 (7,423) (25,00¢€) (4%,373)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Bank debt borrowings 18,200 10,243 91,47¢€ 130,613
Bank debt repayments.. {26,426) (26} (82,15C) {135,811)
Net proceeds from equity offering. - - - 54,583
Treasury stock purchases......... (59} - {1,34%5) (2,406)
Dividends on common stock.. PN . . . .- (679) (747) {2,63¢9) {1,668)
L £ (30€) {110} {768} 168
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities............ 9,360 4,574 45,47¢
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASE EQUIVALENTS........... (4,048) 1,142 1,26¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period................. 5,51¢ 2,345 200
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end Of period...c...voveveuennnan... $ 1,468 $ 3,487 $ 1,468
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Cash paid for interest..........ceouiuienen.n. e s 7,257 s 1,077 $ 15,655 H 5, 32¢
Cash paid fOr INCOME TAXES ... .uuiurtrnennneennnnoeeeannennn $ - s 250 $ 1,60C S 310

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated
financial statements.
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial information has
been prepared by Midcoast in accordance with the instructions to Ferm 10-Q. The
unaudited information furnished reflects all adjustments, all of which were of a
normal recurring nature, which are, in the opinion of the Company, necessary for
a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods presented. The
condensed consclidated balance sheet at December 31, 198% is derived from the
audited financial statements. Although the Company believes that the disclosures
are adequate to make the information presented not misleading, certain
information and footnote disclosures, including significant accounting policies,
normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such
rules and regulations. Certain reclassification entries were made with regard
to the condensed consolidated financial statements for the periods presented in
1999 so that the presentation of the information is consistent with reporting
for the condensed consolidated financial statements in 2000. It is suggested
that the financial information be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 199¢.

2. ACQUISITIONS:
PROVOST ACQUISITION

In March 2000, the Company acquired the Provost natural gas plant and
gathering system from NovaGas Canada LP, a division of TransCanada, for
approximately $5.1 million (U.S.). The Provost acquisition includes 80 miles of
natural gas gathering pipeline and a 15 MMcf/day sour gas processing plant and
sour gas injection well. The system is located in east-central Alberta, Canada
and is the only sour gas gethering and processing system in the area. The
system is connected to 21 o0il tank batteries and primarily gathers the
associated sour gas production from approximately 900 wells in the Provost area.
The acquisition was funded through the Company's existing credit facility.

MANYBERRIES ACQUISITION

In April 2000, the Company acquired the Manvberries Pipeline System from
Triumph Energy Corporation for approximately $5.7 million (U.S.). The
Manyberries acquisition consists of 80 miles of 6" and 10 miles of 4" crude oil
pipeline that originates at the Manyberries 0il Field and terminates at an
interconnection with the Milk River Pipeline system in southeast Alberta,
Cenada. Truck terminals, including the Legend terminal, and a significant
amount of crude oil storage also contribute to the operations. The system has a
design capacity of approximately 21,000 Bbls/day and transports light sour crude
oil from the Manyberries oil field, as well as additional crude oil volumes from
the Legend truck terminal. The pipeline system is the only light gravity system
in southern Rlberta and current volumes are approximately 6,500 Bbls/day. The
acquisition was funded through the Company's existing credit facility.

3. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS

Certain executive officers of the Company have entered into employment
contracts, which through emendments provide for employment terms of varying
lengths the longest of which expires in December 2002. These agreements may be
terminated by mutual consent or at the option of the Company for cause, death or
disability. In the event termination is due to death, disability or defined
changes in the ownership of the Company, the full amount of compensation
remaining to be paid during the term of the agreement will be paid to the
employee or their estate, after discounting at 12% to reflect the current value
of unpaid amounts.



MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARES
NOTES TO UNARUDITED CONLENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

MIT ACQUISITION CONTINGENCY

As part of the Company's MIT Acquisition, the Company has agreed to pay
additional contingent annual payments, which will be treated as deferred
purchase price adjustments, not to exceed $250,000 per year. The amount each
vear is dependent upon revenues received by the Company from certain gas
transportation contracts. The contingency is due over an eight-vear period
commencing April 1, 1998 and pavable at the end of each anniversary date. The
Company is obligated to pay annually the lesser of 50% of the gross revenues
received under these contracts or $250,000. Through September 30, 2000, the
Company has made payments of $500,000 and has accrued an additional $125, 000
under the contingency.

DPI ACQUISITION CONTINGENCY

As part of the DPI acquisition, the Company agreed that, in the event that
the Company approves certain long-term DPI or Flare projects and these projects
are placed under contract and in service, the Company would be obligated to pay
the DPI shareholders additional consideration of up to $2.5 million. This
contingency expires on March 11, 2002. As of September 30, 2000, none of the
identified projects have been constructed and therefore no contingent pavments
have been accrued.

RATES AND REGULATORY MATTERS

Each of our transmission pipeline systems has contracts covering a portion
of their firm transportation capacity with various terms of maturity, and each
operates in different markets and regions with different competitive and
regulatory pressures which can impact their ability to renegotiate and renew
existing contracts, or enter into new long-term firm transportation commitments.

KPC filed a rate case pursuant to Section 4 of the NGR on August 27, 199¢
(FERC Docket No. RP99-485-000). KPC's proposed rates reflect an annual revenue
increase when compared to its initial FERC-approved rates. The rates have been
protested by KPC's two principal customers and by the state public utility
commissions that regulate them. On September 30, 1999, the FERC issued an order
that set KPC's proposed rates for hearing and accepted and suspended the rates
to be effective March 1, 2000, subject to possible refund. However, through
September 30, 2000, KPC is continuing to charge its customers the initial FERC-
approved rates. Additionally, the two customers have been paying only a portion
of the Company's invoices pursuant to their protest of the current rates. The
resultant unpaid balance from both customers at September 30, 2000 was
approximately $432,000. The Section 4 rate case proceeding will determine
whether the rates proposed by KPC for interstate transportation of natural gas
are just and reasonable, and to the extent which KPC may recover all or any part
of the proposed rate increzse that it has not charged to its customers prior to
approval. The hearing related to the proposed increase commenced on September
26, 2000 and concluded on October 20, 2000. A final Commission decision is not
expected until at least the fourth quarter of 2001.

While we cannot predict with certainty the final outcome or timing of the
resolution of rates and regulatory matters, the outcome of our current re-
contracting and capacity subscription efforts, or the outcome of ongoing
industry trends and initiatives, we believe the ultimate resolution of these
issues will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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MIDCORST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CORDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are presented below for the

three months and nine months ended September 30 (in thousands, except per share
amounts):

L THREE MONTHS ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2000

Average Average

Shares Earnings Pe: Shares Earnings Per
Net Income Outstanding Share Net Income OQutstandang Share
Basic.... ...l $3,7SE 12,47¢€ §.3¢ $2,75€ 10,55¢ $.2¢

Effect of cilutive sec
Steck options........
Warrants..

10, 75¢ 5.2¢

Diluted. ..ot

200¢

Average Rverage
Shares Earnings Per Shares
Outstanding Share Net Income Outstanding Share

BASLC. .ttt iiiiii e 12,504 $1.12 $8,589 8,885 5:.00
Eftect of dalutivi
Stock options. .. - 165 (.02 - 15¢€ (.02
WALTANLS . vt eeeee e, - 60 - - €3 Wy -
Diluted. ... .iiiiiiiiania., §12.97¢8 12,729 s1.1¢0 58,58¢ 8,804
S. SEGMENT DATA:

The Company conducts its business of gathering, transporting, processing
and marketing natural gas and other petroleum products through its transmission,
end-user, and processing and gathering segments. The Company's coperations are
segregated into reportable segments based on the type of business activity and
type of customer served. The Company's transmission pipelines primarily receive
and deliver natural gas to and from other pipelines, and secondarily, provide
end-user or gathering functions. Transportation fees are received by the Company
for transporting natural gas owned by other parties through the Company's
pipeline systems. The Company's end-user pipelines provide natural gas and
natural gas transportation services to industrial customers, municipalities or
electrical generating facilities through interconnect natural gas pipelines
constructed or acquired by the Company. These pipelines provide a direct supply
of natural gas to new industrial facilities or to existing facilities as an
alternative to the local distribution company. The Company's processing and
gathering systems typically consist of a network of pipelines which collect
natural gas or crude oil from points near producing wells, process the natural
gas, and transport oil and natural gas to larger pipelines for further
transmission. The Company's natural gas processing revenues are realized from
the extraction and sale of NGL's as well as the sale of the residual natural
gas. In addition, the Company provides natural gas marketing services to its
customers within each of the three segments. The Company's marketing activities
include providing natural gas supply and sales services to some of its end-user
customers by purchasing the natural gas supply from other marketers or pipeline
affiliates and reselling the natural gas to the end-user. The Company also
purchases natural gas directly from well operators on many ¢f the Company's
gathering systems and resells the natural gas to other marketers or pipeline
affiliates. Many of the contracts pertaining to the Company's natural gas
marketing activities are month-to-month spot market transactions with numerous
gas suppliers or producers in the industry. The Company also offers other
natural gas services to some of its customers including management of capacity
release and gas balancing.

The Company evaluates each of its segments on a gross margin basis, which
is defined as the revenues of the segment less related direct costs and expenses
of the segment and does not include depreciation, depletion and amortization,
interest or allocated corporate overhead. The "Other" column includes results of
processing plant construction projects, which includes planning, fabrication,
installation and facility operations and management as
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

well as general corporate items. The accounting policies of the segments are the
gsame as those described in the Company’s Znnual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1999. The following tables present certain financial
information relating to the Company's business segments as of or for the three
months and nine months ended September 30, 2000 znd 1999:

AS OF OR FOR THE TEREL MONTHS ENDED SEFTEMBER 3C, 200C

Transmission End-User Gathering ang
Fipelines Pipelines Processing Other Total
{In thcusands:

Revenues:

D o Y S 64,312 $ 87,822 $ €47 $196,415

Forelgn. ... e - 1,261 - 1,261
Total ReVERUES... ... .. ..iiiuiiiennnnnennannnn. 64,312 B9, 083 647 197,6%¢
Gross MarXGil. .. ...ttt e e e e 12,585z 3,49¢ 847 19,317
Depreciation, Depletiocn and Amortization........ (2,018) i {1,601 (278 (4,174
General and Administrative...............c...... - - {4,44¢) {4,446)
Interest Expense - - (5,328) (5,328
Other, met. .. ... .. ittt - - 107 107
Income before Income TaXeS...........uvumeunenn. 10,53 2,343 1,897 (9,298) 5,47¢
Assets:

DOmME S LAt ot ittt e e e e 121,970 9,717 495,422

Foreign 25,932 - 25,932

TOta) ASSeTS. ittt e 902 g,717% 521,254

Capital Expenditures {excluding acquisitions) 795 663 3,78¢

THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1999
Transmission End-User Gathering and
Pipelines Pipelines Processing Other Total
Ir thousands)

Revenues:

T §25,53C $3z,88¢9 $ 42,372 S 517 $101, 308

FOreign. « ettt e e e - 53¢ - 53¢
Total ReVeNUEeS. ...ttt tennnenennnnnnnnnnn 25,530 32,88¢% 42,90¢ $17 101,844
GrosSs Margin.. ... it n ittt e 3,562 2,218 1,42¢% 517 7,727
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization. {3521 {251) (1,126) (121} (1,850)
General and Administrative............... - - (1,98¢) {1,986}
Interest Expense............. - - - {775) (775)
[0 2T S L - - - (28) (28)
Income before Income TaXeS..........uowuurunnnn.. 1, 96¢ 303 (2,393) 3,088
Assets:

DOmeStiC. ottt e e 67,704 90, €77 g,901 240,521

Foredgn. . i e e - 14,562 - 14,563

Total ASsetsS......... ... uiiiniiiiiaiian., €7,704 105,240 8,901 255,084
Capital Expenditures (excluding acquisitions)... 579 682 €56 3,040




MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000

Transmission End-User Gathering and
Pipelines Pipelines

Revenues:

Domestic

Foreign
Total Revenues...... ... ... ..........uuuinnn.... . 728 rl M £12,3¢83
GIOSs Margim......ooiiiuuniiniin .. 33,813 €, 647 1%,14¢ X 57,0€2
Depreciation, Depletion and Am (5,803 (798 (4,011, { (11,363
General and Administrative e - - - (12,804}
Interest Expense........... . - - - (14,9515
OTREX, MeL. ...ttt et - - - le¢
income before Income TaXeS...................... 2€,01¢ S, 84¢ 11,136 (2€,€88) 1e,10¢
Capital Expenditures {excluding acquisitions)... 773 4,90¢ 3,112 1,411 10,208

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1995

Transmission End-User Gathering and Cther Total
Pipelines Fipelines Processing

(In thousands)

Revenues:
L A §50,¢99% $90, 491 $ 1,155 5266,1€2
Foreign - 1,202 - 1,202
TOtal ReVeNUeS........¢ovviiinconcnaeennnnnnn... 90,99¢ 91,693 1,155% 267,365
Gross Margin..........couvuuun., 10,15¢ 5,829 7.52¢ 1,15¢ 24,65¢%
Depreciation, Depletion and amec (1,088 (677) (2,705 {322) 14,793)
Genera2l and Administrative.... - - - (5,936) (5,936)
Interest EXpense.......... .. - - - (2,651) {3,651)
OtheX, Mmet.....e.iiiiniiiiiiii i eiaaananaa... - - - (142) {142
Income before INCome TaXeS......cuowweeennon..... 9,06¢ 5,148 4,820 (5,898) 10, 13¢
Capital Expendittres (excluding acquisitions)... . 5,9¢7 4,431 3,251 1,13¢ 14,78¢
6. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT YET ADOPTED:

The FASB issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities™ in June 1998. This Statement establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts, (collectively referred to as
derivatives) and for hedging activities. SFAS No. 133 will require the Company
to record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. If certain
conditions are met, a derivative may be specifically designated as (a) a hedge
of the exposure to changes in the fair value of & recognized asset or liability
Or an unrecognized firm commitment, (b) a hedge of the exposure to wvariable
cash flows of a forecasted transaction, or (c) a hedge of the foreign currency
exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation, an unrecognized firm
commitment, an available-for-sale security, or a foreign-currency denominated
forecasted transaction. The accounting for the changes in the fair value of a
derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting
designation. The ineffective portion of a hedging derivative's change in fair
value will be immediately recognized in earnings. The impact of SFAS No. 133 on
the Company's financial statements will depend on a variety of factors,
including future interpretative guidance from the FASB, the extent of the
Company's hedging activities, the types of hedging instruments used and the
effectiveness of such instruments. The standard was amended by SFAS No. 137,
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - Deferral of the
Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133", in June 1999 and SFAS No. 138,
"Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities",
in June 2000 and is effective for fiscal years
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company does not believe adoption of this
pronouncement will materially effect the Company's consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin (SAB) Neo. 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements”, to provide guidance for revenue recognition issues and disclosure
requirements. Subsegquently, the SEC issued SAB No. 1012, "Amendment: Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements", SAB No. 101B, "Second Amendment: Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements”, which ultimately delayed implementation to
the fourth quarter of fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1999. SAB No.
101 covers a wide range of revenue recognition topics and summarizes the staff's
interpretations on the application of generally accepted accounting principles
to revenue recognition. The Company does not believe this standard will have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

7. UNUSUAL CHARGE:

During the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company recorded a pre-tax unusual
charge totaling $2.7 million ($2.2 million after tax) related to streamlining
efforts announced in November 1999. The charge primarily relates to the
severance and benefits of approximately 50 employees who were involuntarily
terminated. The following table shows the status of, and changes to, the
restructuring reserve for the first nine months of 2000.

Reserve at December 31, 199%........ ... $ 1,701,009)
Expenditures. ...ttt e e (1,568,009)
Reserve at September 30, 2000..... ... s 133,000
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with
the unaudited condensec conscol:dated financial statements of the Company
included elsewhere herein and with the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year endecd December 31, 159%.

GENERAL

Since its formation, the Company has crown significantly as a result of the
construction and acquisition of new pipeline facilities. From January 19%¢
thrcugh September 2000, the Companv acquired or constructed 76 systems for an
aggregate cost c¢f zpprcximately $384 million. The Ccmpany believes the
historical results of operations co not fully reflect the operating efficiencies
and improvements that are expected to be achieved by integrating the acguired
and newly constructed pipeline systems. As the Company pursues its growth
strategy in the future, its financial positicn and results of operations may
fluctuate significantly from period to periog.

The Company's results of operations are determined primarily by the volumes
cf natural gas transportec, purchased and sold through its pipeline systems or
processed at its processing facilities. With the excegtion of the Company's
natural gas processing activities, whose margins fluctuate with commodity
prices, the Company's revenues are derived from fee-based sources. In addition,
most of the Company's operating costs do not vary directly with volumes on
existing systems, thus, increases or decreases in transportation volumes
generally have a direct effect on net income. The Company derives its revenues
from three primary sources: (i) the marketing of natural gas and other petroleum
products, (ii) transportation fees from ripeline systems owned by the Company
and (iii) the processing of natural gas.

The Company's marketing revenues are realized through the purchase and
resale of natural gas and other petroleum products to the Company's customers.
Generally, gas marketing activities will generate higher revenues and
correspendingly higher expenses than revenues and expenses associated with
transportation activities, given the same volumes of natural gas. This
relationship exists because, unlike revenues derived from transportation
activities, gas marketing revenues and associated expenses include the full
comnodity price of the natural gas acquired. The operating income the Company
recognizes from its gas marketing efforts is the difference between the price at
which the natural gas was purchased and the price at which it was resold to the
Company's customers. The Company's strategy is to focus its marketing activities
on Company owned pipelines. The Company's marketing activities have historically
varied greatly in response to market fluctuations.

Transportation fees are received by the Company for transporting natural
gas cr crude oil owned by other parties through the Company's pipeline systems,
transport trucks and reailcars. Typically, the Company incurs very little
incremental operating or administrative overhead cost to transport natural gas
through its pipeline assets, thereby recognizing a substantial portion of
incremental transportation revenues as operating incoeme.

The Company's natural gas processing revenues are realized from the
extraction and sale of NGL's as well as the sale of the residual natural gas.
These revenues occur under processing contracts with producers of natural gas
utilizing both a "percentage of proceeds" and "keep-whole” basis. The contracts
based on percentage of proceeds provide that the Company receives a percentage
of the NGL's and residual natural gas revenues as a fee for processing the
producer's natural gas. The keep-whole centracts recuire that the Company
reimburse the producers for the Btu energy equivalent of the NGL's and fuel
removed from the natural gas as a result of processing and the Company retains
all revenues from the sale of the NGL's. The Company's processing margins can be
adversely affected by ceclines in NGL prices, the relationship ¢f NGL prices to
natural gas prices, declines in natural gas throuchput, ©or increases in
shrinkage or fuel costs. In the case of keep-whole contracts, margins can be
adversely affected by increases in natural gas prices. The Company uses over the
counter swaps to hedge its physical exposure to processing spread risk.
Processing spreads are the difference between the price the company receives for
the sale of natural gas liguids and the price it pays for the natural gas
equivalent on a2 heating value basis (MMBtu's). The Company has locked in a fixed
processing spread on approximately 70% of its NGL production through December
2000.

The Company has had quarter-to-quarter fluctuations in its financial
results in the past due to the fact that the Ccmpany's natural gas sales anc
pipeline throughputs can be affected by changes in demand for natural gas
primarily because of the weather. In particular, demand on the Magnolia, MIT and
MIDLA systems fluctuates due to weather variations because of the large
municipal and other seasonal customers that are served by the respective
systems. As a result, the winter months have historically generated more income
than summer months on these systems. There can be no assurances that the
Company's efforts to minimize such effects will have any impact on future
quarter-to-quarter fluctuations due to changes in demand resulting from
variations in weather conditions. Furthermcore, future results could differ
materially from historical
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results due to a number of factors including, but not limited, to interruption
Oor cancellation of existing contracts, the impact of competitive products and
services, pricing of and demand for such products and services, and the presence
of competitors with greater financial resources.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company has acquired or constructed numerous pipelines since January
1996. The purchased assets were acquired from numerous sellers at different
periods and all were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting for
business combinations. Accordingly, the results of operations for such
acquisitions are included in the Company's financial statements only from the
applicable date of the acguisition. As a consequence, the historical results of
operations for the periods presented may not be comparable.

For the three months ended September 30, 2000, the Company had total
revenues of $187.7 million, a 94% increase, primarily driven by increases in
commodity prices and acqguisitions, from $101.8 million during the same period in
1998. Operating income improved 175% and net income improved 36% to $10.7
million and $3.8 million from $3.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively, in
1999. Diluted earnings per common share were $0.30 as compared to $0.26 per
share in the third quarter of 1999. The Company's results for the past guarter
were positively impacted by the addition of acquisition and expansion projects
completed over the past year, strong throughput volume growth, particularly in
the transmission and gathering/processing segments, along with improved
processing margins due to higher commodity prices. These gains were partially
offset by an increase in the Company's interest expense as a result of higher
outstanding debt levels and an increase in its weighted average interest rate
from 6.3% in the third quarter last year to 7.8% this year. Recently, the
Company has taken steps to partially insulate itself from further interest rate
increases by entering into a cancelable interest rate swap. Based on the
Company's existing borrowing rate spreads, this swap effectively converts $100
million of floating rate debt to a fixed rate of 7.45% for a period of three
years or until the counterparty cancels the swap at their option. Also impacting
results during the past quarter was an increase in the Company's effective
income tax rate to 31.4%, as compared to 10.7% last year due to the utilization
of NOL carryforwards in prior periods and an 18% increase in the weighted
average number of diluted common shares outstanding for the quarter resulting
from the December 199% public stock offering.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2000, the Company had total
revenues of $512.4 million, a 92% increase, primarily driven by increases in
commodity prices and acquisitions, from $267.4 million during the same period in
1999. Operating income improved 136% and net income improved 63% to $32.9
million and $14.0 million from $13.9 million and $8.6 million, respectively, in
1999. Diluted earnings per common share were $1.10 as compared to $0.98 per
share for the nine months ended September 30, 1999. Variations for each segment
are discussed in the segment results below.

SEGMENT RESULTS

The Company has segregated its business activities into three segments:
Transmission Pipelines, End-User Pipelines, and Gathering Pipelines and Natural
Gas Processing. The following tables present certain data for each of the
segments for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2000 and
September 30, 1999. As previously discussed, the Company provides marketing
services to its customers. For analysis purposes, the Company accounts for the
marketing services by recording the marketing activity on the operating segment
where it occurs. Therefore, the gross margin for each segment includes a
transportation component and a marketing component. The Company evaluates each
of its segments on a gross margin basis, which is defined as the revenues of the
segment less related direct costs and expenses of the segment and does not
include depreciation, depletion and amortization, interest or allocated
corporate overhead.
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TRANSMISSION PIPELINES

FOR THE TEREEZ MCNTHS ENDED FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2000 1906 2000 199¢

OPERATING REVENUES:

Energy Marketing RevVenUe...............ceeuiuueunnn. $24,234 $141,089 $79,024

Transportation Fees....... ... ..., 1,29¢ 27,666 4,494
TOTAL CPERATING REVENUES. .. .....ouiinneninnnn.. 25,530 168,723 83,518

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Energy Marketing CoSts. .. ...ttt innnnnnnaenan.. 20,832 129,311 69,764

Operating ExXpenses. .... ... ... ... iiiennnnn 1,13¢ 5,601 3,600
TCTAL OPERATING EXPENSES. ... ... ..., 21,96¢ 134,912 73,364
GROSS MARGIN...... e e 3,562 $ 33,813 $10,154

VOLUME (in MMBtu;

Marketing. . ..o i e e e 13,857 10,15¢ 40,708 35,940

TranSPOYLAtION. L ottt ittt it e e et 28,036 12,782 84,44¢ 40,873
TOTAL VOLUME. ...ttt e ittt et iea e iaaans 41,893 22,938 125,157 76,813
GROSS MARGIN per MMBLU. ... .c.vivuenninnennnnn.. $.30 $.16 $.27 $.13

THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000 COMPARED TO THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER
30, 1999

Gross margin for the three menths ended September 30, 2000 increased 252%
or $9.0 million over the same period in 1999 due to increases in transportation
fees (57.6 million) and marketing margins ($2.0 million) offset by increased
operating expenses ($0.6 million). The $7.6 million increase in transportation
fees was a result of the KPC acquisition in November 1999 and increased
throughput volumes on the MIT system. The $2.0 million increase in marketing
margins was a result of increased margins on the MIDLA system associated with
new customers coming on-line in the third guarter 2000, increased throughput
volumes on the Magnolia system and the MarGasCo acquisition in November 1999.
The $0.6 million increase in operating expenses was a result of the KPC
acquisition.

NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000 COMPARED TO NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
1999

Gross margin for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 increased 233% or
$23.7 million over the same period in 1999 due tc increases in transportation
fees ($23.2 million) and marketing margins ($2.5 million) offset by increased
operating expenses ($2.0 million). The $23.2 million increase in transportation
fees was a result of the KPC acquisition in November 1999 and increased
throughput volumes on the MIT system. The $2.5 million increase in marketing
margins was a result of increased margins on the MIDLA system associated with
new customers coming on-line in the third quarter 2000, increased throughput
volumes on the Magnolia system and the MarGasCo acquisition in November 1999.
The $2.0 million increase in operating expenses was a result of the KPC
acquisition.
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END-USER PIPELINES

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED FOR THE NINE MCNTHS ENDED
September 30, September 30, September 3C, September 30,
2000 1996 2000 1999

{In thousands, except amounts per MMBtu)

OPERATING REVENUES:

Energy Marketing RevenUe..........ccuuiinninnnnnnnn.. $42,624 $32,071 $114,773 $88,415

Transportation FeesS.......u.uein e, 1,010 glg 2,668 2,584
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES..........o0vireumnen... 43,634 3z,88¢ 117,442 90,999

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Energy Marketing COSTS. . .iunnen e e, 40,834 30,558 110,327 84,524

OPErating EXDeNSeS. ... v e inen e, 180 112 487 250
TOTAL CPERATING EXPENSES........ovviinennnnn.. 41,014 30,870 110,794 85,174
GROSS MARGIN. ..ttt ittt ittt iee et i $ 2,620 § 2,219 $ 6,647 $ 5,825

VOLUME (in MMBtu)

Marketing. oo e 11,723 12,927 36,285

TranSPOrtat 0N ittt et e e 6,21¢ 5,304 15,443
TOTAL VOLUME. ...ttt ie e e ee e e 17,93¢ 18,231 51,728
GROSS MARGIN per MMBU....o.uvrurnannanannnn.. $.15 $.12 $.11

THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000 COMPARED TO THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER
30, 1999

Gross margin for the three months ended September 30, 2000 increased 18% or
$0.4 million over the same period in 1999 due to increases in transportation
fees ($0.2 million) and marketing margins ($0.3 million) offset by increased
operating expenses ($0.1 million). The $0.2 million increase in transportation
fees was due to increased industrial demand and the full quarter operations of
the Jummonville system. The $0.3 million increase in marketing margins was due
to the full quarter operations of the Chevron system and increases in volumes
on higher margin systems. The $0.1 million increase in operating expenses was
due primarily to the Southern Industrial acquisition.

NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000 COMPARED TO NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
1999

Gross margin for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 increased 14% or
$0.8 million over the same period in 1999 due to increases in transportation
fees ($0.1 million) and marketing margins ($0.9 million) offset by increased
operating expenses ($0.2 million). The $0.1 million increase in transportation
fees was due to increased industrial demand and year-to-date operations of the
Jummonville system. The $0.9 million marketing margin increase was due to the
Chevron system and increases in volumes on higher margin systems. The $0.2
million increase in operating expenses was due primarily to the Southern
Industrial acquisition.
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GATHERING PIPELINES AND NATURAL GAS PROCESSING

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2000 189¢ 2000 189¢

{In thousands, except amounts per MMBtu)

OFERATING REVENUES:

Energy Marketing ReVenUe............cuoouvuumnunonn... $74,12¢ £34,547 $183,804 $72,855

Transportation Ffees 4,91¢ 3,092 14,244 €,462
Processing Revenues 10,037 5,2€¢ 26,726 10,37¢
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES.........vvevennnnnn... £e,083 42,90¢ 224,774 51,€83
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Energy Marketing CoStS.....uorvaennnnnnnenaannnnn., 72,861 33,273 175,734 €5,C02¢
Operating Expenses .. 5,803 4,755 1€,107 1c,7¢7
Lot 8 T B o= T ¢,821 3,452 17,784 g,352
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES.....cevuuinrnnnnn.o.... 85,588 41,47¢ 209,825 84,168
GROSS MARGIN. ...ttt et e iaarnnnrennnnnnnn $ 3,498 $ 1,428 $ 15,149 § 7,52¢
mmoanx sexzexs - =emmaE=
VOLUME (in MMBtu)
Marketing 15,36¢ 5,400 40,321 23,845
Transportation 35,320 23,6068 95,875 66, 39¢
Processing............ 4,195 3,063 11,782 7,104
TOTAL VOLUME. . et ittt et aaieseaannnnnns 54,881 35,072 14¢g,04¢ 97,347
...... = =rxzmm== S u—— ==mmea
GROSS MARGIN per MMBTU........ccvvvennnnnennn... $ .06 s .04 $ .10 $ -08

THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000 COMPARED TO THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER
30, 1999

Gross margin for the three months ended September 30, 2000 increased 145%
or $2.1 million over the same period in 1999 due to increased processing margins
($1.4 million) and the earnings impact of acquisitions in the gathering and
transportation areas ($1.8 million) offset by increases in operating expenses
($1.1 million). The $1.4 million increase in processing margins was due to
increased volumes provided by the Gloria and Provost acquisitions and increased
margins per MMBtu due to average increased NGL prices of $0.16 per gallon on
percentage of proceeds contracts. The $1.8 million increase in transportation
fees was due to increased throughput volumes provided by the Shelco, Manyberries
and Seacrest acquisitions. The $1.1 million increase in operating expenses was
due to the Shelco, Manyberries, Seacrest, Gloria and Colorado County
acquisitions.

NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000 COMPARED TO NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
1999

Gross margin for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 increased 101% or
$7.6 million over the same period in 1999. This increase was due primarily to
the benefits of acquisitions in transportation and processing and increased NGL
prices and processing spreads. Marketing margins, transportation fees and
processing margins before operating expense increased by $12.9 million primarily
due to increased volumes from the acquisitions of DPI and the Calmar facility in
March 1999, several offshore gathering systems in mid third quarter 1999, and
Provost, Shelco and Manyberries in 2000. In addition, processing spreads on our
unhedged NGL production increased approximately $0.64 per MMBtu from the same
period in 1999. The Company's NGL hedging activity also locked in 2000 spreads
that were an average of $0.10 per MMBtu higher than processing spread levels for
the first nine months of 1999. This was offset by an increase in operating
expense of $5.3 million from the acquisitions discussed above.
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OTHER INCOME, COSTS AND EIXPENSES

Other revenuves for the three anc nine months ended September 30, 2000
increased to $0.6 million and S$1.4 million, respectively, from $0.5 million andg
$€1.2 million for the same periods in 199¢. This increase was primarily
attributable to an increase in income earned on processing plant construction
projects, which includes planning, fabrication, installation and facility
cperations and managemen-<.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2000 increased to $4.2 million anc S11.4 million, respectively,
from $1.9 million and 5¢.% million for the szame periods in 189¢. This increase
was primarily due to increased depreciation and amcrtization on assets acqguired
in the KPC, DPI/Flare, Calmar, Manyberries, and Provost acguisitions.

General &nd administrative expenses for the three and nine months endad
September 30, 2000 increasecd te $4.4 million and $132.8 million, respectively
from $2.0 million anc $5.¢ million for the same pericds in 189¢. The increase
was due to increased costs associated with the management of the assets acquired
in the KPC, DPI/Flare and Calmar accuisitions. General ancd administrative
expenses, as a percentage of gross margin, cdecreased tc 22% for the nine months
ended September 30, 2000 from 24% for the same period in 19899,

Interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000
increased to $5.3 million and $15.0 millior from $1.0 million and $2.7 millien,
respectfully, for the same periods in 199%. This increase was due to an
increase in the debt level as well a2s an increase :in the weighted average
interest rate. The Company was servicing an average ¢f $256.5 million and
$256.0 million in debt for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000 as
compared to $66.7 million anc $86.9 million in debt for the same periods in
1999. The increased debt level in 2000 was primarily associated with the debt
used to finance the Company's KPC acquisition in November 1999. The Company's
weighted average interest rate for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2000 increased to 7.8% respectively, from 6.3% for the same periods in 199%.

INCOME TAXES

The Company's income tax provision for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2000 increased to $1.7 million and S4.1 million, respectively,
from $0.3 million and $1.5 million in 199%. The Company's effective tax rate
for the three and nine menths ended September 30, 2000 increased to 31.4% and
22.8%, respectively, from 10.7% and 15.3% in 1999 due to the utilization of NOL
carryforwards in prior periods. The effective tax rate for the remainder of
2000 is expected to be closer to the federal statutory rate of 34%.

As of September 30, 2000, the Company has NOL carryforwards of approximately
$12.4 million, expiring in various amounts from 2004 through 2018. The ability
of the Company to utilize the carryforwards is dependent upon the Company
generating sufficient taxable income and will be affected by limitations
(currently estimated at $6.0 million) on the use of such carryforwards for 2000
due to z change in shareholder contrecl under section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code created by the acquisitions of Republic and DPI.

RATES AND REGULATORY MATTERS

Each of our transmission pipeline systems has contracts covering a portion
of their firm transportation capacity with varicus terms of maturity, and each
operates in different markets and regions with different competitive anc
regulatory pressures which can impact their ability to renegotiate and renew
existing contracts, or enter into new long-term firm transportation commitments.

KPC filed a rate case pursuant to Section 4 of the NGA on August 27, 1999
(FERC Docket No. RP99-485-000). KPC's proposed rates reflect an annual revenue
increase when compared to its initial FERC-approved rates. The rates have been
protested by KPC's two principal customers and by the state public utility
commissions that regulate them. On September 30, 1999, the FERC issued an order
that set KPC's proposed rates for hearing and accepted and suspended the rates
to be effective March 1, 2000, subject to possible refund. However, through
September 30, 2000, KPC is continuing to charge its customers the initial FERC-
spproved rates. Additionally, the two customers have beesn paying only a portion
of the Company's invoices pursuant to their protest of the current rates. The
resultant unpaid balance from both customers at September 30, 2000 was
approximately $432,000. The Section 4 rate case proceeding will determine
whether the rates proposed by KPC for interstate transportation of natural gas
are just and reasonable, and to the extent which KPC may recover all or any part
of the proposed rate increase that it has not charged to its customers prior to
approval. The hearing related to the
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proposed increase commenced on September 26, 2000 and concluded on October 20,
2000. A final Commission decision is not expected until at least the fourth
quarter of 2001.

While we cannot predict with certainty the final outcome or timing of the
resclution of rates and regulatory matters, the outcome of our current re-
contracting and capacity subscripticn efforts, or the outcome of ongoing
industry trends and initiatives, we believe the ultimste resolution of these
issues will not have a materiel acdverse effect on our consolidated financial
pcsitien, results of cperations, or cash flows.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

Since 1996, the Company has acquired approximately $384 million of pipeline
systems. Capital reguirements have been funded through eguity infusions from
commen stock offerings, borrowings from various commercial banks and cash flow
from operations.

The Company has raisec net proceeds of approximztely $128 million in four
common stock offerings since being listed on the American Stock Exchange in
August 1996. These capital infusions and the stability of our cash flow has
sllowecd the Cempany the financial flexibility to uvtilize lower cost conventional
bank debt financing to fund a large part of its growth. The Company's long-term
debt te total capitalization ratio increased to 59% at September 30, 2000 from
33% at September 30, 1999.

In November 1899, March 2000 and again in June 2000, the Company amended and
restated its bank financing agreement under the certain Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement dated August 31, 1998. The amencments added additicnal banks
to the syndicate, increased our borrowing availability, modified our letter of
credit facility, extended the maturity five years to November 2004, modified
financial covenants, established waiver and amendment approvals, and changed the
methed to determine the interest rate to be chargec.

The amendments to the credit agreement increased our borrowing availability
from $125 million to $300 million, with a provisicn to increase up to $400
million. The amended credit agreement provides becrrowing availability as
follows: (i) up to & $50 million sublimit for the issuance of standby and
commercial letters of credit and (ii) the difference between the $300 million
and the used sublimit available as 2 revelving credit facility. At the option
of the Company, becrrowings under the amended credit agreement accrue interest at
LIBOR plus an applicable margin cr the higher of the Bank of America prime rate
or the Federal Funds (base rate borrowings) rate plus an applicable margin.

The applicable margin percentage to be added to the interest rate is based on
the Company's debt to total capitalization ratio at the end of the previous
fiscal quarter. The Company is charged a margin between 1.0% and 1.75% on LIBOR
based borrowings and between (0.0% and 0.25% on base rate borrowings as the
Company's total debt to total capitalization ratio ranges at or below 40% up tc
65%, respectively. The Company is currently being charged margins of 1.5% on
LIBOR borrowings and no margin on base rate borrowings.

The credit agreement is secured by all accounts receivable, contracts, and the
pledge of all of our subsidiaries' stock and a first lien security interest in
our pipeline systems. It also contains a number of customary covenants that
require us tc maintain certain financial ratios and limit our ability to incur
additional indebtedness, transfer or sell assets, create liens, or enter into a
merger or consolidation. At September 30, 2000, the Company had approximately
$50.6 million of available capacity under its credit agreement.

The Company believes that its credit agreement and funds provided by
operations will be sufficient to meet its operating cash needs for the
foreseeable future and its projected capital expenditures, other than
acquisitions.

If sufficient funds under the credit agreement are not available to fund
acquisition and construction projects, the Company would seek to cobtain such
financing from the sale of eguity securities or other debt financing. There can
be no assurances that any such financing will be available on terms acceptable
to the Company. Should sufficient capital not be available, the Company will
not be zble to implement its growth strategy in as aggressive a manner as
currently planned.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SAFETY MATTERS

Our activities in connection with the operation and construction of pipelines
and other facilities for transporting, processing, treating, or storing natural
gas and other products are subject to environmentzl and safety regulation by
numerous federal, state, local and Canadian authorities. This regulation can
include ongoing oversight regulation as well as requirements
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for construction or other permits and clearances that must be granted in
connection with new projects or expansions. Regulatory requirements can increase
the cost of planning, designing, initial installation and operation of such
fecilities. Sanctions for violation of these requirements include a variety of
civil and criminal enforcement measures, including assessment of monetary
penalties, assessment and remediation reguirements and injunctions as to future
compliance. The following is a discussion of certain environmental and safety
concerns that relate to us. It is not intended to constitute a complete
cdiscussion of the various federal, state, local and Canadian statutes, rules,
regulations, or orders to which our operations may be subject.

In most instances, these regulatory reguirements relate to the release of
substances into the environment and include measures to control water and air
pollution., Moreover, we could incur liability under the Comprehensive
Environmentzl Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, cr
state counterparts, regardless of our fault, in connection with the disposal or
other releases of hazardous substances, including those arising out of
historical operations conducted by our predecessors. Further, the recent trend
in environmental legislation and regulations is toward stricter standards, anc
this trend will likely continue in the future.

Environmental laws and requlations may also reguire us to acquire a2 permit
before we may conduct certain activities. Further, these laws and regulations
may limit or prohibit activities on certain lands lying within wilderness areas,
wetlands, areas providing habitat for certain species that have been identified
as "endangered" or "threatened” or other protected areas. We are also subject
to other federal, state and local laws covering the hancling, storage or
discharge of materials, and we are subject to laws that otherwise relate to the
protection of the environment, safety and health. As an employer, we are
required to maintain a workplace free of recognized hazards likely to cause
death or serious injury and to comply with specific safety standards.

We will make expenditures in connection with environmental matters as part of
our normal operations and capital expenditures. In addition, the possibility
exists that stricter laws, regulations or enforcement policies could
significantly increase our compliance costs and the cost of any remediation that
might become necessary. We are subject to an inherent risk of incurring
environmental costs and liabilities because of our handling of oil, gas and
petroleum products, historical industry waste disposal practices and prior use
of gas flow meters containing mercury. There can be no assurance that we will
not incur material environmental costs and liabilities. Manzgement believes,
based on our current knowledge, that we have obtained and are in current
compliance with all necessary and material permits and that we are in
substantial compliance with applicable material environmental and safety
regulations. Further, we maintain insurance coverages that we believe are
customary in the industry: however, there can be no assurance that our
environmental impairment insurance will provide sufficient coverage in the event
an environmental claim is made against us. We are not aware of any existing
environmental or safety claims that would have & material impact upon our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT YET ADOPTED
See Ncte €, which is incorporated herein by reference.
DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact
included in and incorporated by reference into this Form 10-Q are forward-
looking statements. These forward looking statements include, without
limitation, statements under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations-~Capital Resources and liquidity" regarding
the Company's estimate of the sufficiency of existing capital resources, whether
funds provided by operations will be insufficient to meet its operational needs
in the foreseeable future, and its ability to use NOL carryforwards prior to
their expiration. Although, we believe that the expectations reflected in these
forward looking statements are reasonable, we can not give any assurance that
such expectations reflected in these forward looking statements will prove to
have been correct.

When used in this Form 10-Q, the words "expect", "anticipate”, "intend",
"plan®, "believe"™, "seek”, "estimate®, and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements
contain these identifying words. Because these forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties, actual results could differ materially from
those expressed or implied by these forwerd-looking statements for a number of
important reasons, including those discussed under "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations"™, and elsewhere in
this Form 10-Q.
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You should read these statements carefully because they discuss our
expectations about our future performance, contain projections of our future
operating results or our future financial condition, or state other "forward-
iooking™ information. Before you invest in our common stock, ycu should be
aware that the occurrence of any of the events described in "Risk Factors™ in
the Prospectus Supplement, dated December 6, 1999 and elsewhere in this Form 10-
Q could substantially harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition and that upon the occurrence of any of these events, the trading price
of our common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your
investment.

We cannot guarantee any future results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements. Except as reqguired by law, we undertake no obligation to update
any of the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-Q after the date of this
Form 10-Q.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage market
risks associated with certain energy commodities and interest rates. According
to guidelines provided by the Board, the Company enters into exchange-traded
commedity futures, options and swap contracts tc reduce the exposure tc market
fluctuations in price and transportation costs ¢f energy commodities and
fluctuztions in interest rates. The Company does not engage in speculative
trading. Approvals are required from senior management prior to the execution
of any financial derivative.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

The Company's commodity price risk exposure arises from inventory balances
and fixed price purchase and sale commitments. The Company uses exchange-traded
commodity futures contracts and Swap COntracts to menage and hedge price risk
related to these market exposures. The futures contracts have pricing terms
indexed to the New York Mercantile Exchange.

The company alsc uses over-the-counter swaps to hedge its physical exposure
to processing spread risk. Processing spreads are the difference between the
price the company receives for the sale of natural gas liguids and the price it
pays for the natural gas eguivalent on a heating value basis (MMBtu's). The
company has locked in a fixed processing spread on approximately 70% of its NGL
production through December 2000.

The gains, losses and related costs of the financial instruments that
qualify as & hecge are not recognized until the underlying physical transaction
occurs.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Company's Credit Facility provides an option for the Company to borrow
funds at a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus an applicable margin based on
the Company's debt to total capitalization ratic. In an effort to mitigate
interest rate fluctuation exposure, the Company entered into interest rate swaps
under three separate swap agreements with a combined notional amount of $16%5
million dollars. The interest rate swap agreements entered into by the Company
effectively convert $165 million of floating-rate debt to fixed-rate debt.

The first interest rate swap agreement was entered into with Bank One in
December 1997. The swap agreement effectively established a fixed interest rate
setting of €.02% fcr @ two-year period on a notional amount of $25 million.

This swap agreement was subseguently transferred to Bank of America in November
1998 and replaced with a new swap agreement. The new swap agreement provides a
fixed 5.09% interest rate to the Company with a new two year termination date of
December 2000 which may, however, be extended through December 2003 at Bank of
America's option on the last day of the initial term. The variable three-month
LIBOR rate is reset quarterly based on the prevailing market rate and the
Company is obligated to reimburse Bank of America when the three-month LIBOR
rate is reset below 5.09%. Conversely, Bank of America is obligated to
reimburse the Company when the three-month LIBOR rate is reset above 5.09%. At
September 30, 2000 and 1999, the fair value of this interest rate swap through
the initial termination date was a net asset of approximately $95,539 and a net
liability of approximately $199,642, respectively.

The second interest rate swap agreement was entered intc with CIBC in October
1998. The swap agreement effectively established a fixed interest rate setting
of 4.475% for a three-year period on a notional amount of $40 million. The
agreement, however, may be extended an additional two years through November
2003 at CIBC's option on the last day of the initial term. The variable three-
month LIBOR rate is reset gquarterly based on the prevailing market rate and the
Company is obligated tc reimburse CIBC when the three-month LIBOR rate is reset
below 4.475%. Conversely, CIBC is obligated to
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reimburse the Company when the three-month LIBOR rate is reset above 4.475%. At
September 30, 2000 and 1999, the fair value of this interest rate swap through
the initial termination date was a net asset of approximately $1,046,963 and
$1,363,317, respectively.

The effect of these swap agreements was to lower interest expense by $961,511
and $182,501 in the nine months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

A third interest rate swap agreement was entered into with Scotiabank in
October 2000. The swap agreement effectively established a fixed interest rate
setting of 5.95% for a three-year period beginning October 2000 on a notional
amount of $100 million. The agreement is cancelable at Scotiabank's option at
the end of any three-month period during the three-year term with 2 days notice.
The variable three-month LIBOR rate is reset guarterly based on the prevailing
market rate and the company is cbligated to reimburse Scotiabank when the three-
month LIBOR rate is reset below 5.95%. Conversely, Scotiabank is obligated to
reimburse the Company when the three-month LIBOR rate is reset above 5.95%.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
a. Exhibits:
None
b. Reports on Form 8-K:
None
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SIGNATURE

In accordance with the reguirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.

MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.
(Registrant)

BY: /s/ Richard A. Robert

Richard A. Robert

Principal Financial Officer
Treasurer

Principal Accounting Officer

Date: November 14, 2000
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.
1100 LOUISIANA, SUITE 2950
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002

PROXY STATEMENT

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
MAY 16, 2000

INFORMATION CONCERNING SOLICITATION AND VOTING

Our board of directors is soliciting proxies for the 2000 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on Tuesday, May 16, 2000 at 10:00 a.m. (Houston time) in
our boardroom located at 1100 Louisiana, 32/nd/ Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, and
at any adjournments or postponements of the meeting. This proxy statement
contains important information for you to consider when deciding how to vote on
the matters brought before the meeting. Please read it carefully.

Midcoast will pay the costs of soliciting proxies from shareholders.
Directors, officers and regular employees may solicit proxies on behalf of
Midcoast, without additional compensation, perscnally or by telephone. Voting
materials, which include the proxy statement, proxy card and 2000 Annual Report,
will be mailed to shareholders on or about April 17, 2000.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS
Q: Who can attend and vote at the meeting?
A: You can attend and vote at the meeting if you were a shareholder at the

close of business on the record date, March 31, 2000. On that date, there
were 12,494,124 shares outstanding and entitled to vote at the annual

meeting.
Q: What am I voting on?
A: You are voting on:

The election of directors; and
The approval of an amendment to the 1996 Incentive Stock Plan.

The six individuals receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes will be
elected to the beoard of directors. The approval of the amendment to the
1996 Incentive Stock Plan requires the affirmative "FOR" vote of a majority
of the shares present at the meeting and entitled to vote.

Q: How will the proxies vote on any other business brought up at the meeting?

A: By submitting your proxy card, you authorize the proxies to use their
judgment to determine how to vote on any other matter brought before the
meeting. We do not know of any other business to be considered at the
meeting.

The proxies' authority to vote according to their judgment applies only to
shares you own as a shareholder of record.



How do I cast my vote?

If you hold your shares as a shareholder of record, you can vote in person
at the annual meeting or you can vote by mail. If you are a street-name

shareholder, you will receive instructions from your bank, broker or other
nominee describing how to vote your shares.
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The enclosed proxy card contains instructions for mail voting. The proxies
identified on the back of the proxy card will vote the shares of which you
are the shareholder of record in accordance with your instructions. If you
submit a proxy card without giving specific voting instructions, the
proxies will vote those shares as recommended by the board of directors.

How does the board recommend I vote on the proposals?

The board recommends you vote "FOR" each of the nominees to the board of
directors and "FOR" the amendment to the 1996 Incentive Stock Plan.

Can I revoke my proxy card?
Yes. You can revoke your proxy card by:

Submitting a new proxy card;

Giving written notice before the meeting to our Secretary stating that
you are revoking your proxy card; or

Attending the meeting and voting your shares in person.

Who will count the vote?

The inspector(s) of election, will count the vote. A representative of our
transfer agent, American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, will act as the
inspector of the election.

What is a "quorum?"

A quorum is the number of shares that must be present to hold the meeting.
The quorum reguirement for the meeting is one-half of the outstanding
shares as of the record date, present in person or represented by proxy.
If you submit a valid proxy card or attend the meeting, your shares will be
counted to determine whether there is a quorum. Abstentions and broker
non-votes count toward the quorum. "Broker non-votes" occur when nominees
(such as banks and brokers) that hold shares on behalf of beneficial owners
do not receive voting instructions from the beneficial owners by ten days
before the meeting and do not have discretionary voting authority to wvote
those shares.

Will broker non-votes or abstentions affect the voting results?

Although abstentions and broker non-votes count for quorum purposes, they
do not count as votes "FOR" or "AGAINST" a proposal. As a result,
abstentions and broker non-votes will not affect the voting results on the
election of directors or the amendment to the 1996 Incentive Stock Plan.

What shares are included on my proxy card?
Your proxy card represents all shares registered to your account in the
same social security number and address.

What does it mean if I get more than one proxy card?

Your shares are probably registered in more than one account. You should
vote each proxy card you receive. We encourage you to consolidate all your
accounts by registering them in the same name, social security number and
address.

How many votes can I cast?
On all matters you are entitled to one vote per share.

When are shareholder proposals due for the 2001 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders?
If you want to present a proposal from the floor at the 2001 Annual



Meeting, you must give us written notice of your proposal no later than
January 16, 2001. If the date of the 2001 Annual Meeting is more than 30
calendar days before or after the date of our 2000 Annual Meeting, your
written notice will be timely if we receive it by the close of business on
the tenth day following the date that we publicly announce the date of the
2001 Annual Meeting. Your notice should be sent to the Secretary, Midcoast
Energy Resources, Inc., 1100 Louisiana, Suite 2950, Houston, Texas 77002.
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If instead of.presenting your proposal at the meeting you want your
propesal to be considered for inclusion in next year's proxy statement, you
must submit the proposal in writing to the Secretary so that it is received
at the above address by December 15, 2000.

Where can I find the voting results of the meeting?

The preliminary voting results will be announced at the meeting. The final
results will be published in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
second guarter of fiscal 2000.
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A Copy of the Annual Report to Shareholders of Midcoast Energy Resources,
including financial statements, is being mailed with this proxy statement. You
may receive an additional copy of the Annual Report at no charge upon request
directed to: Duane S. Herbst, Secretary, Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc., 1100
Louisiana, Suite 2950, Houston, Texas 77002.
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

At the annual meeting, six directors will be elected. Each director is to
hold office until the next annual meeting or until a successor is elected and
gualified. The persons named below have been nominated by the board of
directors. If any nominee should become unavailable for election, your proxy may
be voted for a substitute nominee by the persons named in the proxy or the size
of the board may be reduced accordingly; however, the board is not aware of any
circumstances likely to make any nominee unavailable for election.

NOMINEES
NAME AGE POSITION DIRECTOR
SINCE
Dan C. Tutcher................ 51 Chairman of the Board, President, and 1992
Chief Executive Officer
I. J. Berthelot, II........... 40 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating 1996
Officer and Director
Ted Collins, Jr. (1).......... 61 Director 1997
Curtis J. Dufour, III......... 50 Director 1999
Richard N. Richards (1)(2).... 53 Director 1996
Bruce Withers (1) (2).......... 73 Director 1997

(1) Member, Compensation Committee of the board of directors.
(2) Member, Audit Committee of the board of directors.

For certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our stock by
each of the Nominees, see "Other Information - Principal Shareholders."”

DAN C. TUTCHER has been Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer since our formation in 1992 and served as Treasurer from 1995
to 1996. Since 1989, Mr. Tutcher has also been President and Chief Executive
Officer of Magic Gas Corp., a Texas corporation controlled by Mr. Tutcher. Prior
to its merger into the Company in 1992, Mr. Tutcher served as a Director of
Nugget 0il Corpcration, from 1990 to 1982. He also serves on the board of the
Interstate Natural Gas Association of America and the Gas Processors
Association. Mr. Tutcher holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from
Washburn University.

I .J. (CHIP) BERTHELOT, II has been a Director since 1996 and serves as
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Berthelot has been
with us since our formation in 1992. Mr. Berthelot joined Midcoast as Chief
Engineer and became Vice President of Operations in 1995, Chief Operating
Officer in 1996 and Executive Vice President in 1997. From 1991 to 1992 he was a
gas contracts representative with Mitchell Energy and Development Co. He is a
Professional Engineer, licensed in Texas and holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering from Texas A&I University.



TED COLLINS, JR. has been a Director since 1997. Mr. Collins has served as
President since 1988 for Collins & Ware, Inc., a private corporation active in
oil and gas exploration, production and property acquisition. He served as
President of Enron 0Oil & Gas Company from 1986 to 1988 and prior to that held
positions as President with HNG/Internorth Exploration Company and HNG Qil
Company as well as Executive Vice President of American Quasar Petroleum
Company. Mr. Collins also serves on the boards of Hanover Compressor Company,
Queen Sand Resources, Inc. and Chaparral Resources, Inc. He graduated from the
University of Oklahoma with a Bachelor of Science degree in Geological
Engineering.

CURTIS J. DUFOUR, III has been a Director since March 1999 and serves as
Chief Executive Officer of Dufour Petroleum, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
our company. Prior to its merger with and into our company in 1999, Mr. Dufour
served as President of DPI from 1988 until 1997 and as Chief Executive Officer
since 1996. DPI is a private corporation engaged in the natural gas liquids
("NGL") marketing and transportation business. Prior to forming DPI, Mr. Dufour
served as President of Choctaw Fuels, Inc., a company engaged in the marketing
and transportation of NGLs from 1978 until 1986. He graduated from the
University of Southern Mississippi with a Bachelor of Science degree in
Marketing.

RICHARD (DICK) N. RICHARDS has been & Director since 1996. Mr. Richards is
currently Director of New Reusable Systems for The Boeing Company. Prior to
1998, he had been with NASA where he served in several capacities since 1980.
Mr. Richards was an astronaut with NASA until 1995 and flew one mission as pilot
and commanded three other space shuttle missions. He also served as Manager of
Space Shuttle Program Integration and Mission Director of the third Hubble Space
Telescope Space Shuttle servicing mission. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Chemical Engineering from the University of Missouri and a Master of Science
in Aeronautical Systems from the University of West Florida.

BRUCE WITHERS has served as director since 1997. From 1991 to 1996, Mr.
Withers served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Trident NGL, Inc. and
Vice Chairman of Dynegy, Inc., formerly NGC Corporation. Dynegy is an
aggregator, processor, transporter and marketer of energy products and services.
Prior to joining Dynegy, Mr. Withers served as President of the Transmission and
Processing Division of Mitchell Energy for 17 years. Mitchell Energy is engaged
through its subsidiaries in the exploration for and production of oil and gas,
natural gas processing and gas gathering and transmission. He has also served as
President and Chief Operating Officer of Liguid Energy Corp. and Southwestern
Gas Pipeline, two affiliates of Mitchell Energy. Mr. Withers holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering from Texas A & I
University.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION AND BOARD COMMITTEES

During the year ended December 31, 1998, the board met 10 times. Each
director attended more than 75% of the board and committee meetings on which he
served. Each non-employee director is currently paid a cash fee of $1,000 at the
end of each calendar quarter of service, $1,000 for each regular and special
meeting attended and $300 for each committee meeting attended, plus any travel
expenses. Under the 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, these cash
fees may be converted into shares of stock at the market price on the last day
of the gquarter in which the fees are paid. Employee directors do not receive
additional compensation for service on the board or its committees. Employee
directors are eligible to participate in the 1996 Incentive Stock Plan. See
"Other Information--Compensation Committee Report."



The Non-Employee Director Plan entitles each newly-elected Director who is
neither (i) an employee, nor (ii) a director as a result of an acquisition or
financing transactions tc¢ receive options to purchase up to 15,000 shares of
Common Stock on his initial election. Further, such directors are also entitled
to receive an option to purchase 5,000 shares on each date they are reelected.
Mr. Richards and Mr. Withers were each issued options to purchase 6,250 shares
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and 5,000 shares upon their re-election in 1998 and 1999 respectively. The 1998
grants have been adjusted for the five-for-four stock split paid on March 1,
1999 to shareholders of record on February 11, 1999.

AUDIT COMMITTEE. The current members of the Audit Committee are Richard N.
Richards and Bruce Withers. The Audit Committee met two times during 1999. The
Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the entire board of directors
engagement and discharge of independent auditors of our financial statements,
reviews the professional service provided by the independent auditors, reviews
the independence of independent auditors, reviews with the auditors the plan and
results of the auditing engagement, considers the range of audit and non-audit
fees and reviews the adequacy of our system of internal audit controls. 1In
addition, the Audit Committee directs and supervises special investigations as
deemed necessary by the Audit Committee.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE. The current members of the Compensation Committee
are Ted Collins, Jr., Richard N. Richards and Bruce Withers. The Compensation
Committee met two times during 1998. The Compensation Committee administers the
1896 Incentive Stock Plan. In this capacity, the Compensation Committee
recommends all option grants or awards to our officers, executives, employees
and consultants. The Compensation Committee also recommends the establishment
of policies dealing with various compensation, including compensation of
executive officers, and any 40l(k), pension and profit sharing plans which may
be created.

AGREEMENTS REGARDING THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In connection with our acquisition of Republic Gas Partners, L.L.C., we
were required to take steps to elect Mr. Collins and another individual to the
Board for a period of two years. Effective October 1999, this agreement
expired.

In connection with the Company's acquisition of Dufour Petroleum, Inc. and
Flare, L.L.C., we were required to take steps to elect Mr. Dufour to the Board
for a period of two years. However, in the event that Mr. Dufour's stock
ownership in Midcoast falls below certain thresholds, we may request
Mr. Dufour's resignation as Director. In March 1999, Mr. Dufour was elected to
the Board. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions"”

VOTE REQUIRED FOR ELECTION

Provided that a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting, the six Nominees
who receive the greatest number of votes cast for election by the shareholders
will be elected Directors.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THE ELECTION OF ALL SIX NOMINEES TO OUR
BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

APPROVAL OF THE 1996 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN AMENDMENT

On May 8, 1997, our shareholders approved the adoption of the 1996
Incentive Stock Plan. On February 24, 2000, the Compensation Committee adopted
an amendment to the Incentive Plan authorizing an increase in the number of
shares available for issuance from 531,250 shares to 1,000,000 shares. This
increase was expressly made subject to the approval of our shareholders.

Currently, the Incentive Plan provides that a maximum of 531,250 shares may



be issued under the plan. As of the Record Date, only 12,386 shares were
available for issuance upon the exercise of options granted under the plan.
Thus, additional shares must be authorized for us to be able to continue to
grant Incentive Awards under the plan. Furthermore, through our acgquisition
strategy, we have added a significant number of employees who are eligible to
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receive options under the Incentive Plan; therefore, we believe a substantial
increase in the number of shares authorized to be issued under the plan is
warranted at this time.

The purpose of the plan is to (i) align the personal financial incentive of
our employees and consultants with our long-term growth and the interests of our
shareholders through the ownership and performance of our stock, and
(i1) enhance our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and
consultants who share primary responsibility for our management and growth. The
Compensation Committee believes that the Incentive Plan has fulfilled these
purposes and that the continued availability of eguity incentives under the
Incentive Plan will be a significant factor in our ability to attract and retain
key management personnel who share primary responsibility for our management and
growth. The number of participants, including officers, (whether or not
Directors) currently eligible to participate in the Incentive Plan is
approximately 225 employees. Persons who are not in an employment or consulting
relationship with us, including non-employee Directors, are not eligible to
participate in the Incentive Plan.

The Incentive Plan provides that certain amendments may only be made with
the approval of our shareholders. One amendment that requires shareholder
approval is an amendment that increases the maximum number of shares of stock
that may be issued under the Incentive Plan. This summary of the Incentive Plan
Amendment is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
amendment, a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT A.

The Board believes that the continued availability of Incentive Awards
under the Incentive Plan is important to our ability to attract and retain
qualified management personnel and Consultants. Therefore, the Board strongly
believes that the adoption of the Incentive Plan 2Amendment is in the best
interest of our shareholders.

VOTE REQUIRED FOR APPROVAL

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our shares outstanding
on the Record Date, entitled to vote and represented at the Annual Meeting, in
person or by proxy, is required to approve this amendment.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR APPROVAL OF THE INCENTIVE PLAN
AMENDMENT .

OTHER INFORMATION

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

The following table presents certain information based on our records and
filings with the SEC as of March 31, 2000, as to:

each shareholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than
five percent of our outstanding shares of common stock,

each executive officer and each of the nominated directors, and

all directors and executive officers as a group.
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AMOUNT AND

NATURE PERCENTAGE OF
OF BENEFICIAL OCUTSTANDING
NAME AND ADDRESS OF BENEFICIAL OWNER (1) OWNERSHIP (2) OWNED
Capital Guardian Trust Company (3).............. 1,822,750 14.6

11100 Santa Monica Blvd.

Los Angeles, CA 90025

State of Wisconsin Investment Board (4)......... 851,337 6.8
121 East Wilson St.

Madison, WI 53702

Fidelity Manacement & Research Company (5)...... 682,525 5.5
82 Devonshire Street

Boston, Ma 02109

Dan C. Tutcher (6)(7)(8) .. 872,022 7.0
Ted Collins, Jr. (9) .« . 541,097 4.3
Curtis J. Dufour, III (10) ... e . 163,719 1.3
I. J. Berthelot, II (6) (7)) v . 69,747 *
Richard A. Robext (6) (7)., 55,308 *
Bill Bray (6) (7) cceeettunmneme e, 35,693 *
Duane S. Herbst (6) (7). . 31,911 *
Bruce Withers (11)...... ... 31,875 *
Richard N. Richards (11)(12) .« 21,652 *
All Nominees and Executive (6)Y (7)Y (1)) .ouiien ... 1,823,024 14.3

Officers as a group (9 persons)

* Denotes less than 1%.

(1) Unless otherwise noted, the address for all persons is 1100 Louisiana,
Suite 2950, Houston, Texas 77002.

(2) Except as otherwise noted, shares beneficially owned by each person as of
the record date were owned of record and each person had sole voting and
investment power with respect to all shares beneficially held.

{3) On February 10, 2000, Capital Guardian Trust Company filed a Schedule 136G,
denoting beneficial ownership of the shares shown above as of December 31,
1998.

(4) According to information provided to us by the State of Wisconsin Investment
Board, as of March 24, 2000, they reported beneficial ownership of the
shares shown above.

(5) According to information provided to us by Fidelity Management & Research
Company, as of March 1, 2000, they reported beneficial ownership of the
shares shown above.

(6) The ownership shown in the table includes shares which may be acquired
within 60 days on the exercise of options granted under the Incentive Plan
by each of the persons and group, as follows: Mr. Tutcher - 24,750 shares;
Mr. Berthelot - 24,750 shares; Mr. Robert - 18,150 shares; Mr. Bray -
11,562; Mr. Herbst - 14,437 shares and the group -93,649.

(7) The ownership shown in the table includes shares held through our 401 (k)



(10)

(12)

Plan by each of the persons and group, as follows: Mr. Tutcher - 5,406
shares; Mr. Berthelot - 3,807 shares; Mr. Robert - 4,340 shares; Mr. Bray -
1,861; Mr. Herbst - 1,988 shares and the group - 17,402; and includes shares
held throucgh our Employee Stock Purchase Plan by each of the persons and
group, as follows: Mr. Berthelot - 194 shares; Mr. Robert - 1,298 shares;
Mr. Herbst -153 shares and the group - 1,645 shares.

Includes 840,455 shares of Common Stock held of record by Magic Gas
Corporation, an affiliate of Mr. Tutcher, 137 shares owned by Mr. Tutcher's
daughter and 1,274 shares held as custodian for minor children.

Includes 401,601 shares of Common Stock and 139,496 shares of Common Stock
which may be acguired within 60 days on the exercise of warrants, both
issued in connection with an acquisition to Cortez Natural Gas, Inc., an
affiliate of Mr. Collins.

All shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Dufour and his wife and such
shares were acquired in connection with the Dufour/Flare Merger. See
"Certain Relationships and Related Transactions."

The ownership shown in the table includes shares which may be acquired
within 60 days on the exercise of options granted under the Director Plan

by each of the persons and group as follows: Mr. Withers - 31,875 shares;
Mr. Richards - 18,125 shares and the group - 50,000 shares.

All shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Richards and his wife.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

We currently have five executive officers: Dan C. Tutcher, President and
Chief Executive Officer; I. J. Berthelot, II, Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer; Richard A. Robert, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer:
Bill Bray, Vice President of Business Development; and Duane S. Herbst, Vice
President of Corporate Affairs and Secretary (the "Executive Officers"). See
"Election of Directors-Information Regarding the Nominees" for biographical
information concerning Messrs. Tutcher and Berthelot.

RICHARD A. ROBERT (34) is Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer and has
been with us since our formation in 1992. Mr. Robert joined us as Controller and
became Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in 1996. From 1988 to 1992 he was
an audit associate in the energy audit division of Arthur Andersen and Co.

Mr. Robert is a certified public accountant and is a member of the Texas Society
of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree in Accounting from Southwest Texas State University.

BILL BRAY (51) is Vice President of Business Development and has been with
us since 1990. Mr. Bray joined us as Director of Business Development and
became Vice President of Business Development in 1999. He holds a bachelor's
degree in business administration from Fort Hays State University.

DUANE S. HERBST (36) has been Secretary since our formation in 1992 and
Vice President of Corporate Affairs since 1996. From April 1992 until its
merger with us in September 1992 he held the office of President of Nugget.
Since 1989 he has been Vice President of Rainbow Investments Company, a
privately held corporation. He holds a Master of Business Administration degree
from the University of Texas and a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from
Trinity University.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE. The following table reflects all forms of
compensation for services for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997
for our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and Vice President of Business Development (collectively the "Named
Executive Officers”). During this time no other executive officer received
compensation, including bonuses which exceeded $100, 000.
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LONG-TERM COMPENSATION

ANNUAL COMPENSATION AWARDS
OTHEFR RESTRICTED SECURITIES
NAME AND ANNUAL STOCK UNDERLYING ALL OTHEX
PRINCIPAL POSITICON YEAR SALARY BONUS COMFPENSATION AWARDS (1) OPTIONS/SARs (2) COMPENSATION{3)
Dan C. Tutcher 1999 $162, 500 $37, 667 -— —— —— $11,471
Chief Executive 1998 $150, 000 $30, 000 -—— —— -— $10,694
Officer 1997 $ 95,000 $ 5,000 —— -——- 41,250 $11, 6862
I. J. Berthelot, II 198¢ $155,833 $29,177 --- -—- 12,00C $12,094
Executive Vice 1998 $135,000 $30,00C $22,168 $37,02¢ -—- $11,961
President and COO 1997 $ 85,246 $ 7,500 $3¢,23% $49,840 41,250 $ 4,19C
Richard A. Robert 199%¢ $137,500 $36, 8354 --- -— £,000 $12,432
Chief Financisl 1998 $125,000 $30,000 $22,168 §37,02¢ -—— $11,963
Officer 1987 s 77,162 $12,500 $1¢€,89¢€ $49,840 30,250 $ 6,808
Bill Bray 1995 $106,25¢C $ 3,131 ~-- -—- -— $ 8,682
Vice President - 1998 $ 86,333 $i1,1¢67 511,675 522,21¢ 6,250 $ 5,19¢
Business Dev. 1997 $ 64,727 $ 2,500 $10, 79¢ 529,904 17,188 $ 4,134

(1) Includes amounts paid as reimbursement for taxes incurred on appreciation
of shares of stock issued as consideration for executing employment
agreements. See "Executive Employment Agreements."”

{(2) All numbers in this column reflect the 10% stock dividend paid on March 2,
1998 to shareholders of record on February 13, 1998 and the five-for-four
stock split in March 1999.

(3) Represents our matching contributions to the Midcoast Energy Resources,
Inc. Profit Sharing Plan and Trust (401(k) Plan) and certain personal
benefits, including car allowances.

EMPLOYEE OPTIONS. Under the Incentive Plan, options to purchase shares of
stock may be granted to executive officers and other employees. As of December
31, 1999, 464,689 shares were reserved for outstanding options and 63,511 shares
were reserved and remained available for future option grants pursuant to the
Incentive Plan.

OPTION GRANTS TABLE. The following table provides information concerning
stock options granted to the Named Executive Officers during the year ended
December 31, 19986.

POTENTIAL REALIZABLE
VALUE AT ASSUMED ANNUAL RATES
OF STOCK PRICE
INDIVIDUAL GRANTS APPRECIATION FOR OPTION TERM (1)




I. J. Berthelot, II (3)
Richard A. Robert {3}

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
CPTIONS/SARs
GRANTED(Z)

PERCENT OF
TOTAL
OPTIONS/ SARs
GRANTED TO
EMPLOYEES IN
FISCAL YEAR
18.6%
12.4%

EXERCISE
PRICE PER
SHARE
$16.5625
$16.5625

EXPIRATION
DATE
8/05/0¢
8/05/0¢9

$124,993
$ 83,32¢

$316,756
$211,171



(1) Under the terms of the Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee retains
discretion, subject to plan limits, to modify the terms of outstanding
options and to reprice the options. Because the exercise price of all
options is at or above the market price per share of Common Stock at the
date of grant, the potential realizable value of the options assuming no
stock price appreciation is zero.

(2) Each option granted under the Incentive Plan becomes immediately
exercisable on the occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined in the
Incentive Plan). No stock appreciation rights were granted during 1999.

(3) These options vest 20% per year.

OPTION EXERCISES AND YEAR-END OPTION VALUES. The following table sets
forth information with respect to options exercised by the Named Executive
Officers during 1999, and with respect to unexercised options which have been
granted to the Named Executive Officers and held by them at December 31, 1999.
No stock appreciation rights are held by any Named Executive Officers.

NUMBER OF SECURITIES VALUE OF UNEXERCISED
UNDERLYING UNEXERCISED IN-THE-MONEY
OPTIONS EXERCISED OPTIONS/SARs AT OPTIONS/SARs AT
DURING 1999 FISCAL YEAR END (1) FISCAL YEAR END (2}
SHARES VALUE
NAME ACQUIRED # REALIZED S EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE
Dan C. Tutcher............ - -~ 16,500 24,750 $137,77% 5206, 663
I. J. Berthelot, II.. - -- 16,500 36,750 $150, 381 $227,822
Richard A. Reobert......... -- -- 12,100 26,150 $110,27¢ $166,919
Bill Bray.......cvuucunn.. -~ -- 8,125 15,313 $ 63,503 $ 97,368

(1) In February 2000, the following additional options of each Named Executive
Officer’'s options vested and became exercisable: Mr. Tutcher - 8,250;
Mr. Berthelot - 8,250; Mr. Robert - 6,050; Mr. Bray - 3,348.

(2) Calculated by multiplying the number of shares underlying outstanding
in-the-money options by the difference between the last sales price of our
stock on December 31, 1999 (516.75 per share) and the exercise price, which
ranges between $7.636 and $16.80 per share. Options are in-the-money if the
fair market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercising price of
the option.

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

The Named Executive Officers have entered into employment contracts, as
amended, which provide for employment terms of varying lengths, the longest of
which expires in April 2001 and which contain certain minimum annual base
salaries, with actual salaries determined by the Compensation Committee. Two of
the Named Executive Officers, Messrs. Berthelot and Robert, were awarded 79,737
and 12,267 shares of stock, respectively, as consideration for their entry into
such agreements. These agreements may be terminated by mutual consent, at our



option for cause, or by death or disability. 1In the event termination is due to
death, disability or certain changes in our ownership, the full amount of
compensation remaining to be paid during the term of the agreement will be paid
to the emplovee or his estate, after discounting at 12% to reflect the current
value of unpaid amounts. See "--Compensation Committee Report.”

In August 1997, we entered into Executive Severance Agreements with our
executive officers, excluding Mr. Bray, under which they are entitled to certain
severance benefits in the event of a change in control of Midcoast,

12



and in conjunction with a termination of the officer. These severance benefits
include payment of an amount equal to three times the officer's annual base
salary and bonus and the continuation for 36 months of any life and healthcare
related benefits under which the officer and/or the officer's family is covered
as of the effective date of the change in control. The terms are of these
severance agreements are 18 months, but they are automatically extended an
additional year unless the Board delivers written notice of termination three
months prior to the end of the term.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

No member of the Compensation Committee has ever served as one of our
executive officers. We issued options to Messrs. Richards and Withers upon
their reelection and appointment to the board, respectively. See "Director
Compensation and Board Committees.”" We also issued securities to Cortez Natural
Gas, Inc. which is controlled by Mr. Collins, and granted certain registration
rights regarding such shares, in connection with the acquisition of Republic
Gas Partners, L.L.C. Cortez received the following consideration as part of
this acquisition: $2,678,629 in cash, 401,601 shares of stock and warrants for
139,496 shares of stock. In addition, we agreed to grant Cortez and the other
Republic owners certain demand and piggyback registration rights regarding the
shares and warrants issued them.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The compensation committee of the board has furnished the following report
on executive compensation for fiscal 1996:

Under the supervision of the board, we seek to relate a significant portion
of potential total executive compensation to our financial performance. 1In
general, executive financial rewards may be segregated into the following
significant components: base compensation, bonus and stock-based benefits.

We intend the base compensation for our executive officers to afford a
reasonable degree of financial security and flexibility to those individuals who
were regarded by the Compensation Committee as having acceptably discharged the
levels and types of responsibilities implicit in the various executive
positions. Each named executive officer has executed an employment contract
with the Company. Base compensation for 1999, as adjusted, if applicable, for
mid-year escalations, for each named executive officer was as follows:

Mr. Tutcher $165,000, Mr. Berthelot $160,000, Mr. Robert $140,000 and Mr. Bray
$106,250. In the case of Mr. Herbst, base compensatiocn of $65,000 for fiscal
1599 was set by the Committee. Base pay reflected in the employment contracts
held by those certain executive officers was set based on arms-length
negotiations of each officer's employment contract. In negotiating the base pay
for the executive officers, consideration was given to the compensation plans of
executives in other pipeline companies. The committee believes such base pay is
reasonable in light of the average compensation for executive officers of our
competitors. In addition, the committee considered the salary history, past
performance, credentials, age and experience of each executive officer, as well
as his perceived future utility to us.

Annual bonuses are intended to reflect a policy of regquiring a minimum
level of financial performance before any bonuses are earned by the executive
officers, with bonuses for achieving higher levels of performance directly tied
to the level achieved. The following bonuses were awarded and paid in 1999 to
executive officers for their performance in 1999: Mr. Tutcher $37,667;

Mr. Berthelot $29,177; Mr. Robert $36,884, Mr. Bray $3,131; and Mr. Herbst



$13,702.
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The board is of the view that the periodic grant of stock options to the
executive officers is calculated to align the executive's economic interests
with those of shareholders and to provide a direct and continuing focus upon the
goal of increasing sharehclder value. We granted options covering an aggregate
of 25,000 shares of stock to executive officers during 1999 at 100% of the
market price on the date of grant. These options were issued as follows: Mr.
Berthelot - 12,000; Mr. Robert - 8,000; Mr. Herbst - 5,000. The options vest
over a five-year period with a ten-year term. The Compensation Committee
presently anticipates that such grants in the future will be considered only as
appropriate.

The committee intends, with any necessary concurrence of the Board, to
continue to consider zlternate forms of stock or other incentive-based
compensation with & view to affording the maximum possible long-term
performance-based benefits to senior executives, at the least possible cost, and
with the greatest attainable economic efficiency to Midcoast. Such benefits
will be designed, as nearly as practicable, to align directly the economic
interest of our executive officers with those of our shareholders.

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE. No committee member is a member of
management. Collectively, the committee members owned, controlled or
represented an aggregate of 594,624 shares (including shares that may be
acquired pursuant to outstanding stock options or warrants within 60 days), or
approximately 4.8% of the Common Stock outstanding and, accordingly, also
maintain a substantial interest in the Company's performance.

The Compensation Committee
Ted Collins, Jr., Richard N. Richards and Bruce Withers
PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following performance graph, prepared by Standard & Poor's Compustat
Group, compares our stock's performance to the S&P SmallCap 600 Index and to an
index of peer companies. The graph covers the period from August 9, 1996 (the
date on which the our stock was registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) to December 31, 1999. The graph assumes that the value of
the investment in our stock and each index was $100 at August 9, 1996 and that
all dividends were reinvested. The Peer Group is weighted by market
capitalization. Past financial performance should not be considered to be a
reliable indicator of future performance, and investors should not use
historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods.

[graph appears here]
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

RUGUST 9, 1996 1996 1997 1998 188¢
Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.[Legend] $100 $ 95.07 $201.39 $221.66 $221.83
S&P SmallCap 600 Index [Legend] $100 $112.52 $141.31 $139.46 $156.76
Peer Group [Legend] (1) $100 $108.84 $142.94 $149.15 $147.14

(1) Consists of Atmos Energy Corp., Cascade Natural Gas, Connecticut Energy,
Energen Corp., New Jersey Resources, Northwest Natural Gas, Pennsylvania
Enterprises, Piledmont Natural Gas, Public Service of North Carolineg,
Southwest Gas, Southwestern Energy and WICOR, Inc. Such companies comprise
the Natural Gas Group of the S&P Small Cap 600 Index.

The foregoing price performance comparisons shall not be deemed
incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference
this Proxy Statement into any filing under the Securities Act of 1833, as
amended, ("Securities Act") or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates this
graph by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such acts.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

In February 19389, we completed the acquisition of DPI and Flare.
Mr. Dufour was the principal owner of DPI/Flare, along with several other
persons. As a result of the acquisition, Mr. Dufour, received $2,985,250 in cash
and 163,719 shares of stock. In addition, we agreed to elect Mr. Dufour to the
Board and to grant Mr. Dufour certain piggyback registration rights as to the
shares of stock he received as consideration in the merger. Under the terms of
the agreement and plan of merger, all of the DPI/Flare partners received a total
of $3,151,642 cash and 163,719 shares of stock. We also repaid approximately
$£5.5 million in DPI/Flare indebtedness and agreed to pay up to $2.5 million in
cash and stock based on the future performance of DPI and Flare. The
consideration we paid was based on arms length negotiations among the parties.

In addition, Mr. Dufour received compensation from us of $91,933 in 1999.
This included salary of $89,423 and matching contributions to our 401 (k) plan of
$2,510.

In October 1997, we acquired Republic Gas Corporation by merger. 1In
connection with this merger, Cortez Natural Gas Corp., an affiliate of
Mr. Collins that owned 90% of Republic, received the following consideration:
$2,678,629 in cash, 401,601 shares of stock and warrants for 139,496 shares of
stock. In addition, we agreed to grant Cortez and the other Republic owners
certain demand and piggyback registration rights regarding the shares and
warrants issued them. The consideration we paid was based on arms length
negotiations among the parties.

Stevens G. Herbst, the father of Duane S. Herbst, received total
compensation from us of $117,324 in 1999. This included salary and bonus of
$88,067, matching contributions to our 401 (k) plan of $5,257 and payments under
a non-compete agreement of $24,000. 1In addition, a corporation owned by
Mr. Herbst received $4,554 under a net revenue interest agreement.



OTHER MATTERS

AUDITORS

On October 11, 1893, we engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as independent
accountant to audit our financial statements for the year ended December 31,
198%. In connection with the hiring of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, on October
11, 1998, we and Hein + Associates LLP, our prior principal independent
accountant, mutuzally agreed that Hein + Associates LLP would be replaced by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our principal independent accountant. The decision
to replace Hein + Associates LLP and engage PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was
approved by our board of directors. We do not anticipate that representatives
of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will be present at the annual meeting.

Hein + Associates LLP served &s our independent accountant from March 17,
1994 until we replaced them on October 11, 1999. We and Hein have not, in
connection with the audit of our financial statements for each of the prior two
yvears ended December 31, 1998 and December 31, 1997, or for any subsequent
interim period prior to and including October 11, 1999, had any disagreement on
any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreement, if not resolved
to Hein's satisfaction, would have caused Hein to make reference to the subject
matter of the disagreement in connection with its reports.

The reports of Hein on our financial statements for the past two fiscal
years did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinicn and were not
gualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.
We had no relationship with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP required to be reported
according to Regulation S-K item 304 (a) (2) during the two fiscal years ended
December 31, 1998 and December 31, 1987 or for any subsequent interim period
prior to and including October 11, 1999.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and
Directors and persons who own more than 10% of any registered class of our
equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with
the SEC as well as to furnish us with a copy of each such report. Additionally,
SEC reguletions require us to identify in our Proxy Statement any individual for
whom one of the above referenced reports was not filed on a timely basis during
the most recent fiscal year or prior fiscal years.

To our knowledge, based solely con review of the copies of such reports
furnished to us and written representations that no other reports were reqguired,
during and with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, all
applicable Section 16 (a) filing regquirements were complied with, except that
Dan Tutcher was late in filing a Form 4 pertaining to the purchase of 1,000
shares of stock.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL INFORMATION

If you want to present a proposal from the floor at the 2001 Annual
Meeting, you must give us written notice of your proposal no later than January
16, 2001. If the date of the 2001 Annual Meeting is more than 30 calendar days
before or after the date of our 2000 Annual Meeting, your written notice will be
timely if we receive it by the close of business on the tenth day following the
date that we publicly announce the date of the 2001 Annual Meeting. Your notice
should be sent to our Secretary at 1100 Louisiana, Suite 2950, Houston, Texas



77002.
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If instead of presenting your proposal at the meeting you want your
proposal to be considered for inclusion in next vyear's proxy statement, you must
submit the proposal in writing to the Secretary so that it is received at the
above address by December 15, 2000.

MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS

We have included a copy of our annual report on Form 10-K, covering the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, which has been filed with the SEC. We will
bear the cost of soliciting proxies in the accompanying form, including the
reimbursement of banks, brokers and other custodians, nominees, and fiduciaries
for expenses in forwarding solicitation material to the beneficial owners of our
stock. In addition to solicitations by mail, a number of our regular employees
may, if necessary to assure the presence of a quorum, solicit proxies in person
or by telephone.

By order of the board of directors,

/s/ Duane S. Herbst

Duane S. Herbst
Secretary

Houston, Texas
April 17, 2000
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EXHIBIT A

AMENDMENT TO THE
1996 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN

The 1996 Incentive Stock Plan of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. is hereby
amended as fcllows, effective February 24, 2000, subject to shareholder
approval:

1. The second paragraph of Section 3 is zmended to read as follows in its
entirety:

The Committee may grant Options, shares of Restricted Stock, Performance
Awards, shares of Phantom Stock and Stock Bonuses under the Plan with
respect to a number of shares of Common Stock that in the aggregate at any
time does not exceed 1,000,000 shares cof Common Stock, subject to
adjustment pursuant to Section 12 hereof. The grant of a Cash Bonus shall
not reduce the number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which
Options, shares of Restricted Stock, Performance Awards, shares of Phantom
Stock or Stock Bonuses may be granted pursuant to the Plan. Notwithstanding
any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the maximum number of shares of
Common Stock that may be subject to Incentive Awards granted to any one
individual during any calendar year shall be 50,000 shares of Common Stock,
subject to adjustment under Section 12 hereof. The limitation set forth in
the preceding sentence shall be applied in a manner which will permit
compensation generated in connection with the exercise of Options and the
payment of Performance Awards to constitute "qualified performance-based
compensation” for purposes of Section 162 (m) of the Code, including,
without limitation, counting against such maximum number of shares, to the
extent required under Section 162(m) of the Code and applicable
interpretive authority thereunder, any shares subject to Options that are
canceled or repriced.
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MIDCOAST ENERGY RESOURCES, INC.

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING
TO BE HELD ON MAY 16, 2000

The undersigned stockholder of Midcoast Energy Rescurces, Inc. (the
"Company") hereby appoints Dan C. Tutcher and Duane S. Herbst or either of them,
attorneys and proxies of the undersigned, each with full power of substitution,
to vote on behelf of the undersigned at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
held in the Company's Boardroom located at 1100 Louisiana, 32nd Floor, Houston,
Texas at 10:00 a.m., local time, and at any adjournments of said meeting, all of
the shares of common stock in the name of the undersigned or which the

undersigned may be entitled to vote.

SEE REVERSE

(Please sign on Reverse Side)
SIDE



* Please Detach and Mail in the Envelope Provided *

[X] Please mark your
votes as in this
example using
dark ink only.

Withhold
For all Authority
nominees to vote
(except as all nominees
indicated listed at
below) right
1. Election of [ ] [ ] NOMINEES: Dan C. Tutcher
Directors I.J. Berthelot,II
Ted Collins, Jr.
Instructions: To withhold authority to vote for Curtis J. Dufour,III
any individual nominee, write that nominee's Richard N. Richards
name on the line provided below: Bruce Withers

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN
2. To approve the amendment to the 199§ Incentive [ ] [ ] [ ]
Stock Plan.

3. In their discretion, upon such other matters as may properly come before the
Annual Meeting, hereby revoking any proxy or proxies heretofore given by the
undersigned.

The board of directors recommends z vote FOR the nominees and proposals above
and if no contrary specification is made, the shares will be voted FOR the
election of the nominees named herein and FOR the approval of Proposal 2.

The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of the Notice of the Annual

=

Meeting of Stockholders, the Proxy Statement and the Company's annual report on
Form 10-K furnished herewith.

PLEASE SIGN AND RETURN IN THE ENVELOPE ENCLOSED

Stockholder's Signature

Stockholder's Signature

Dated , 2000

Note: Signatures should agree with the name printed hereon. If stock is held in
the name of more than one person. EACH joint owner should sign. Executors,
eadministrators, trustees, guardians, and attorneys should indicate the capacity
in which they sign. Attorneys should submit powers of attorney.




